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In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, “Sypris,” “the Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Sypris Solutions, Inc. and its subsidiaries and predecessors,
collectively. “Sypris Solutions” and “Sypris” are our trademarks. All other trademarks, servicemarks or trade names referred to in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K are the property of their respective owners.
 

 
 



 
 

PART I
 
Item 1.     Business
 
General
 

We were formed as a Delaware corporation in 1997. We are a diversified provider of outsourced services and specialty products. We perform a
wide range of manufacturing, engineering, design and other technical services, often under sole-source contracts with corporations and government
agencies principally in the markets for industrial manufacturing and aerospace and defense electronics.
 

We are organized into two business segments, Sypris Technologies and Sypris Electronics. Sypris Technologies, which is comprised of Sypris
Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries, generates revenue primarily from the sale of goods and manufacturing services to customers in the market for truck
components and assemblies and from the sale of products to the energy and chemical markets. Sypris Electronics, which is comprised of Sypris
Electronics, LLC and its subsidiary, generates revenue primarily from the sale of manufacturing services, technical services and products to customers in
the market for aerospace and defense electronics.
 

We focus on those markets where we believe we have the expertise, qualifications and leadership position to sustain a competitive advantage.
We target our resources to support the needs of industry participants that embrace multi-year contractual relationships as a strategic component of their
supply chain management. These contracts, many of which are sole-source by part number, historically have created opportunities to invest in leading-
edge processes or technologies to help our customers remain competitive. The productivity, flexibility and economies of scale that can result offer an
important opportunity for differentiating ourselves from the competition when it comes to cost, quality, reliability and customer service.
 

Sypris Technologies. Through Sypris Technologies, we are a significant supplier of forged and machined components, serving the commercial
vehicle, off highway vehicle, light truck and energy markets in North America. We have the capacity to produce drive train components including axle
shafts, gear sets, differential cases, steer axle forgings, and other components for ultimate use by the leading truck manufacturers, including Chrysler
Group LLC (Chrysler), Ford Motor Company (Ford), Freightliner LLC (Freightliner), Mack Trucks, Inc. (Mack), Navistar International Corporation
(Navistar), PACCAR, Inc. (PACCAR) and Volvo Truck Corporation (Volvo). We support our customers’ strategies to outsource non-core operations by
supplying additional components and providing additional value added operations for drive train assemblies.
 

In 2015, we implemented cost saving initiatives to adjust our overhead and infrastructure to be more in line with projected levels of customer
demand and market requirements in an effort to meet the new challenges from the loss of Dana Holding Corporation (Dana) as a customer in 2015. As
previously disclosed, Dana, our largest customer historically, repudiated our supply relationship and stopped placing orders with us as of the end of 2014.
In 2014 Dana represented approximately 59% of our net revenue. Our shipments to Dana have been minimal since December 31, 2014. Due to the loss of
this customer, we have developed recovery plans to cut costs and rebuild our revenues over time in order to become profitable again. While we hope to
take advantage of our excess capacity through our ongoing efforts, there can be no assurances that such conditions will continue or that our efforts to cut
costs and rebuild our revenues through new customers will be successful. See “Risk Factors – Customer contracts may not be renewed on acceptable terms
or at all. Our largest customer Dana has repudiated our supply relationship” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

Our sales of engineered products such as pressurized closures, insulated joints and other specialty products, primarily to oil and gas pipelines
and related energy markets have remained an independent source of diversified revenues and are becoming an area of greater focus for the Company
going forward. We are committed to exploring new product developments and potential new markets, which will be an increasing area of focus for the
Company going forward.
 

Our net revenues from Sypris Technology decreased $214.1 million from 2014 to $108.1 million in 2015. Despite this decline, Sypris
Technologies still represented approximately 74% of our net revenues in 2015.
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Sypris Electronics.  Sypris Electronics is organized around three primary business lines: Information Security Solutions (ISS), Electronic
Manufacturing Services (EMS) and Cyber Security and Analytics (Cyber).

 
●     Information Security Solutions (ISS). Our ISS business provides solutions in secure communications, global electronic key
management, Sypris Data Systems branded products, and product design and development to the U.S. Government, both defense and
civilian agencies, international government agencies, as well as worldwide aerospace and defense prime contractors. This group has several
contracts with the Department of Defense to design and build information assurance products, including link encryptors, data recording
products and electronic key fill devices. Our patented SiOMetrics technology and related solutions are designed to authenticate the identity
of hardware without requiring the expense or risk of traditional key-based encryption solutions.
 
●     Electronic Manufacturing Services (EMS). Our EMS business is focused on circuit card and full box build manufacturing, dedicated
space and high reliability manufacturing, integrated design and engineering services, systems assembly and integration, design for
manufacturability, and design to specification work. Our customers include large aerospace and defense companies such as Lockheed
Martin Corporation (Lockheed Martin), Northrop Grumman Corporation (Northrop Grumman) and Exelis Inc. (Exelis).

 
●     Cyber Security and Analytics (Cyber). Our Cyber business includes a variety of software, hardware and service solutions, including
Cyber Ranges, designed to help our customers better train and equip their security personnel to protect their operations and sensitive
information from theft, disruption or other harm in an increasing hostile and volatile, global cyber environment.

 
The industry and business environment of Sypris Electronics continues to be impacted by policy and budget decisions of the U.S. Government,

as well as economic conditions. Future budget cuts, including cuts mandated by sequestration, or future procurement decisions associated with the U.S.
Government’s authorization and appropriations process could result in reductions, cancellations and/or delays of Sypris Electronics’ existing contracts or
programs. Any of these impacts could have a material effect on the results of the Company’s operations, financial position and/or cash flows. Net revenue
from Sypris Electronics increased $4.7 million to $37.2 million in 2015 compared to the prior year. Sypris Electronics accounted for approximately 26%
of net revenue in 2015, up from 9% of our net revenue in 2014 primarily due to the decline in revenues in Sypris Technologies.

 
Our Markets
 

Sypris Technologies.  The industrial manufacturing markets include truck components and assemblies and specialty closures. The truck
components and assemblies market consists of the original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs, including Chrysler, Ford, Freightliner, General Motors
Company, Mack, Navistar, PACCAR and Volvo, and an extensive supply chain of companies of all types and sizes that are classified into different levels
or tiers. Tier I companies represent the primary suppliers to the OEMs and include Meritor, Dana, Detroit Diesel Corporation (Detroit Diesel), Delphi
Automotive LLP, Eaton Corporation (Eaton) and Visteon Corporation, among others. Below this group of companies reside numerous suppliers that
either supply the OEMs directly or supply the Tier I companies. In all segments of the truck components and assemblies, however, suppliers are under
intense competitive pressure to improve product quality and to reduce capital expenditures, production costs and inventory levels. The specialty closures
market consists primarily of oil and gas pipelines, which are also facing significant pressures to improve quality, reduce costs and defer capital
expenditures.
 

Sypris Electronics.  Our aerospace and defense business faces an aging portfolio of legacy products and services which must be replenished
with new technologies if we are to successfully maintain or expand our market share. Our failure to address any of these factors, particularly in our secured
electronic communications or space engineering programs, could impair our business model.
 

As noted above, the U.S. Government’s budget process and the ongoing spending reductions to defense programs has adversely impacted our
portfolio of traditional business in this segment, which is dependent upon discretionary appropriations for defense programs. Although we believe that
our products and programs are well aligned with national defense and other priorities, shifts in domestic and international spending and tax policy,
changes in security, defense and intelligence priorities, the affordability of our products and services, changes in or preferences for new or different
technologies, general economic conditions and other factors may affect the level of funding for existing or proposed programs. Uncertainty over budget
plans and national security spending may prove challenging for our customers, as well as the defense industry as a whole.
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Market conditions for our ISS and Cyber businesses are expected to be favorable over the long term, given the growing cyber security and
intelligence markets. However, market conditions for our EMS business, dedicated to the aerospace and defense market, are characterized by a number of
obstacles. The nature of providing outsourced manufacturing services to the aerospace and defense electronics industry differs substantially from the
commercial electronics manufacturing industry. The cost of failure can be extremely high, the manufacturing requirements are typically complex and
products are produced in relatively small quantities. Companies that provide these manufacturing services are required to maintain and adhere to a
number of strict and comprehensive certifications, security clearances and traceability standards. As mentioned above, U.S. Government and private
customer spending levels remain uncertain.
 
Our Business Strategy
 

Our objective is to improve our position in each of our core markets by increasing our number of multi-year contracts with customers and
investing in highly innovative and efficient production capacity to remain competitive on a global scale. We intend to serve our customers and achieve
this objective by continuing to:
 

Concentrate on our Core Markets.  We are a significant supplier of forged and machined components, serving the commercial vehicle, off
highway vehicle, light truck and energy markets in North America. We have been an established supplier of manufacturing and technical services to
major aerospace and defense companies and agencies of the U.S. Government for over 40 years, and our experience in cryptography has attracted
significant interest in the emerging needs of the Internet of Things (IoT) marketplace. We will continue to focus on those markets where we have the
expertise and qualifications to achieve a competitive advantage.
 

Dedicate our Resources to Support Strategic Partnerships. We will continue to prioritize our resources to support the needs of industry leaders
that embrace multi-year contractual relationships as a strategic component of their supply chain management and have the potential for long-term growth.
We prefer contracts that are sole-source by part number so we can work closely with the customer to the mutual benefit of both parties.
 

Pursue the Strategic Acquisition of Assets. Over the long term, we may consider the strategic acquisition of assets to consolidate our position
in our core markets, expand our presence outside the U.S., create or strengthen our relationships with leading companies and expand our range of value-
added services in return for multi-year supply agreements. We target assets that can be integrated with our core businesses and that can be used to support
other customers, thereby improving asset utilization and achieving greater productivity, flexibility and economies of scale.
 

Grow Through the Addition of New Value-Added Services.  We hope to grow through the addition of new value-added manufacturing
capabilities and the introduction of additional components in the supply chain that enable us to provide a more complete solution by improving quality
and reducing product cost, inventory levels and cycle times for our customers. In many instances, we offer a variety of state-of-the-art machining
capabilities to our customers in the industrial manufacturing markets that enable us to reduce labor and shipping costs and minimize cycle times for our
customers over the long-term, providing us with additional growth opportunities in the future. Successfully migrating from design and manufacturing of
complex circuit card assemblies to box builds would increase product content with our customers and would allow us to be a more significant outsourced
manufacturer in the aerospace and defense supply chain.
 

We believe that the number and duration of our strategic relationships should enable us to invest in our business with greater certainty and with
less risk than others that do not benefit from the type of longer term contractual commitments we have historically received from certain key customers.
The investments we make in support of these contracts are targeted to provide us with the productivity, flexibility, technological edge and economies of
scale that we believe will help to differentiate us from the competition in the future when it comes to cost, quality, reliability and customer service.
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Our Services and Products
 

We are a diversified provider of outsourced services and specialty products. Our services consist of manufacturing, technical and other services
and products that are delivered as part of our customers’ overall supply chain management. The information below is representative of the types of
products we manufacture, services we provide and the customers and industries for which we provide such products or services.
 
Sypris Technologies:  
  
 Meritor Axle shafts and drive train components for medium and heavy-duty trucks.
 Detroit Diesel Axle shafts and drive train components for medium and heavy-duty trucks.
 Eaton Transmission shafts for heavy-duty trucks.
 Jamison Products Specialty closures for oil and gas pipelines.
   
Sypris Electronics:  
  
 Northrop Grumman Circuit card assembly and sub-assembly design and build for electronic sensors and systems ranging from

radar and targeting systems to tactical ground stations, navigation systems and integrated avionics.
 U.S. Government Secure communications equipment, global key management solutions and data recording systems used

by the Department of Defense and Intelligence Agencies.
 Lockheed Martin Complex circuit cards for use in some of the nation’s high priority space programs.
 Exelis Complex circuit cards and subassemblies for use in weapons systems, targeting and warning systems.
 NEC Cyber Range hardware and software for modeling, simulation and training.
 
 
Manufacturing Services
 

Our manufacturing services typically involve the fabrication or assembly of a product or subassembly according to specifications provided by
our customers. We purchase raw materials or components from our customers and independent suppliers in connection with performing our manufacturing
services. We strive to enhance our manufacturing capabilities by advanced quality and manufacturing techniques, lean manufacturing, just-in-time
procurement and continuous flow manufacturing, six sigma, total quality management, stringent and real-time engineering change control routines and
total cycle time reduction techniques.
 

Industrial Manufacturing Services. We offer our customers a wide range of capabilities, including automated forging, extruding, machining,
induction hardening, heat-treating and testing services to meet the exacting requirements. We also design and fabricate production tooling, manufacture
prototype products and provide other value-added services for our customers. Our manufacturing services contracts for the truck components and
assemblies markets are often sole-source by part number. Part numbers may be specified for inclusion in a single model or a range of models. Where we are
the sole-source provider by part number, we are generally the exclusive provider to our customer of those specific parts and for the duration of the
manufacturing contract.
 

Electronics Manufacturing Services.  We provide our customers with a broad variety of value added solutions, from low-volume prototype
assembly to high-volume turnkey manufacturing. We employ a multi-disciplined engineering team that provides comprehensive manufacturing and
design support to customers. The manufacturing solutions we offer include design conversion and enhancement, process and tooling development,
materials procurement, system assembly, testing and final system configuration. Our manufacturing services contracts for the aerospace and defense
electronics market are generally sole-source by part number.
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Products
 

In addition to our outsourced contract manufacturing services, we offer specialized products including light weight axle components, digital and
analog data systems and encryption devices used in military applications, a variety of cyber security training and identity authentication solutions, and
specialty closures and joints used in pipeline and chemical systems. As we look to grow our products business and seek to replace the revenues lost from
the Dana relationship, greater emphasis will be placed on the commercialization of new products to broaden our portfolio and meet the needs of our
customers.
 
Our Customers
 

Our customers include large, established companies and agencies of the federal government. We provide some customers with a combination of
outsourced services and products, while other customers may be in a single category of our service or product offerings. Our five largest customers in
2015 were Meritor, Sistemas, Corporation (Sistemas), Detroit Diesel Corporation, Northrup Grumman and Eaton, which in the aggregate accounted for
62% of net revenue. Our five largest customers in 2014 were Dana, Meritor, Sistemas, Detroit Diesel and Northrop Grumman, which in the aggregate
accounted for 85% of net revenue. In 2015, Meritor, Sistemas and Detroit Diesel represented approximately 30% 11% and 10% of our net revenue,
respectively. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of our net revenue in 2015. In 2014, Dana and Meritor represented approximately 59% and
16% of our net revenue, respectively. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of our revenue in 2014. In addition, U.S. governmental agencies
accounted for 5% and 2% of net revenue in 2015 and 2014, respectively.
 
Geographic Areas and Currency Fluctuations
 

We are located in the U.S., Mexico, Denmark and the U.K. Our Mexican subsidiaries and affiliates are a part of Sypris Technologies and
manufacture and sell a number of products similar to those Sypris Technologies produces in the U.S. Our Denmark subsidiary is a sales office and is part
of Sypris Electronics. Our U.K subsidiary is a sales office and is part of Sypris Technologies. In addition to normal business risks, operations outside the
U.S. may be subject to a greater risk of changing political, economic and social environments, changing governmental laws and regulations, currency
revaluations and market fluctuations. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates have primarily impacted our earnings only to the extent of
remeasurement gains or losses related to U.S. dollar denominated accounts of our foreign subsidiaries, because the vast majority of our transactions are
denominated in U.S. dollars. For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, other income, net, included foreign currency transaction gains of
$0.3 million and $0.7 million, respectively.
 

Net revenues from Mexican operations, were $8.9 million, or 6%, and $111.2 million, or 31%, of our consolidated net revenues in 2015 and
2014, respectively. Our Mexico operations, conducted through our Toluca, Mexico facility, were primarily used to support Dana. The loss of Dana as a
customer created significant challenges for the Company, including in our Mexico operations, especially in the near-term as we seek to control our costs
while rebuilding and diversifying our customer base. In 2015, the net loss from our Mexican operations was $8.6 million, as compared to our
consolidated net loss of $27.2 million. In 2014, net income from our Mexican operations was $10.8 million, as compared to our consolidated net loss of
$1.2 million. You can find more information about our regional operating results, including our export sales, in “Note 22 Segment Information” to our
consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Sales and Business Development
 

Our principal sources of new business originate from the expansion of existing relationships, referrals and direct sales through senior
management, direct sales personnel, domestic and international sales representatives, distributors and market specialists. We supplement these selling
efforts with a variety of sales literature, advertising in numerous trade media and participating in trade shows. We also utilize engineering specialists
extensively to facilitate the sales process by working with potential customers to reduce the cost of the service they need. Our specialists achieve this
objective by working with the customer to improve their product’s design for ease of manufacturing or by reducing the amount of set-up time or material
that may be required to produce the product. The award of contracts or programs can be a lengthy process, which in some circumstances can extend well
beyond 12 months. Upon occasion, we commit resources to potential contracts or programs that we ultimately do not win.
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Our objective is to increase the value of the services we provide to the customer on an annual basis beyond the contractual terms that may be
contained in a supply agreement. To achieve this objective, we commit to the customer that we will continuously look for ways to reduce the cost,
improve the quality, reduce the cycle time and improve the life span of the products and/or services we supply the customer. Our ability to deliver on this
commitment over time is expected to have a significant impact on customer satisfaction, loyalty and follow-on business.
 

Since the beginning of 2015, we have signed long term supply agreements with Detroit Axle and Volvo. We have also been awarded purchase
orders for various services and components from American Axle, Meritor, Sisamex, and Dana. We are launching the Ultra  axle shaft with Detroit Axle
and have strong interest from others within the customer base who are interested in this patented product. We are continuing to explore other
opportunities as they arise and have significant list of outstanding quotations in progress, but there can be no assurances that our efforts to develop new
sources of revenues will adequately replace the loss of the Dana business.
 
Competition
 

The markets that we serve are highly competitive, and we compete against numerous domestic companies in addition to the internal capabilities
of some of our customers. In the truck components and assemblies market, we compete primarily against other component suppliers such as Ramkrishna
Forgings Limited, Mid-West Forge, Inc., GNA Axles Limited, US Manufacturing Corporation, Spencer Forge and Machine, Inc. and Traxle, which serve as
suppliers to many Tier I and smaller companies. In the aerospace and defense electronics market, we compete primarily against companies such as
Celestica Inc., Jabil Circuit, Inc. and Safenet, Inc. We may face new competitors in the future as the outsourcing industry evolves and existing or start-up
companies develop capabilities similar to ours. In addition, we will face new competitors as we attempt to increase and expand our business.
 

We believe that the principal competitive factors in our markets include the availability of capacity, currency exchange rates (especially in low-
cost countries), technological capability, flexibility, financial strength and timeliness in responding to design and schedule changes, price, quality and
delivery. Although we believe that we generally compete favorably with respect to each of these factors, some of our competitors, as compared to us, are
larger and have greater financial and operating resources, greater geographic breadth and range of services, customer bases and brand recognition than we
do. We also face competition from manufacturing operations of our current and potential customers that continually evaluate the relative benefits of
internal manufacturing compared to outsourcing.
 
Suppliers
 

For significant portions of our business, we purchase raw materials and component parts from our customers or from suppliers chosen by our
customers, at prices negotiated by our customers. When these suppliers increase their prices, cause delays in production schedules or fail to meet our
customers’ quality standards, our customers have contractually agreed to reimburse us for the costs associated with such price increases and not to charge
us for costs caused by such delays or quality issues. Accordingly, our risks are largely limited to accurate inspections of such materials, timely
communications and the collection of such reimbursements or charges, along with any additional costs incurred by us due to delays in, interruptions of,
or non-optimal scheduling of production schedules. However, for a growing part of our business, we arrange our own suppliers and assume the additional
risks of price increases, quality concerns and production delays.
 

Raw steel and fabricated steel parts are a major component of our cost of sales and net revenue for the truck components and assemblies business.
We purchase a significant portion of our steel for use in this business at the direction of our customers, with any periodic changes in the price of steel
being reflected in the prices we are paid for our services. Increases in the costs of steel or other supplies can increase our working capital requirements,
scrap expenses and borrowing costs.
 

There can be no assurance that supply interruptions or price increases will not slow production, delay shipments to our customers or increase
costs in the future, any of which could adversely affect our financial results. Delays, interruptions or non-optimal scheduling of production related to
interruptions in raw materials supplies can be expected to increase our costs.
 

 
6

TM



 
 
Research and Development
 

Our research and development expenditures are mainly related to our product lines that serve the aerospace and defense electronics market.
Process improvement expenditures related to our outsourced services are not reflected in research and development expense. Accordingly, our research
and development expense represents a relatively small percentage of our net revenue. Company-sponsored research and development costs are expensed
as incurred. We invested $0.8 million and $0.6 million in research and development in 2015 and 2014, respectively. Customer-sponsored research and
development costs are incurred under U.S. Government-sponsored contracts and require us to provide a product or service meeting certain defined
performance or other specifications (such as designs). Customer-sponsored research and development is accounted for under the milestone method and
included in our net revenue and cost of sales (see Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates in Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K).
 
Patents, Trademarks and Licenses
 

We own or license a number of patents and trademarks, but our business as a whole is not materially dependent upon any one patent, trademark,
license or technologically related group of patents or licenses.
 

We regard our manufacturing processes and certain designs as proprietary trade secrets and confidential information. We rely largely upon a
combination of trade secret laws, non-disclosure agreements with customers, suppliers and consultants, and our internal security systems, confidentiality
procedures and employee confidentiality agreements to maintain the trade secrecy of our designs and manufacturing processes.
 
Government Regulation
 

Our operations are subject to compliance with regulatory requirements of federal, state and local authorities, in the U.S., the U.K., Denmark and
Mexico, including regulations concerning financial reporting and controls, labor relations, minimum pension funding levels, export and import matters,
health and safety matters and protection of the environment. While compliance with applicable regulations has not adversely affected our operations in
the past, there can be no assurance that we will continue to be in compliance in the future or that these regulations will not change or that the costs of
compliance will not be material to us.
 

We must comply with detailed government procurement and contracting regulations and with U.S. Government security regulations, certain of
which carry substantial penalty provisions for nonperformance or misrepresentation in the course of negotiations. Our failure to comply with our
government procurement, contracting or security obligations could result in penalties or our suspension or debarment from government contracting,
which would have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations.
 

We are required to maintain U.S. Government security clearances in connection with certain activities of Sypris Electronics. These clearances
could be suspended or revoked if we were found not to be in compliance with applicable security regulations. Any such revocation or suspension would
delay our delivery of products to customers. Although we have adopted policies designed to ensure compliance with applicable regulations, there can be
no assurance that the approved status of our facilities or personnel will continue without interruption.
 

We are also subject to comprehensive and changing federal, state and local environmental requirements, both in the U.S. and in Mexico,
including those governing discharges to air and water, the handling and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes and the remediation of contamination
associated with releases of hazardous substances. We use hazardous substances in our operations and, as is the case with manufacturers in general, if a
release of hazardous substances occurs on or from any properties that we may own or operate, we may be held liable and may be required to pay the cost
of remedying the condition. The amount of any resulting liability could be material.
 
Employees
 

As of December 31, 2015, we had a total of 735 employees, of which 567 were engaged in manufacturing and providing our technical services,
25 were engaged in sales and marketing, 70 were engaged in engineering and 73 were engaged in administration. Approximately 374 of our employees
were covered by collective bargaining agreements with various unions that expire on various dates through 2017. Excluding certain Mexico employees
covered under an annually ratified agreement, collective bargaining agreements covering 35 employees expire within the next 12 months. In response to
the loss of significant revenues in 2015, we have engaged in layoffs during the year, and our ability to maintain our workforce depends on our ability to
attract and retain new and existing customers. Although we believe overall that relations with our labor unions are positive, there can be no assurance that
present and future issues with our unions will be resolved favorably, that negotiations will be successful or that we will not experience a work stoppage,
which could adversely affect our consolidated results of operations.
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Internet Access
 

Copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports
filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are available free of charge through our website
(www.sypris.com) as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file the material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
 
Item 1A.     Risk Factors
 
Risks Related to Our Business and Forward-Looking Statements
 

This annual report and our other oral or written communications may contain “forward-looking” statements. These statements include our
expectations or projections about the future of our industries, business strategies, the markets in which we operate, potential acquisitions, contracts with
customers, new business opportunities, controlling or cutting our costs, finding new customers, replacing the lost revenue from losing Dana as a customer,
becoming profitable, our compliance with covenants in our debt agreements, the expectations for Management’s Recovery Plan, and our financial results,
financial condition and our views about developments beyond our control including government spending, domestic or global economic conditions,
trends and market forces. These statements are based on management’s views and assumptions at the time originally made, and we undertake no
obligation to update these statements, except as may be required by law. There can be no assurance that our expectations, projections or views will come
to pass, and you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.
 

A number of significant risk factors could materially affect our specific business operations and cause our performance to differ materially from
any future results projected or implied by our prior statements, including those described below. Many of these risk factors are also identified in
connection with the more specific descriptions contained throughout this report.
 
Customers
 
We have experienced recent operating losses, and anticipate further operating losses in the near term, as we seek to generate new business revenues
to replace the loss of our largest customer during the implementation of our recovery plans.
 

Our businesses generally will require a higher level of new business revenues in order to operate profitably prior to the full implementation of
our cost-cutting recovery plans. We have recently experienced operating losses and may not become profitable if we are unable to execute on
management’s plans. The loss of revenues from Dana in early 2015 also accelerated our need to launch new programs with existing customers and to
diversify our business by adding new customers. While we expect to generate further operating losses in the near term, we are trying to increase our
revenues over this time with new or existing customers by utilizing our excess manufacturing capacity. Unless we can develop and offer new products and
services to existing customers or obtain new customers, at the levels anticipated in management’s recovery plans, we may be unable to maintain the
critical mass of capital investments or talented employees that are needed to succeed in our chosen markets or to maintain our existing facilities, which
could result in additional restructuring or exit costs. There can be no assurance that we will be able to generate the additional revenue projected in our
recovery plans or to succeed in the execution of the cost-cutting initiatives in those plans.
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Customer contracts may not be renewed on acceptable terms or at all. Our largest customer, Dana, has repudiated our supply relationship.
 

The Company has alleged in litigation and arbitration proceedings that a renewal of our supply agreement with Dana through 2019 was
executed in good faith and should be enforceable. However, our litigation efforts to enforce this contract renewal with Dana have so far been unsuccessful
(see “Legal Proceedings in Part I, Item 3 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K”). The renewal of supply contracts with our biggest remaining customers on
acceptable terms is a central part of management’s recovery plans. Our inability to effectively execute those recovery plans would materially adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition, and any unexpected issues or costs that arise during this transitional period could have a
disproportionate impact on us compared to prior years due to our financial condition.
 
Customer contracts could be less profitable than expected.
 

We generally bear the risk that our contracts could be unprofitable or less profitable than planned, despite our estimates of revenues and future
costs to complete such contracts.
 

A material portion of our business, historically, has been conducted under multi-year contracts, which generally include fixed prices or periodic
price reductions without minimum purchase requirements. Over time, our revenues may not cover any increases in our operating costs which could
adversely impact our results. Our financial results are at greater risk when we accept contractual responsibility for raw material or component prices, when
we cannot offset price reductions and cost increases with operating efficiencies or other savings, when we must submit contract bid prices before all key
design elements are finalized or when we are subjected to other competitive pressures which erode our margins. The profitability of our contracts also can
be adversely affected by unexpected start-up costs on new programs, operating inefficiencies, ineffective capital investments, inflationary pressures or
inaccurate forecasts of future unit costs.
 

In the past, we have signed long-term supply agreements with Dana and Meritor and acquired their facilities in Morganton, North Carolina and
Toluca, Mexico, among other manufacturing assets. Although most of these acquired facilities have had well-established product markets, the Company
does not currently expect a significant volume of business with Dana and in July of 2015 we sold the Morganton plant and our trailer beam business to
Meritor. In addition, our remaining products for Meritor may not continue to be competitive, product enhancements may not be made in a timely fashion,
and any long-term pricing agreements could generate lower margins than anticipated.
 

Unexpected changes in our customers’ demand levels have harmed our operating results in the past and could do so in the future. Many of our
customers will not commit to firm production or delivery schedules. Disagreements over pricing, quality, delivery, capacity, exclusivity or trade credit
terms could disrupt order schedules. Orders may also fluctuate due to changing global capacity and demand, new products, changes in market share,
reorganizations or bankruptcies, material shortages, labor disputes or other factors that discourage outsourcing. These forces could increase, decrease,
accelerate, delay or cancel our delivery schedules.
 

Inaccurate forecasting of our customers’ requirements can disrupt the efficient utilization of our manufacturing capacity, inventories or
workforce. If we lose anticipated revenues, we might not succeed in redeploying our substantial capital investment and other fixed costs, potentially
forcing additional plant closures, impairments of long-lived and other assets or increased losses. If we receive unanticipated orders or rapid increases in
demand, these incremental volumes could be unprofitable due to the higher costs of operating above our optimal capacity.
 
We depend on a few key customers in challenging industries for most of our revenues. We continue to have substantial customer concentration.
 

Our five largest customers in 2015 were Meritor, Sistemas, Detroit Diesel, Northrup Grumman and Eaton, collectively accounting for 62% of net
revenue. Our five largest customers in 2014 were Dana, Meritor, Sistemas, Detroit Diesel and Northrop Grumman, collectively accounting for 85% of net
revenue. While we have initiated efforts to replace the loss of Dana business, our inability to retain or increase our revenues while effectively controlling
our costs would materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. In 2016 and beyond, we will need to attract new
clients and attempt to diversify our customer base from a limited number of potential customers and with longer lead times often being required for new
programs.
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The truck components and assemblies industry has experienced credit risk, highly cyclical market demand, labor unrest, rising steel costs,
bankruptcy and other obstacles, while the aerospace and defense electronics industry has experienced consolidation, increased competition, disruptive
new technologies and uncertain funding. We depend on the continued growth and financial stability of these customers and our core markets, as well as
general economic conditions. Adverse changes affecting these customers, markets or economic conditions could harm our operating results. The truck
components and assemblies market is highly cyclical, due in part to regulatory deadlines, the availability or scarcity of credit, fluctuations in oil prices
and pent-up demand for replacement vehicles.
 

Rising costs of steel or component parts could increase our inventory and working capital levels and present challenges to our customers who
seek to pass those costs on to their customers. Many of our customers’ labor disputes, financial difficulties and restructuring needs have created rising
uncertainty and risk, which could increase our costs or impair our business model.
 

The aerospace and defense industry is pressured by cyclicality, rapid technological change, shortening product life cycles, decreasing margins,
unpredictable funding levels and government procurement and certification processes. Our aerospace and defense business faces an aging portfolio of
legacy products and services which must be replenished with new technologies if we are to successfully maintain or expand our market share. Our failure
to address any of these factors, particularly in our secured electronic communications or space engineering programs, could impair our business model.
 

There can be no assurance that any of our customers will not default on, delay or dispute payment of, or seek to reject our outstanding invoices
in bankruptcy or otherwise. In addition, the existence of these factors may result in fewer customers in our target markets due to consolidation,
bankruptcy, competitive or other market reasons, making it more difficult to obtain new clients and diversify our customer base in the near future.
 
Congressional budgetary constraints or reallocations could reduce our government sales.
 

Sypris Electronics sells manufacturing services and products to a number of U.S. government agencies, which in the aggregate represented
approximately 5% and 2% of our net revenue in 2015 and 2014, respectively. We also serve as a contractor for large aerospace and defense companies
such as Northrop Grumman, Exelis, Tyco, and Lockheed Martin typically under federally funded programs, which represented approximately 12% and
4% of net revenue in 2015 and 2014, respectively.
 

Sypris Electronics already has been significantly adversely affected by declines in the overall government defense market due to the effects of
sequestration, and may be further affected if funding for programs in which we participate, either by selling services and products directly to U.S.
government agencies or as a subcontractor to prime contractors such as Northrup Grumman, Exelis, Tyco and Lockheed Martin, is reduced, delayed or
cancelled. Our ability to obtain new contract awards also could be negatively affected.
 

Reductions in U.S. military spending also could materially adversely affect the results of our Sypris Electronics, and we expect that certain
military and defense programs will experience delays while the receipt of government approvals remain pending.
 

Future levels of governmental spending, including delays, declines or reallocations in the funding of certain programs could adversely affect our
financial results, if we are unable to offset these changes with new business or cost reductions.
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Suppliers
 
Interruptions in the supply of key components could disrupt production.
 

Some of our manufacturing services or products require one or more components that are available from a limited number of providers or from
sole-source providers. In the past, some of the materials we use, including steel, certain forgings or castings, capacitors and memory and logic devices,
have been subject to industry-wide shortages or capacity allocations. As a result, suppliers have been forced to allocate available quantities among their
customers, and we have not been able to obtain all of the materials desired. Some of our suppliers have struggled to implement reliable quality control
systems which can negatively impact our operating efficiency and financial results. In downward business cycles, the tightening of credit markets has
threatened the financial viability of an increasing number of suppliers of key components and raw materials and forced unanticipated shutdowns. Our
inability to reliably obtain these or any other materials when and as needed could slow production or assembly, delay shipments to our customers, impair
the recovery of our fixed costs and increase the costs of recovering to customers’ schedules, including overtime, expedited freight, equipment
maintenance, operating inefficiencies, higher working capital and the obsolescence risks associated with larger buffer inventories. Each of these factors
could adversely affect operating results.
 
Shortages or increased costs of utilities could harm our business and our customers.
 

We and our customers depend on a constant supply of electricity and natural gas from utility providers for the operation of our respective
businesses and facilities. In the past, we have experienced power outages which reduced our ability to deliver products and meet our customers’ demand
for those products. If we or our customers experience future interruptions in service from these providers, our production and/or delivery of products could
be negatively affected. Additionally, due to the heavy consumption of energy in our production process and the businesses of our customers, if the cost of
energy significantly increases, our results of operations and those of our customers could be negatively impacted.
 
Execution
 
Contract terminations or delays could harm our business.
 

We often provide manufacturing services and products under contracts that contain detailed specifications, quality standards and other terms. If
we are unable to perform in accordance with such terms, our customers might seek to terminate such contracts, demand price concessions or other
financial consideration or downgrade our past performance rating, an increasingly critical factor in federal procurement competitions. Moreover, many of
our contracts are subject to termination for convenience or upon default. These provisions could provide only limited recoveries of certain incurred costs
or profits on completed work and could impose liability for our customers’ costs in procuring undelivered items from another source. If any of our
significant contracts were to be repudiated, terminated or not renewed, we would lose substantial revenues, and our operating results as well as prospects
for future business opportunities could be adversely affected.
 

We are subject to various audits, reviews and investigations, including private party “whistleblower” lawsuits, relating to our compliance with
federal and state laws. Should our business be charged with wrongdoing, or determined not to be a “presently responsible contractor,” we could be
temporarily suspended or debarred for up to three or more years from receiving new government contracts or government-approved subcontracts.
 
We must operate more efficiently than usual due to lower revenues.
 

If we are unable to improve the cost, efficiency and yield of our operations, and if we are not able to control costs, our financial results could
suffer and we could be forced to sell additional assets, refinance our debt at higher costs or take other measures to restructure our operations or capital
structure. A number of major obstacles could include:
 
 ● the loss of substantial revenues due to a sluggish economic recovery;
 

 ● difficulties arising from our present financial condition, including difficulties in maintaining customer and supplier relationships and
difficulties acquiring new business due to lingering concerns over our financial condition;

 
 ● inflationary pressures;
 
 ● increased borrowing due to declines in sales;
 
 ● changes in anticipated product mix and the associated variances in our profit margins;
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 ● efforts to increase our manufacturing capacity and launch new programs; efforts to migrate, restructure or move business operations from
one location to another;

 
 ● the breakdown of critical machinery or equipment;
 
 ● the need to identify and eliminate our root causes of scrap;
 
 ● our ability to achieve expected annual savings or other synergies from past and future business combinations;
 
 ● inventory risks due to shifts in market demand;
 
 ● obsolescence; price erosion of raw material or component parts;
 
 ● shrinkage, or other factors affecting our inventory valuations;
 
 ● and an inability to successfully manage growth, contraction or competitive pressures in our primary markets.
 

Our management or systems could be inadequate to support our existing or future operations, especially as we downsize our operating staff to
reduce expenses while we work to increase revenues and address softening market conditions. New customers or new contracts, particularly with new
product offerings, could require us to invest in additional equipment or other capital expenditures. We may have limited experience or expertise in
installing or operating such equipment, which could negatively impact our ability to deliver products on time or with acceptable costs. In addition, a
material portion of our manufacturing equipment requires significant maintenance to operate effectively, and we may experience maintenance and repair
issues. Our efforts to restructure, relocate and consolidate a significant number of the operations, especially in our truck component manufacturing plants,
could cause certain of these facilities to operate at underutilized levels, which could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition. In Sypris Electronics, the risk of technical failures, nonconformance with customer specifications, an inability to deliver next
generation products or other quality concerns could materially impair our operating results.
 
Our growth strategies could be ineffective due to the risks associated with further acquisitions.
 

Our growth strategy has included acquiring complementary businesses. We could fail to identify, obtain financing or complete suitable
acquisitions on acceptable terms and prices. Acquisition efforts entail a number of risks, including: diversion of management’s attention; difficulties in
integrating systems, operations and cultures; potential loss of key employees and customers of the acquired companies; lack of experience operating in
the geographic market of the acquired business; an increase in our expenses and working capital requirements; risks of entering into markets or producing
products where we have limited or no experience; difficulties in integrating purchased technologies and products with our technologies and products; our
ability to improve productivity and implement cost reductions; our ability to secure collective bargaining agreements with employees; and exposure to
unanticipated liabilities.
 

Our discovery of, or failure to discover, material issues during due diligence investigations of acquisition targets, either before closing with
regard to potential risks of the acquired operations, or after closing with regard to the timely discovery of breaches of representations or warranties, or of
certain indemnified environmental conditions, could seriously harm our business.
 
Cyber security risks could negatively affect operations and result in increased costs.
 

Sypris Electronics, as a U.S. defense contractor, and our Company overall, face cyber security threats, threats to the physical security of our
facilities and employees and terrorist acts, as well as the potential for business disruptions associated with information technology failures and natural
disasters.
 

We routinely experience cyber security threats, threats to our information technology infrastructure and attempts to gain access to our sensitive
information, as do our customers, suppliers and subcontractors. Prior cyber attacks directed at us have not had a material impact on our financial results.
Due to the evolving nature of these security threats, however, the impact of any future incident cannot be predicted.
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Although we work cooperatively with our customers and our suppliers, subcontractors, and other partners to seek to minimize the impacts of
cyber threats, other security threats or business disruptions, we must rely on the safeguards put in place by those entities, and those safeguards might not
be effective.
 

The costs related to cyber security or other security threats or disruptions may not be fully insured or indemnified by other means. Occurrence of
any of these events could adversely affect our internal operations, the services we provide to customers, loss of competitive advantages derived from our
research and development efforts, early obsolescence of our products and services, our future financial results, our reputation or our stock price.
 
Competition
 
Increasing competition could limit or reduce our market share.
 

As an outsourced manufacturer, we operate in highly competitive environments that include our customers’ internal capabilities. We believe that
the principal competitive factors in our markets include the availability of manufacturing capacity, increasingly unfavorable currency exchange rates
(especially in low-cost countries), technological strength, speed and flexibility in responding to design or schedule changes, price, quality, delivery, cost
management and financial strength. Our earnings could decline if our competitors or customers can provide comparable speed and quality at a lower cost,
or if we fail to adequately invest in the range and quality of manufacturing services and products our customers require.
 

Many of our competitors, as compared to us, are larger and have greater financial and organizational resources, geographic breadth and range of
services, customer bases and brand recognition than we do. As a result, our competitors may respond more quickly to technological changes or customer
needs, consume lower fixed and variable unit costs, negotiate reduced component prices, and obtain better terms for financing growth. If we fail to
compete in any of these areas, we may lose market share and our business could be seriously harmed. There can be no assurance that we will not
experience increased competition or that we will be able to maintain our profitability if our competitive environment changes.
 
Our technologies could become obsolete, reducing our revenues and profitability.
 

The markets for our products and services are characterized by changing technology and continuing process development. The future of our
business will depend in large part upon the continuing relevance of our technological capabilities. We could fail to make required capital investments,
develop or successfully market services and products that meet changing customer needs and anticipate or respond to technological changes in a cost-
effective and timely manner. Our inability to successfully launch or sustain new or next generation programs or product features, especially in accordance
with budgets or committed delivery schedules, could materially adversely affect our financial results. We could encounter competition from new or
developing technologies that render our technologies and equipment less profitable or obsolete in our chosen markets and our operating results may
suffer. In particular, the Company is currently developing new products and pursuing new programs in an attempt to increase Sypris Electronics’ revenue
stream. However, commercializing the new products and programs is costly and has been slower than anticipated. The launch of any new products or
programs within Sypris Electronics may not be successful.
 
Access to Capital
 
We could fail to fully implement our business recovery plans.
 

While Management’s recovery plans have been partially executed during 2015, we could fail to adequately overcome new obstacles such as
slowing markets, the loss of key employees, unexpected increases in costs, or new competitors or technologies in our key markets, among other risks. The
failure to fully implement our recovery plans could materially adversely affect our revenues, operating results and financial condition.
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Our ability to finance expansion or new business opportunities may be limited.
 

Our future liquidity and capital requirements depend on numerous factors other than bank borrowings or debt financing, including the pace at
which we can effectively cut costs, increase revenues or successfully launch new products and services. One method we have historically used to increase
our revenues and obtain multi-year supply agreements is to buy a customer’s non-core manufacturing assets and produce products for them. We have also
pursued strategies that rely on research and development efforts to develop and commercialize our new products and services. We may not have the
financial resources or be able to raise funds necessary to pursue these strategies under our existing and future debt agreements which could further limit
our ability to replace the loss of revenues.
 
We may be unable to comply with the covenants in our New Credit Facility and Term Loan.
 

The financial covenants in our New Credit Facility and Term Loan require us to achieve certain financial and other business results. In February
2016, certain covenants were amended to allow for current and future compliance. A failure to comply with these or other covenants could, if we were
unable to obtain a waiver or another amendment of the covenant terms, cause an event of default that would cause our debt under the New Credit Facility
and Term Loan to become immediately due and payable. In the event that our outstanding debt under the Credit Facility was declared immediately due
and payable, which could materially adversely affect our revenues, operating results and financial condition. See Note 14 “Debt” and Note 23
“Subsequent Events” to the consolidated financial statement in this Form 10-K.
 
Labor Relations
 
We must attract and retain qualified employees while successfully managing related costs.
 

Our future success in a changing business environment, including during rapid changes in the size, complexity or skills required of our
workforce, as we experienced in 2015, will depend to a large extent upon the efforts and abilities of our executive, managerial and technical employees.
The loss of key employees, especially in a recovering economic environment, could have a material adverse effect on our operations. Our future success
will also require an ability to attract and retain qualified employees, especially those with engineering or production expertise in our core business lines.
Labor disputes or changes in the cost of providing pension and other employee benefits, including changes in health care costs, investment returns on
plan assets and discount rates used to calculate pension and related liabilities or other requirements to accelerate the level of our pension fund
contributions to reduce or eliminate underfunded liabilities, could lead to increased costs or disruptions of operations in any of our business units.
 
Disputes with labor unions could disrupt our business plans.
 

As of December 31, 2015, we had collective bargaining agreements covering approximately 374 employees (all of which were in Sypris
Technologies), or 51% of total employees. Excluding certain Mexico employees covered under an annually ratified agreement, collective bargaining
agreements covering 35 employees expire within the next 12 months. Certain Mexico employees are covered by an annually ratified collective
bargaining agreement. These employees in Mexico represented approximately 26% of the Company’s workforce, or 191 employees at December 31,
2015. Our ability to maintain our workforce depends on our ability to attract and retain new and existing customers. We could experience a work
stoppage or other disputes which could disrupt our operations or the operations of our customers and could harm our operating results.
 
Regulatory
 
Environmental, health and safety risks could expose us to potential liability.
 

We are subject to a variety of environmental regulations relating to the use, storage, discharge and disposal of hazardous chemicals and
substances used in our operations. If we fail to comply with present or future regulations, we could be forced to alter, suspend or discontinue our
manufacturing processes and pay substantial fines or penalties.
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Groundwater and other contamination has occurred at certain of our current and former facilities during the operation of those facilities by their
former owners, and this contamination may occur at future facilities we operate or acquire. There is no assurance that environmental indemnification
agreements we have secured from former owners of these properties will be adequate to protect us from liability.
 

The Marion, Ohio property formerly owned by Sypris is subject to soil and groundwater contamination involving petroleum compounds, semi-
volatile and volatile organic compounds, certain metals, PCBs and other contaminants, some of which exceed the state voluntary action program
standards applicable to the site. The property was sold in March 2013 to Whirlpool Corporation (Whirlpool). Whirlpool has indemnified the Company
against the legacy environmental risks on the property.
 

We previously acquired certain business assets formerly located at a leased facility in Littleton, Colorado, where chlorinated solvents had been
disposed of on site by a prior owner of the business at the site, contaminating the groundwater at and around the site. The seller of the assets to us is
operating a remediation system on the site approved by the State of Colorado and has entered into a consent order with the EPA providing for additional
investigation at the site. In addition, Sypris has been contractually indemnified by the prior owners of the facility.
 

Our Morganton, North Carolina facility, which was sold to Meritor during the third quarter of 2015, is subject to soil and groundwater
contamination involving petroleum compounds, certain metals and other contaminants, some of which may exceed the State of North Carolina standards
applicable to the site. The Company is aware of no current litigation, material remediation claims or other proceedings with respect to this facility.
 

Our formerly owned Toluca, Mexico property is subject to soil and groundwater contamination involving petroleum compounds and volatile
organic compounds, among other concerns. We continue to test and assess this site to determine the extent of any contamination by the prior owners of
the facility. Under our original purchase agreement for this facility, Dana has agreed to indemnify us for, among other things, environmental conditions
that existed on the site as of closing and as to which we notified Dana prior to June 30, 2006, subject to certain other conditions involving Dana’s release
of, or continuing right to seek indemnity from, Eaton, from which Dana acquired the property. In connection with our recent sale of the Toluca property in
March 2016, we have agreed to remediate certain soil contamination and approximately $230,000 of the property sales proceeds have been withheld in
escrow, pending certain Mexican regulatory approvals of such remediation. Dana has agreed to reimburse our costs in connection with such remediation.
 

The Kenton, Ohio property formerly owned by Sypris is subject to soil and groundwater contamination involving petroleum compounds,
volatile organic compounds, certain metals, PCBs and other contaminants. Under our purchase agreement for this property, Meritor agreed to indemnify
us for, among other things, environmental conditions that existed on the site as of closing and as to which we notified Meritor prior to May 2, 2006. The
building and real property were sold in January 2012.
 

Our business is also subject to potential liabilities with respect to health and safety matters. We are required to comply with federal, state, local
and foreign laws and regulations governing the health and safety of our workforce, and we could be held liable for damages arising out of human
exposure to hazardous substances or other dangerous working conditions. Health and safety laws and regulations are complex and change frequently. As
a result, our future costs to comply with such laws or the liabilities incurred in the event of any violations may increase significantly.
 
Adverse regulatory developments or litigation could harm our business.
 

Our businesses operate in heavily regulated environments. We must successfully manage the risk of changes in or adverse actions under
applicable law or in our regulatory authorizations, licenses and permits, governmental security clearances or other legal rights to operate our businesses,
to manage our work force or to import and export goods and services as needed. Our business activities expose us to the risks of litigation with respect to
our customers, suppliers, creditors, stockholders or from product liability, environmental or asbestos-related matters. We also face the risk of other adverse
regulatory actions, compliance costs or governmental sanctions, as well as the costs and risks related to our ongoing efforts to design and implement
effective internal controls.
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Other Risks
 
We face other factors which could seriously disrupt our operations.
 

Many other risk factors beyond our control could seriously disrupt our operations, including: risks relating to war, future terrorist activities,
computer hacking or other cyber attacks, or political uncertainties; risks relating to natural disasters or other casualties which could shut down our
domestic or foreign facilities, disrupt transportation of products or supplies, increase the costs under our self insurance program or change the timing and
availability of funding in our aerospace and defense electronics markets; risks inherent in operating abroad, including foreign currency exchange rates,
adverse regulatory developments, and miscommunications or errors due to inaccurate foreign language translations or currency exchange rates; or our
failure to anticipate or to adequately insure against other risks and uncertainties present in our businesses including unknown or unidentified risks.
 
Item 1B.     Unresolved Staff Comments
 

None.
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Item 2.     Properties
 

Our principal manufacturing services operations are engaged in electronics manufacturing services for our aerospace and defense customers and
industrial manufacturing services for our truck components and assemblies customers. The following chart indicates the significant facilities that we own
or lease, the location and size of each such facility and the manufacturing certifications that each facility possesses. The facilities listed below (other than
the corporate office) are used principally as manufacturing facilities.
 

Location
Segment (Market

Served)
Own or Lease
(Expiration)

Approximate 
Square Feet Certifications

Corporate Office:
Louisville, Kentucky  Lease (2024) 21,600  
Manufacturing and Service Facilities:
Louisville, Kentucky Sypris Technologies

(Truck and Off-Highway
Components & Assemblies)

Own 450,000 TS 16949

Louisville, Kentucky Sypris Technologies
(Specialty Closures)

Own 57,000 ISO 9001

Tampa, Florida Sypris Electronics
(Aerospace & Defense

Electronics)

Lease (2016) 318,000 ISO 9001
ISO 14001
AS 9100

NASA-STD-8739
IPC-A-610, Rev D, Class 3
J-STD-001, Rev D, Class 3

CMMI Level 3
Toluca, Mexico* Sypris Technologies

(Automotive and Truck
Components & Assemblies)

Lease (2026) 217,000 TS 16949

*Location sold and leased back in March 2016.
 

In addition, we lease space in one other facility in Copenhagen, Denmark, which is utilized as a sales office for Sypris Electronics.
 

Below is a listing and description of the various manufacturing certifications or specifications that we utilize at various of our facilities.     
 
 Certification/Specification Description
    
 AS 9100  A quality management system developed by the aerospace industry to measure supplier conformance with basic

common acceptable aerospace quality requirements.
    
 IPC-A-610  A certification process for electronics assembly manufacturing which describes materials, methods and verification

criteria for producing high quality electronic products. Class 3 specifically includes high performance or performance-
on-demand products where equipment downtime cannot be tolerated, end-use environment may be uncommonly harsh,
and the equipment must function when required.
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 Certification/Specification Description
 
 J-STD-001 A family of voluntary standards of industry-accepted workmanship criteria for electronic assemblies.
 
 CMMI Level-3 An internationally recognized measure of an organization’s engineering process maturity.
 

 ISO 9001 A certification process comprised of quality system requirements to ensure quality in the areas of design,
development, production, installation and servicing of products.

 

 ISO 14001 A family of voluntary standards and guidance documents defining specific requirements for an Environmental
Management System.

 
 NASA-STD-8739 A specification for space programs designated by the National Aeronautics and Space Administration.
   

 
TS 16949 A quality certification system developed within the automotive sector. Using ISO 9001:2000 as its foundation,

ISO/TS 16949:2002 specifies the quality management system (QMS) requirements for the design, development,
production, installation and servicing of automotive related products.

  
Item 3.     Legal Proceedings
 

We are involved from time to time in litigation and other legal or environmental proceedings incidental to our business. On November 25, 2013,
Sypris Technologies, Inc. initiated an arbitration proceeding against Dana Limited under the Non-Administered Arbitration Rules of the International
Institute for Conflict Prevention & Resolution alleging that Dana Limited had entered and then repudiated a five year extension of the parties’ long term
supply agreement, to run through 2019 or in the alternative had acted in bad faith by refusing to formalize that agreement. On December 30, 2013, Sypris
filed a Notice of Supplemental Claims in the same arbitration proceeding, seeking damages for Dana’s alleged breach of the parties’ original 2007 supply
agreement; and Dana filed a counterclaim for certain unpaid price rebates. The arbitrator awarded $505,000 to Sypris Technologies and dismissed Dana’s
claims. On January 17, 2014, Dana initiated a declaratory judgment action in the Court of Common Pleas for Lucas County, Ohio challenging the
arbitrability of the existence and enforceability of the extended supply agreement and seeking a ruling that the extended agreement was unenforceable.
On February 28, 2015, the Lucas County Court granted Dana’s motion, which was subsequently upheld by the Sixth District Court of Appeals for Ohio.
Our claim of bad faith remains currently unresolved. There are currently no other material pending legal proceedings to which we are a party.
 

Ongoing environmental matters include the following:
 

 

● The Marion, Ohio property formerly owned by Sypris is subject to soil and groundwater contamination involving petroleum compounds,
semi-volatile and volatile organic compounds, certain metals, PCBs and other contaminants, some of which exceed the State of Ohio
voluntary action program standards applicable to the site. The property was sold in March 2013 to Whirlpool. Whirlpool has indemnified
the Company against the legacy environmental risks on the property.

 

 

● In December 1992, we acquired certain business assets formerly located at a leased facility in Littleton, Colorado. Certain chlorinated
solvents disposed of on the site by Honeywell, a previous owner of the business, have contaminated the groundwater at and around the site.
Alliant Techsystems, from which we acquired the business assets, operates a remediation system approved by the State of Colorado and has
also entered into a consent order with the EPA providing for additional investigation at the site. Alliant Techsystems has agreed to
indemnify us with respect to these matters.

 

 
● The Morganton, North Carolina property formerly owned by Sypris is subject to soil and groundwater contamination involving petroleum

compounds, certain metals and other contaminants, some of which exceed the State of North Carolina notification standards applicable to
the site. No litigation or other proceedings are underway with respect to this site.

 
 

18



 
 

 

● The Toluca, Mexico facility formerly owned by Sypris is subject to soil and groundwater contamination involving petroleum compounds
and volatile organic compounds, among other concerns. Under our original purchase agreement for this facility, Dana has agreed to
indemnify us for, among other things, environmental conditions that existed on the site as of closing and as to which we notified Dana prior
to June 30, 2006, to the extent of any indemnification owed to Dana by Eaton or any other matters for which Dana has released Eaton. In
connection with our recent sale of the Toluca property, we have agreed to remediate certain soil contamination and approximately $230,000
of the property sales proceeds have been withheld in escrow, pending certain Mexican regulatory approvals of such remediation. Dana has
agreed to reimburse our costs in connection with such remediation.

 

 

● The Kenton, Ohio property formerly owned by Sypris is subject to soil and groundwater contamination involving petroleum compounds,
volatile organic compounds, certain metals, PCBs and other contaminants. Under our purchase agreement for this facility, Meritor has
agreed to indemnify us for, among other things, environmental conditions that existed on the site as of closing and as to which we notified
Meritor prior to May 2, 2006. The building and real property were sold in January 2012, and the building was subsequently razed by the
buyer. Under the terms of the sale agreement, no warranties relating to the property were made including existing environmental conditions
and we believe that all liability has been passed to the buyer.

  
Item 4.     Mine Safety Disclosures
 
 

Not applicable.
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PART II
 
Item 5.     Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 

We are a smaller reporting company as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K and thus are not required to provide the performance graph
required in paragraph (e) of Item 201 of Regulation S-K.
 

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “SYPR.” The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated,
the high and low sale prices per share of our common stock as reported by the NASDAQ Global Market.
 

  High   Low  
Year ended December 31, 2015:         

First Quarter  $ 2.84  $ 2.05 
Second Quarter   2.05   1.18 
Third Quarter   1.89   0.96 
Fourth Quarter   2.74   0.64 
         

Year ended December 31, 2014:         
First Quarter  $ 3.14  $ 2.76 
Second Quarter   6.10   2.76 
Third Quarter   5.66   3.47 
Fourth Quarter   3.69   2.36 

 
As of March 3, 2016, there were 703 holders of record of our common stock. The amount of cash dividends declared per share for each fiscal

quarter in 2015 and 2014 is presented in the table below.
 

  Dividends per  
  Common Share  
Year ended December 31, 2015:     

First Quarter  $ — 
Second Quarter   — 
Third Quarter   — 
Fourth Quarter   — 
     

Year ended December 31, 2014:     
First Quarter  $ 0.02 
Second Quarter   0.02 
Third Quarter   0.02 
Fourth Quarter   0.02 

 
Dividends may be paid on common stock only when, as and if declared by our Board of Directors in its sole discretion. The Company’s New

Credit Facility and Term Loan prohibits dividend payments, as further described in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations–Liquidity and Capital Resources” below. As a result, we do not anticipate paying dividends in 2016.
 

There were no shares of common stock repurchased during the three months ended December 31, 2015.
 
Item 6.     Selected Financial Data
 

We are a smaller reporting company as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K and thus are not required to report the selected financial data in
Item 301 of Regulation S-K.
 

 
20



 
 
Item 7.     Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

The following discussion of our consolidated results of operations and financial condition should be read together with the other financial
information and consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements
that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from the results anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of a
variety of factors, including those discussed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Overview
 

We are a diversified provider of outsourced services and specialty products. We perform a wide range of manufacturing, engineering, design and
other technical services, often under sole-source contracts with corporations and government agencies principally in the markets for industrial
manufacturing and aerospace and defense electronics.
 

We are organized into two business segments, Sypris Technologies and Sypris Electronics. Sypris Technologies, which is comprised of Sypris
Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries, generates revenue primarily from the sale of manufacturing services to customers in the market for truck
components and assemblies and from the sale of products to the energy and chemical markets. Sypris Electronics, which is comprised of
Sypris Electronics, LLC and its subsidiary, generates revenue primarily from the sale of manufacturing services, technical services and products to
customers in the market for aerospace and defense electronics.
 

We focus on those markets where we have the expertise, qualifications and leadership position to sustain a competitive advantage. We target our
resources to support the needs of industry leaders that embrace multi-year contractual relationships as a strategic component of their supply chain
management. These contracts, many of which are sole-source by part number, historically, have been renewed for sufficient periods to enable us to invest
in leading-edge processes or technologies to help our customers remain competitive. The productivity, flexibility and economies of scale that can result
offer an important opportunity for differentiating ourselves from our competitors when it comes to cost, quality, reliability and customer service.
 
Sypris Technologies Outlook
 

In North America, production levels for light, medium and heavy duty trucks steadily increased from a low in the depressed economic
environment of 2008 and 2009 through 2015, but are anticipated to decrease in 2016. Oil and gas markets, served by our engineered products line of
Tube Turns® products, have been impacted, as some of our customers’ revenues and near term capital expenditures have declined along with oil prices
generally.
 

Despite modest growth in production levels for the commercial vehicle market during 2015, Sypris Technologies’ production levels declined
significantly in 2015. Our largest customer historically, Dana, repudiated our supply relationship and stopped placing orders with us as of the end of
2014. In 2014, Dana represented approximately 59% of our net revenue. Our shipments to Dana have been minimal since December 31, 2014.
 

The loss of Dana’s revenues created significant challenges for the Company, especially in the near-term as we have worked to control our costs
while taking actions to rebuild and diversify our customer base. See the discussion in Note 2 “Management’s Recovery Plans” to the consolidated
financial statements in this Form 10-K which discussion is incorporated in this Item by reference.

 
Sypris Electronics Outlook
 

We continue to face challenges within Sypris Electronics, such as the uncertainty in the worldwide macroeconomic climate and its impact on
aerospace and defense spending patterns globally, the emergence of new competitors to our product and service offerings, as well as federal government
spending uncertainties in the U.S. and the allocation of funds by the U.S. Department of Defense.
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Sypris Electronics’ revenue had declined from 2009 through 2014 primarily due to our inability to replace the declining demand for certain
legacy products and services with competitive new offerings. While revenues increased in 2015 and we have begun to generate revenue from the ramp-up
of new electronic manufacturing services and other technical service programs, the process of fully replacing our legacy programs will continue through
2016. The Company is continuing to develop new products and pursue new programs to attempt to replenish its revenue stream within Sypris Electronics.
 

The U.S. Government's continued focus on addressing federal budget deficits and the growing national debt exacerbates this challenging
environment for Sypris Electronics. It is likely that U.S. government discretionary spending levels for Fiscal Year 2016 and beyond will continue to be
subject to significant pressure, including risk of future budget cuts. Significant uncertainty also continues with respect to program-level appropriations
for the U.S. Department of Defense (U.S. DoD) and other government agencies within the overall budgetary framework described above. Future budget
cuts, including cuts mandated by sequestration, or future procurement decisions associated with the authorization and appropriations process could result
in reductions, cancellations and/or delays of existing contracts or programs. Congress and the Administration continue to debate these long and short-
term funding issues, but reductions in U.S. DoD spending could materially and adversely affect the results of Sypris Electronics, and we expect that
certain military and defense programs will experience delays while the receipt of government approvals remain pending.
 

As a result, the Company expects ongoing uncertainty within this segment in the near term. For the longer term, we are continuing to evaluate all
of our strategic alternatives, including new investments in products and programs to further improve the attractiveness of our business portfolio, with a
specific emphasis on trusted solutions for identity management, cryptographic key distribution and cyber analytics, among other strategies. There can be
no assurance that the Company’s investment in and efforts to introduce any new products and services will result in new business or revenue. In addition,
while the Company continues to evaluate and implement cost reduction measures in this segment, the Company may not be able to reduce its cost
structure to offset the impact of lower revenues. The Company is considering all of its strategic alternatives, including potential divestitures and further
cost reductions or other downsizing measures, which could be costly and adversely impact our financial performance.
 
Management’s Recovery Plans
 

Given the loss of the Dana business and unfavorable growth trends and softness in commercial vehicle manufacturing and the oil and gas
markets served by Sypris Technologies, management has developed various profit recovery and protection plans and is evaluating strategic alternatives
to optimize asset values in each of the Company’s segments. Management has engaged advisors to provide recommendations for cost reductions and
actions that can be taken to improve profitability. Management prepared a revised forecast during March 2016 with plans to control costs, manage cash
flow and remain in compliance with debt covenant requirements throughout 2016. In addition, Management has embarked on a project to evaluate
various strategic alternatives to optimize asset values. The Company completed a number of its initial profit recovery and protection actions in 2015,
including: (i) the sale of certain assets used in the Company’s manufacturing facility in Morganton, North Carolina within the Sypris Technologies
segment (ii) reduction in workforce at all locations, and (iii) other reductions in employment costs through reduced work schedules, senior management
pay reductions, deferral of merit increases and certain benefit payments. The Company’s debt was restructured and the prior Credit Facility was paid in
full, while the Company has received the benefit of three cash infusions from Gill Family Capital Management, Inc. (“GFCM”), in the form of
subordinated promissory note obligations totaling $6.5 million in principal through the first quarter of 2016.
 

The commercial vehicle industry has softened beginning in the fourth quarter of 2015 along with other durable and non-durable goods sectors in
the North America economy. Management has identified additional cost reduction actions in the Sypris Technologies segment. Reductions in selling,
general and administrative expense and labor expense were implemented during the first quarter of 2016, and additional cost reductions are planned
during the second and third quarters. Although the expected benefits of the cost reductions will be partially offset by the impact of minor investments and
severance required to enable the cost reductions, the actions are expected to contribute to improved liquidity during 2016.
 

Management has identified a number of new customer opportunities that provide higher margin opportunities, even at lower volumes.
Management is implementing operational efficiencies that are expected to enable reductions in the machinery set-up time for new orders which enables
the Company to quote on customer requirements that are higher margin but with somewhat shorter run lengths. These new business activities are
anticipated to enable the Company to diversify its revenue volume over a larger and more profitable customer base.
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One of the additional actions implemented by management during the first quarter of 2016 was to consummate the sale and partial lease back of
its facility located in Toluca, Mexico, which generated gross proceeds of approximately $12.1 million. Of this total, $6.0 million was deposited into a
cash collateral account to be held for up to one year as additional collateral for the Term Loan (see Note 14 “Debt” to the consolidated financial statement
in this Form 10-K). Management will continue to operate in Toluca but given the 2015 reduction in the Dana business and the overall downturn in the
commercial vehicle markets, management determined that the underutilized Toluca real estate value could be best optimized with a sale and lease back
arrangement where some but not all of the facility would continue to be occupied and managed by Sypris Technologies.
 

The oil and gas industry has experienced significant price erosion, and as a result the Company’s customers are delaying capital expenditures
that support their growth and maintenance projects. The Company has identified some capacity reallocation opportunities between plants in the United
States and Mexico. The Company has initiated the process of qualifying production for certain components in Mexico that are currently produced in the
United States and completed the qualification for the first group of these components. The Company expects the capacity reallocation will accelerate
during 2016 as the capital necessary to fund the reallocation becomes available and the qualification process for the production is complete.
 

Sypris Electronics has continued to invest in a number of product development projects. The Company was awarded a significant engineering
services contract in the defense sector during March of 2016. Nevertheless, the Company has identified certain cost reduction and cash flow
enhancements in the Sypris Electronics segment that can be implemented during the second and third quarters that are not expected to impact the future
growth in the Electronics segment.
 

Sypris Electronics has filed a number of patent applications for technology related to its new SiOMetrics hardware authentication solutions,
which may enable the Company to address commercial markets for infrastructure and the Internet of Things (IoT) markets. New commercial opportunities
in the automotive, industrial controls, communications, infrastructure, utilities, automation, aviation, retail, and personal communication devices could
benefit from the technology that Sypris Electronics has patented or for which it has patents pending. Sypris Electronics now provides a platform of
layered security protocols that will enable customers in a number of industries to tailor the security solutions to their individual requirements.
Management has taken steps to diversify its product and service offerings in the Sypris Electronics segment whereby the Company intends to be less
dependent upon the Defense markets and better positioned to take advantage of the rapidly growing commercial security and encryption markets going
forward.
 

Management has identified certain cost reductions at the corporate headquarters that are expected to improve profitability and cash flow
throughout 2016. Salary reductions and other SG&A cost reductions were implemented during the first quarter of 2016 that management believes will
continue to benefit the company throughout future periods. Additional cost reductions have been identified in the area of professional services,
administration and lease expense.
 

Our failure or inability to realize our key financial objectives could materially and adversely impair the Company’s ability to operate, its cash
flows, financial condition and ongoing results. See “Risk Factors – Customer contracts may not be renewed on acceptable terms or at all. Our largest
customer Dana has repudiated our supply relationship.” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. See also Note 2 “Management’s Recovery
Plans” to the consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires that we make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported. Changes in facts and circumstances could have a significant
impact on the resulting estimated amounts included in our consolidated financial statements. We believe the following critical accounting policies affect
our more complex judgments and estimates. We also have other policies that we consider to be key accounting policies, such as our policies for revenue
recognition for Sypris Technologies, including cost of sales; however, these policies do not meet the definition of critical accounting policies because
they do not generally require us to make estimates or judgments that are difficult or subjective.
 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.  We establish reserves for uncollectible accounts receivable based on overall receivable aging levels, a
specific evaluation of accounts for customers with known financial difficulties and evaluation of customer chargebacks, if any. These reserves and
corresponding write-offs could significantly increase if our customers experience deteriorating financial results or in the event we receive a significant
chargeback, which is deemed uncollectible.
 

Net Revenue and Cost of Sales. Net revenue of products and services under commercial terms and conditions are recorded upon delivery and
passage of title, or when services are rendered. Related shipping and handling costs, if any, are included in costs of sales.
 

Net revenue on fixed-price contracts is recognized as services are performed. Revenue is deferred until all of the following have occurred:
(1) there is a contract in place, (2) delivery has occurred, (3) the price is fixed or determinable, and (4) collectability is reasonably assured. Contract profits
are taken into earnings based on actual cost of sales for units shipped. Amounts representing contract change orders or claims are included in revenue
when such costs are invoiced to the customer.
 

The Company periodically enters into research and development contracts with customers related primarily to key encryption products. When
the contracts provide for milestone or other interim payments, the Company will recognize revenue under the milestone method in accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 605-28, Revenue Recognition – Milestone Method. The milestone method requires the Company to deem all
milestone payments within each contract as either substantive or non-substantive. That conclusion is determined based upon a thorough review of each
contract and the deliverables to which the Company has committed to in each contract. For substantive milestones, the Company concludes that upon
achievement of each milestone, the amount of the corresponding defined payment is commensurate with the effort required to achieve such milestone or
the value of the delivered item. The payment associated with each milestone relates solely to past performance and is deemed reasonable upon
consideration of the deliverables and the payment terms within the contract. Milestones may include, for example, the successful completion of design
review or technical review, the submission and acceptance of technical drawings, delivery of hardware, software or regulatory agency certifications. The
Company had no such contracts in process as of December 31, 2015 and one such milestone contract in process as of December 31, 2014. All milestones
under the contract in process as of December 31, 2014 were deemed substantive. Revenue recognized through the achievement of multiple milestones
during 2015 and 2014 amounted to $0.3 million and $3.1 million, respectively. There are no performance, cancellation, termination or refund provisions
in the arrangement that contain material financial consequences to the Company.
 

Long-lived asset impairment. We perform periodic impairment analysis on our long-lived amortizable assets whenever events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. When indicators are present, we compare the estimated future undiscounted net
cash flows of the operations to which the assets relate to their carrying amount. If the operations are unable to recover the carrying amount of their assets,
the long-lived assets are written down to their estimated fair value. Fair value is determined based on discounted cash flows, third party appraisals or other
methods that provide appropriate estimates of value. A considerable amount of management judgment and assumptions are required in performing the
impairment test, principally in determining whether an adverse event or circumstance has triggered the need for an impairment review.
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Pension Plan Funded Status.  Our U.S. defined benefit pension plans are closed to new entrants and only $14 thousand of service-related costs
was recorded in 2015 related to a small number of participants who are still accruing benefits in the Louisville Hourly and Salaried Plans. Changes in our
net obligations are principally attributable to changing discount rates and the performance of plan assets. Pension obligations are valued using discount
rates established annually in consultation with our outside actuarial advisers using a theoretical bond portfolio, adjusted according to the timing of
expected cash flows for our future obligations. Plan liabilities at December 31, 2015 are based upon a discount rate of 4.35% which reflects the Above
Mean Mercer Yield Curve rate as of December 31, 2015 rounded to the nearest 5  basis point. Declining discount rates increase the present value of
future pension obligations – a 25 basis point decrease in the discount rate would increase our U.S. pension liability by about $1.025 million. As indicated
above, when establishing the expected long-term rate of return on our U.S. pension plan assets, we consider historical performance and forward looking
return estimates reflective of our portfolio mix and investment strategy. Based on the most recent analysis of projected portfolio returns, we concluded
that the use of 5.75% for the Louisville Hourly Plan, 6.25% for the Marion Plan and 6.75% for the Louisville Salaried Plan as the expected return on our
U.S. pension plan assets for 2015 was appropriate. A change in the assumed rate of return on plan assets of 100 basis points would result in a $0.3 million
change in the estimated 2016 pension expense.
 

During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Society of Actuaries (SOA) issued new mortality improvement scales (MP-2015). The mortality table for
healthy participants was updated to the RP-2014 employee and retiree tables backed off to 2006, no collar, with generational projection based upon scale
MP-2015 and the mortality table for disabled participants was updated to the RP-2014 disabled table with generational projection based upon scale MP-
2015 for accounting purposes as of December 31, 2015.
 

At December 31, 2015, we have $16.2 million of unrecognized losses relating to our U.S. pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses, which are
primarily the result of changes in the discount rate and other assumptions and differences between actual and expected asset returns, are deferred in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income and amortized to expense following the corridor approach. We use the average remaining service period of
active participants unless almost all of the plan’s participants are inactive, in which case we use the average remaining life expectancy for all active and
inactive participants.
 

Reserve for Excess, Obsolete and Scrap Inventory. We record inventory at the lower of cost, determined under the first-in, first-out method, or
market, and we reserve for excess, obsolete or scrap inventory. These reserves are primarily based upon management’s assessment of the salability of the
inventory, historical usage of raw materials, historical demand for finished goods and estimated future usage and demand. An improper assessment of
salability or improper estimate of future usage or demand, or significant changes in usage or demand could result in significant changes in the reserves
and a positive or a negative impact on our consolidated results of operations in the period the change occurs.
 

Stock-based Compensation.  We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with the fair value recognition provisions using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing method, which requires the input of several subjective assumptions. These assumptions include estimating the length of
time employees will retain their vested stock options before exercising them (expected term), the estimated volatility of our common stock price over the
expected term and the number of options that will ultimately not complete their vesting requirements (forfeitures). Changes in the subjective assumptions
can materially affect the fair value estimate of stock-based compensation and consequently, the related expense recognized in the consolidated
statements of operations.
 

Income Taxes.  We account for income taxes as required by the provisions of ASC 740, Income Taxes , under which deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the tax effects of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities measured using
enacted tax rates.
 

Management judgment is required in determining income tax expense and the related balance sheet amounts. In addition, under ASC 740-10,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, judgments are required concerning the ultimate outcome of uncertain income tax positions. Actual income
taxes paid may vary from estimates, depending upon changes in income tax laws, actual results of operations and the final audit of tax returns by taxing
authorities. Tax assessments may arise several years after tax returns have been filed. We believe that our recorded income tax liabilities adequately
provide for the probable outcome of these assessments.
 

 
25

th



 
 

Deferred tax assets are also recorded for operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. However, ASC 740 requires that a valuation allowance be
recorded when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. This assessment is largely dependent upon
projected near-term profitability including the effects of tax planning. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined separately for each tax
jurisdiction in which we conduct our operations or otherwise incur taxable income or losses. We have recorded valuation allowances against deferred tax
assets in the U.S. and Mexico where realization has been determined to be uncertain.

 
As a result of the increased uncertainty surrounding the Company’s forecast of taxable income in Mexico, it was determined that the Company

no longer met the “more likely than not” threshold required under ASC 740-10 in order to maintain the Mexico deferred tax asset. Accordingly, the
Company recorded a valuation allowance on its net deferred tax asset related to certain non-U.S. tax benefits, resulting in deferred tax expense of
$2.2 million during year ended December 31, 2015. Until an appropriate level and characterization of profitability is attained, the Company expects to
continue to maintain a valuation allowance on its net deferred tax assets related to future U.S. and non-U.S. tax benefits.
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Results of Operations
 

We operate in two segments, Sypris Technologies and Sypris Electronics. The table presented below compares our segment and consolidated
results of operations from 2015 to 2014. The table presents the results for each year, the change in those results from one year to another in both dollars
and percentage change and the results for each year as a percentage of net revenue.
 
 ● The first two columns in each table show the absolute results for each period presented.
 

 

● The columns entitled “Year-Over-Year Change” and “Year-Over-Year Percentage Change” show the change in results, both in dollars and
percentages. These two columns show favorable changes as positive and unfavorable changes as negative. For example, when our net
revenue increases from one period to the next, that change is shown as a positive number in both columns. Conversely, when expenses
increase from one period to the next, that change is shown as a negative number in both columns.

 

 ● The last two columns in each table show the results for each period as a percentage of net revenue. In these two columns, the cost of sales
and gross profit for each are given as a percentage of each segment’s net revenue. These amounts are shown in italics.

 
In addition, as used in the table, “NM” means “not meaningful.”
 

Year Ended December 31, 2015 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2014
 

  

Year Ended
December 31,

  
Year Over

Year
Change

  Year Over
Year

Percentage
Change

  Results as Percentage of
Net Revenue for the

Year Ended
December 31,

 

       Favorable   Favorable          
  2015   2014   (Unfavorable)   (Unfavorable)  2015   2014  
  (in thousands, except percentage data)  
Net revenue:                         

Sypris Technologies  $ 108,134  $ 322,262  $ (214,128)   (66.4)%  74.4%   90.8%
Sypris Electronics   37,189   32,514   4,675   14.4   25.6   9.2 

Total net revenue   145,323   354,776   (209,453)   (59.0)   100.0   100.0 
                         
Cost of sales:                         

Sypris Technologies   108,924   280,241   171,317   61.1   100.7   87.0 
Sypris Electronics   36,081   35,705   (376)   (1.1)   97.0   109.8 

Total cost of sales   145,005   315,946   170,941   54.1   99.8   89.1 
                         
Gross profit (loss):                         

Sypris Technologies   (790)   42,021   (42,811)   (101.9)   (0.7)   13.0 
Sypris Electronics   1,108   (3,191)   4,299   134.7   3.0   (9.8)

Total gross profit   318   38,830   (38,512)   (99.2)   0.2   10.9 
                         
Selling, general and administrative   27,845   35,531   7,686   21.6   19.2   10.0 
Research and development   779   579   (200)   (34.5)   0.5   0.1 
Severance and relocation costs   1,338   —   (1,338)   NM   0.9   — 
                         
Operating (loss) income   (29,644)   2,720   (32,364)   NM   (20.4)   0.8 
                         
Interest expense, net   4,223   617   (3,606)   NM   2.9   0.2 
Other (income), net   (8,643)   (1,282)   7,361   NM   (6.0)   (0.4)
(Loss) income before income taxes   (25,224)   3,385   (28,609)   NM   (17.3)   1.0 
                         
Income tax expense, net   1,992   4,569   2,577   56.4   1.4   1.3 
                         
Net loss  $ (27,216)  $ (1,184)  $ (26,032)   NM   (18.7)%  (0.3)%
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Net Revenue.  Sypris Technologies derives its revenue from manufacturing services and product sales. Net revenue for Sypris Technologies
decreased $214.1 million from the prior year to $108.1 million in 2015. The loss of the Dana business accounted for $207.9 million of the decline.
Additionally, the loss of the trailer axle revenue with the sale of assets in Morganton accounted for $12.2 million of the decline. Partially offsetting this
was a net increase in other volumes of $6.0 million attributable to favorable demand from our commercial vehicle market customers.
 

Sypris Electronics derives its revenue from product sales and technical outsourced services. Net revenue for Sypris Electronics increased
$4.7 million to $37.2 million in 2015, reflecting the start and completion of a new electronic manufacturing service program for $5.9 million and the
commissioning of a Cyber Range during the year for $2.0 million. Partially offsetting this was a decline in engineering services revenue during the year.
Despite the increase in revenue over the prior year, Sypris Electronics’ outlook continues to be negatively affected by the budgetary factors described
above. For information about the budgetary and funding uncertainty, see “Risk Factors – Congressional budgetary constraints or reallocations could
reduce our government sales” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

Gross Profit. Sypris Technologies’ gross profit decreased $42.8 million to a loss of $0.8 million in 2015 as compared to profit of $42.0 million
in the prior year. The net decrease in sales volumes, primarily from the loss of the Dana business, resulted in a decrease in gross profit of $47.9 million.
Partially offsetting this was a decrease in depreciation expense of $3.1 million.
 

Sypris Electronics’ gross profit increased $4.3 million to $1.1 million in 2015. The improvement in gross profit for the year ended December
31, 2015 was primarily as a result of higher revenue and a favorable mix in sales of higher margin products and services.
 

Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative expense decreased $7.7 million to $27.8 million in 2015 as compared
to $35.5 million in 2014, primarily as a result of certain cost reduction activities initiated in 2015 in response to the loss of Dana as a customer including
employee compensation and headcount reductions and the sale of the Company’s Morganton facility (See Note 3 “Morganton Sale” to the consolidated
financial statements in this Form 10-K). Additionally, legal expenses decreased in connection with contract negotiations and the related disputes with
Dana (see Note 2 “Management’s Recovery Plans” to the consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K), as the legal expenses regarding the
contract negotiations and litigation are currently estimated to be substantially complete. Partially offsetting this was an increase in consulting fees related
to our debt refinancing and cash management efforts. Selling, general and administrative expense increased as a percentage of revenue to 19.2% in 2015
from 10.0% in 2014 as a result of the rapid decline in revenue.
 

Research and Development. Research and development costs were $0.8 million and $0.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively, primarily in support of Sypris Electronics’ self-funded product and technology development activities.
 

Severance and Relocation Costs. Severance and relocation costs for the year ended December 31 2015 was $1.3 million and is comprised
primarily of headcount reductions related to the loss of the Dana business within Sypris Technologies. Additionally, it includes certain equipment
relocation costs incurred in conjunction with the sale of the Morganton facility. See also Note 2 “Management’s Recovery Plans” and Note 3 “Morganton
Sale” to the consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K.
 

Interest Expense, Net. Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased $3.6 million primarily due to an increase in interest
rates as a result of the amendments to the previous Credit Facility in 2015, the notes payable to Meritor and GFCM entered into during 2015 and the New
Credit Facility and Term Loan entered into in 2015, which increased the Company’s interest rate structure (see Note 14 “Debt” to the consolidated
financial statement in this Form 10-K). The weighted average interest rate increased to 7.2% in 2015 from 2.5% in 2014, while our weighted average debt
outstanding increased to $18.6 million during 2015 from $16.6 million during 2014. As a result of the New Credit Facility and Term Loan entered into
during the fourth quarter of 2015, which increased the Company’s interest rate structure, interest expense is expected to increase in 2016.
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Other (Income), Net. Other income, net, increased $7.4 million to $8.6 million for 2015 from $1.3 million in 2014. Other income, net for the
year ended December 31, 2015 included a gain of $7.7 million related to the Morganton sale (see Note 3 “Morganton Sale” in the consolidated financial
statements in this Form 10-K). Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recognized $0.5 million related to an arbitration
settlement in the Dana dispute received in the second quarter of 2015. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recognized net foreign
currency gains of $0.3 million related to the net U.S. dollar denominated monetary asset position of our Mexican subsidiaries for which the Mexican peso
is the functional currency.
 

Other income, net for the year ended December 31, 2014 includes gains of $0.7 million within Sypris Technologies from the receipt of federal
grant funds for improvements made under a flood relief program, along with foreign currency related gains of $0.7 million related to the net U.S. dollar
denominated monetary asset position of our Mexican subsidiaries for which the Mexican peso is the functional currency.
 

Income Taxes.  Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $2.0 million as compared to $4.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014. As a result of the loss incurred by our Mexico operation in 2015 and increased uncertainty surrounding the Company’s forecast of
taxable income in Mexico, it was determined that the Company no longer met the “more likely than not” threshold required under ASC 740-10 in order
to maintain the Mexico deferred tax asset. Accordingly, the Company recorded a valuation allowance on its net deferred tax asset related to certain non-
U.S. tax benefits, resulting in deferred tax expense of $2.2 million during 2015.
 

The 2014 income tax provision consists of current tax expense of $3.5 million and a deferred tax expense of $1.1 million. The current tax
expense is primarily attributable to taxes paid by our Mexican subsidiaries. Included in deferred taxes in both years is an increase in the valuation
allowance on U.S. deferred tax assets.
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Quarterly Results
 

The following table presents our unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations data for each of the eight quarters in the two-year
period ended December 31, 2015. The quarterly results are presented on a 13-week period basis. We have prepared this data on the same basis as our
audited consolidated financial statements and, in our opinion, have included all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of this
information. You should read these unaudited quarterly results in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The consolidated results of operations for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results to be
expected for any subsequent period.
 
  2015   2014  
  First   Second   Third   Fourth   First   Second   Third   Fourth  
  (in thousands, except per share data)   
Net revenue:                                 

Sypris Technologies  $ 28,070  $ 32,010  $ 27,824  $ 20,230  $ 75,839  $ 83,710  $ 82,555  $ 80,158 
Sypris Electronics   8,939   8,746   10,613   8,891   8,405   9,403   7,649   7,057 
Total net revenue   37,009   40,756   38,437   29,121   84,244   93,113   90,204   87,215 

Cost of sales:                                 
Sypris Technologies   32,174   31,429   25,851   19,470   64,685   72,327   73,256   69,973 
Sypris Electronics   7,992   9,361   10,118   8,610   8,995   9,959   8,739   8,012 
Total cost of sales   40,166   40,790   35,969   28,080   73,680   82,286   81,995   77,985 

Gross profit (loss):                                 
Sypris Technologies   (4,104)   581   1,973   760   11,154   11,383   9,299   10,185 
Sypris Electronics   947   (615)   495   281   (590)   (556)   (1,090)   (955)
Total gross profit (loss)   (3,157)   (34)   2,468   1,041   10,564   10,827   8,209   9,230 

Selling, general and
administrative   9,118   7,327   5,969   5,431   7,992   9,141   8,273   10,125 

Research and development   333   195   119   132   151   10   116   302 
Severance   285   281   457   315   —   —   —   — 
Operating (loss) income   (12,893)   (7,837)   (4,077)   (4,837)   2,421   1,676   (180)   (1,197)
Interest expense, net   334   1,154   1,783   952   132   155   179   151 
Other (income) expense, net   (179)   (575)   (7,841)   (48)   (528)   75   (397)   (432)
(Loss) income before tax   (13,048)   (8,416)   1,981   (5,741)   2,817   1,446   38   (916)
Income tax (benefit) expense   (15)   —   2,255   (248)   1,165   1,076   1,197   1,131 
Net (loss) income  $ (13,033)  $ (8,416)  $ (274)  $ (5,493)  $ 1,652  $ 370  $ (1,159)  $ (2,047)
(Loss) income per common
share:

                                

Basic  $ (0.66)  $ (0.43)  $ (0.01)  $ (0.28)  $ 0.08  $ 0.02  $ (0.06)  $ (0.11)
Diluted  $ (0.66)  $ (0.43)  $ (0.01)  $ (0.28)  $ 0.08  $ 0.02  $ (0.06)  $ (0.11)

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

As described in more detail elsewhere in this report, as a result of the loss of Dana as a customer, the Company experienced substantially reduced
levels of revenue and cash flows in 2015. These developments have required us to reexamine our strategies and cut our costs significantly. Reductions in
our available liquidity have also required closer monitoring of the timing of our capital expenditures and cash flows in order to manage our business
operations.
 

In response, we have taken significant actions during 2015 and subsequent to year-end to pursue new business opportunities with existing and
potential customers, identify alternative uses for the related assets and other contingency plans, including the sale of certain assets used in the Company’s
manufacturing facility in Morganton, North Carolina within the Sypris Technologies segment. In 2015 we received approximately $15.7 million in total
consideration for the Morganton Sale and related transactions, all of which were applied to pay down the amounts drawn under our Credit Facility (See
Note 3 “Morganton Sale” to the consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K). On October 30, 2015, the Company’s prior Credit Facility was
replaced by the New Loan Agreements and paid in full. In addition, the Company has received three cash infusions from GFCM, in the form of
subordinated promissory note obligations totaling $6,500,000 in principal through the first quarter of 2016.
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Additionally, subsequent to year end, in compliance with these New Loan Agreements, the Company entered into a sale lease-back agreement
with Promotora y Desarrolladora Pulso Inmobiliario, S.C. (“Pulso”) whereby we sold the entire facility and leased back the portion of the facility currently
occupied by the Company in Toluca, Mexico, for our continued use as a manufacturing facility for ten years commencing upon the execution of the lease
and terminating on March 9, 2026 (“Toluca Sale-Leaseback”). The Company’s base rent, which is denominated in U.S. currency, is $936,000 annually,
adjusted based on U.S. CPI with certain cap conditions. The transaction generated gross proceeds of 215.0 million Mexican Pesos, or approximately
$12.1 million dollars in U.S. currency.
 

New Credit Facility and Term Loan . On October 30, 2015, the Company entered into New Loan Agreements providing for a $12.0 million Term
Loan and a $15.0 million New Credit Facility. Proceeds from the New Loan Agreements were used to repay the prior Credit Facility and the Meritor Note.
Borrowing availability under the New Credit Facility is determined by a weekly borrowing base collateral calculation that is based on specified
percentages of the value of eligible accounts receivable and inventory, less certain reserves and subject to certain other adjustments. Borrowing
availability under the Term Loan is also evaluated using a separate borrowing base collateral calculation that includes designated percentages of real
estate, machinery and equipment appraisals, in each case less certain reserves and subject to certain other adjustments. If the appraised values of such
collateral causes the Term Loan borrowing base to fall below the then current Term Loan balance, the Company can be required to make a partial
prepayment of such difference and related fees.
 

Obligations under the New Credit Facility and Term Loan are guaranteed by all of our U.S. subsidiaries and are secured by a first priority lien on
substantially all assets of the Company.
 

On February 25, 2016, the Company entered into an amendment (the “Term Loan Amendment”) to the Term Loan and an amendment (the “New
Credit Facility Amendment”) to the New Credit Facility (together, the “Amendments”). The Amendments will have the effect, among other things, of
increasing the Company’s borrowing capability under its Revolving Credit Agreement and providing for an agreement on the use of proceeds from the
Toluca Sale-Leaseback, as described below. As part of the Amendments, the Company also received an additional $1.0 million subordinated loan from
GFCM, as described below.
 

As a result of the Term Loan Amendment, the Company deposited $6.0 million of the proceeds of the Toluca Sale-Leaseback into a Cash
Collateral Account, to be held for one year as additional collateral for the Term Loan. Amounts deposited in the Cash Collateral Account that are used to
prepay the principal of the Term Loan must be accompanied by the payment of a make-whole amount by the Company equal to the present value of any
unpaid interest that would have been paid on the prepaid portion of the Term Loan through the one year anniversary of the Term Loan Amendment. The
Term Loan Amendment further provides that the Company will be permitted to retain the remaining balance of the proceeds from Toluca Sale-Leaseback,
and increases the interest rate of the Term Loan by 1.0%.
 

In addition, under the Term Loan Amendment and New Credit Facility Amendment, the Company’s minimum excess availability provisions
were reduced from $4.0 million to $3.0 million. The lender further agreed to remove certain reserves which were counted against the Company’s
“borrowing base.” These changes are estimated to provide the Company with approximately $1.7 million in additional borrowing capacity under the
amended New Credit Facility.
 

In connection with the Amendments, the Company has retained a financial advisor to review the Company’s existing business plan and make
recommendations in the form of a revised business plan. If the Company meets certain milestones as determined by the lender after its review of such plan,
up to $1.0 million may be released from the Cash Collateral Account to the Company.
 

The Company’s obligations under each of the amended New Credit Facility and the amended Term Loan Credit Agreement, as amended,
continue to be guaranteed by the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries and are secured by a first priority lien on substantially all assets of the Company and the
guarantors. Each of the New Credit Facility Loan Amendment and the Term Loan Amendment contains certain customary representations, warranties and
covenants.
 

The amended New Loan Agreements contain a number of affirmative, negative and financial maintenance covenants, representations, warranties,
events of default and remedies upon default, including acceleration and rights to foreclose on the collateral securing each lender. If the Company’s
borrowing availability under the amended New Credit Facility falls below $3.0 million, the Company must maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio of at
least 1 to 1, as measured on a trailing twelve months’ basis.
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Based on the borrowing base calculation at December 31, 2015, the Company had actual total availability for borrowing under the New Credit
Facility of $8.4 million, of which we had drawn $2.1 million, leaving $6.3 million still available for borrowing, $4.0 million of which was reserved for
compliance with the minimum excess availability provisions of the New Credit Facility. Along with an unrestricted cash balance of $1.3 million, we had
total cash and borrowing capacity of $3.6 million as of December 31, 2015. Approximately $1.2 million of the unrestricted cash balance relates to the
Company’s Mexican subsidiaries. It is anticipated that the Company will utilize a substantial portion of its borrowing availability from time to time in
the ordinary course of business.
 

Non-compliance with the Company’s debt covenants would provide the debt holders with certain contractual rights, including the right to
demand immediate repayment of all outstanding borrowings.  Since the loss of the Dana business (see Note 2 “Management’s Recovery Plans”), the
Company has also experienced negative cash flows from operating activities which could hamper or materially increase the costs of the Company’s
ability to comply with such covenants.  The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the ongoing realization of assets,
satisfaction of liabilities and continuity of operations as a going concern in the ordinary course of business, but there can be no assurances that the
Company’s current initiatives and plans will ultimately succeed, which could materially and adversely impair the Company’s ability to operate, its cash
flows, financial condition and ongoing results.
 

The Company is considering opportunities to support its cash flow from operations in 2016 through other investing activities. The Company is
exploring alternatives to monetize certain assets of the Company for values in excess of the availability being provided under the Amended New Loan
Agreements, thereby generating additional sources of liquidity for the Company.
 

Our ability to service our indebtedness will require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to generate this cash will depend largely on future
operations including the success of our revenue recovery plans. Based upon our current forecast for 2016, we expect to be able to meet the financial
covenants of our amended New Loan Agreements, and we believe that we will have sufficient liquidity to finance our operations throughout 2016.
Although we believe the assumptions underlying our current forecast are reasonable, we have considered the possibility of even lower revenues and other
risks. If we are unable to achieve our forecasted revenue, or if our costs are higher than expected, we may be required to revise our recovery plans to
provide for additional cost-cutting measures or to consider other strategic alternatives.
 

If we have insufficient cash flow to fund our liquidity needs and are unable to raise additional capital, we would risk being in default under our
New Credit Facility and Term Loan, unless our lenders agreed to modify or waive such requirements. In such circumstances, we believe that the Company
would have the continuing ability to sell certain of its assets if necessary to repay its outstanding indebtedness. However, there can be no assurances that
such efforts will succeed, and if we sold such assets we may be unable to pursue certain opportunities for new revenues that are part of our recovery plan
and we may be required to defer our planned capital expenditures. See the discussion in Note 14 “Debt” to the consolidated financial statements in this
Form 10-K which discussion is incorporated in this Item by reference. See “Risk Factors – An inability to obtain new financing could require us to sell
assets and could impair our ability to continue operation.” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

Gill Family Capital Management Note. In connection with the amendments to the prior Credit Facility, the Company received the proceeds of
new subordinated indebtedness from GFCM in an amount of $5.5 million (“GFCM Note”). GFCM is an entity controlled by our president and chief
executive officer, Jeffrey T. Gill and one of our directors, R. Scott Gill. GFCM, Jeffrey T. Gill and R. Scott Gill are significant beneficial stockholders of
the Company. The promissory note bears interest at a rate of 8.0% per year and all principal and interest on the promissory note will be due and payable
on the maturity date, January 30, 2019. On February 26, 2016, the Company amended the GFCM Note to increase the amount to $6.5 million in
connection with the amendments to the New Credit Facility and Term Loan.
 

Meritor Note and Morganton Sale to Meritor. On July 2, 2015, the Company entered into a secured promissory note (the “Meritor Note”) in the
principal amount of $3.0 million, with Meritor, in exchange for the release of certain outstanding net trade payables owed to Meritor for ongoing
purchases of raw materials, and the guarantee of certain inventory values related to Meritor’s business as collateral under the Company’s prior Credit
Facility. The Meritor Note was secured by substantially all of the collateral for the Loan Agreement, was senior to the promissory note previously issued
to GFCM, and was subordinate to the rights of PNC within the previous Credit Facility. The Meritor Note accrued interest at a rate of 10.0% per year.
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On July 9, 2015, the Company entered an asset purchase agreement to sell certain assets and related liabilities used in the Company’s
manufacturing facility in Morganton, North Carolina, to Meritor for $12.5 million. Meritor also agreed to purchase the Morganton facility for an
additional $3.2 million. At closing, the parties also entered into a Meritor Note Amendment, whereby the Company issued an additional secured
obligation to Meritor of $0.4 million on July 9, 2015 and further agreed to increase the Meritor Note by an additional $0.3 million to reflect certain roof
repairs required at the Morganton facility. The total proceeds received of $15.7 million in consideration for the Morganton sale was used to pay down the
Company’s outstanding debt on the previous Credit Facility with PNC.
 

All principal and interest on the Meritor Note was due and payable on the maturity date. The Meritor Note was paid in full on October 30, 2015
with the proceeds received as part of the New Loan Agreements.
 

Purchase Commitments. We also had purchase commitments totaling approximately $6.2 million at December 31, 2015, primarily for inventory.
 
Financial Condition
 

Operating Activities. Net cash used by operating activities was $13.4 million in 2015, as compared to cash provided of $3.0 million in 2014. The
aggregate decrease in accounts receivable including the collection of Dana accounts receivable in 2015 provided cash of $24.7 million. Similarly,
decreases in accounts payable, including amounts paid to Dana under a rebill arrangement for inventory, resulted in a usage of cash of $13.4 million.
Decreases in inventory provided cash of $5.4 million during 2015. Cash of $4.5 million was used to finance changes within other current assets primarily
consisting of deferred costs related to the development of a cyber-range and a change in income taxes receivable by our Mexican subsidiaries.
 

Investing Activities. Net cash provided by investing activities was $13.9 million in 2015 as compared to net cash used of $5.2 million in 2014.
Net cash provided by investing activities for 2015 included proceeds of $15.7 million from the Morganton sale (see Note 3 “Morganton Sale” to the
consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K). Capital expenditures in both periods represented maintenance levels of investment.
 

Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities was $6.1 million in 2015 as compared to $9.5 million in 2014. During 2015, the
Company used net proceeds of $12.0 million received under the new Term Loan, $2.1 million received under the New Credit Facility and $5.5 million
received under the GFCM Note to repay its former Revolving Credit Agreement and the Meritor Note. Additionally, we paid $4.2 million in debt issuance
and modification costs in conjunction with the New Loan Agreements and amendments of the prior Credit Facility, Meritor Note and GFCM Note in
2015. Net cash used in financing activities in 2015 also included dividend payments of $0.4 million and payments of $0.1 million for minimum statutory
tax withholding on stock-based compensation.
 

During 2014, the Company reduced its debt under the Credit Facility by $7.0 million, paid dividends of $1.6 million and paid $0.9 million for
the repurchase of stock and minimum statutory tax withholdings on stock-based compensation.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

We do not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial
condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources as of December
31, 2015.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements for a full description of recent accounting pronouncements, including the respective dates of
adoption and effects on our results of operations and financial condition.
 

 
33



 
 
Item 7A.     Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 

We are a smaller reporting company as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K and thus are not required to provide the quantitative and
qualitative disclosures about market risk specified in Item 305 of Regulation S-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
Board of Directors and Stockholders
Sypris Solutions, Inc.
Louisville, Kentucky
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sypris Solutions, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.

 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Sypris
Solutions, Inc. as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

 
 
 

/s/ CROWE HORWATH LLP
 
Louisville, Kentucky
March 30, 2016
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 SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except for per share data)
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Net revenue:         

Outsourced services  $ 113,547  $ 322,159 
Products   31,776   32,617 
         

Total net revenue   145,323   354,776 
         

Cost of sales:         
Outsourced services   122,296   288,081 
Products   22,709   27,865 
         

Total cost of sales   145,005   315,946 
         
Gross profit   318   38,830 
         

Selling, general and administrative   27,845   35,531 
Research and development   779   579 
Severance and equipment relocation costs   1,338   0 
         

Operating (loss) income   (29,644)   2,720 
         

Interest expense, net   4,223   617 
Other (income), net   (8,643)   (1,282)
         

(Loss) income before income taxes   (25,224)   3,385 
         

Income tax expense, net   1,992   4,569 
         

Net loss  $ (27,216)  $ (1,184)
         

Loss per common share:         
Basic  $ (1.38)  $ (0.06)
Diluted  $ (1.38)  $ (0.06)

         
Cash dividends per common share  $ 0.00  $ 0.08 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands)
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2015   2014  
         
Net loss  $ (27,216)  $ (1,184)
         
Other comprehensive (loss) income:         

Foreign currency translation adjustments   (2,289)   (2,830)
Employee benefit related, net of tax   1,564   (4,471)

         
Other comprehensive (loss)   (725)   (7,301)

         
Comprehensive loss  $ (27,941)  $ (8,485)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except for share data)
 
  December 31,  
  2015   2014  

ASSETS         
         
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,349  $ 7,003 
Accounts receivable, net   12,394   47,666 
Inventory, net   20,192   29,031 
Other current assets   4,459   5,666 
Assets held for sale   3,230   0 
Total current assets   41,624   89,366 

         
Property, plant and equipment, net   22,178   37,654 
Other assets   4,310   2,661 

Total assets  $ 68,112  $ 129,681 
         

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY         
         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable  $ 11,311  $ 39,027 
Accrued liabilities   11,661   18,775 
Current portion of long-term debt   3,846   17,000 

Total current liabilities   26,818   74,802 
         
Note payable – related party   5,500   0 
Long-term debt   10,000   0 
Other liabilities   6,082   7,991 

Total liabilities   48,400   82,793 
         
Stockholders’ equity:         

Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, 975,150 shares authorized; no shares issued   —   — 
Series A preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, 24,850 shares authorized; no shares issued   —   — 
Common stock, non-voting, par value $0.01 per share, 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued   —   — 
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 30,000,000 shares authorized; 20,826,236 shares issued and

20,776,544 outstanding in 2015 and 20,567,735 shares issued and 20,485,043 outstanding in 2014   208   206 
Additional paid-in capital   152,077   151,314 
Accumulated deficit   (106,812)   (79,596)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (25,760)   (25,035)
Treasury stock, 49,692 and 82,692 shares in 2015 and 2014, respectively   (1)   (1)
         

Total stockholders’ equity   19,712   46,888 
         
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 68,112  $ 129,681 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Cash flows from operating activities:         

Net loss  $ (27,216)  $ (1,184)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   9,035   10,409 
Deferred income taxes   2,230   1,050 
Non-cash compensation   842   1,597 
Deferred revenue recognized   (4,200)   (8,657)
Deferred loan costs amortized   2,333   78 
Gain on sale of assets   (7,480)   (19)
Provision for excess and obsolete inventory   1,069   1,150 
Other noncash items   (1,289)   (993)
Contributions to pension plans   (315)   (1,090)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Accounts receivable   24,700   (9,091)
Inventory   5,432   4,276 
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (4,470)   (143)
Accounts payable   (13,388)   2,425 
Accrued and other liabilities   (730)   3,237 

         
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities   (13,447)   3,045 

         
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Capital expenditures   (1,825)   (5,259)
Proceeds from sale of assets   15,741   30 
         

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   13,916   (5,229)
         

Cash flows from financing activities:         
Repayment of former Revolving Credit Agreement   (17,000)   0 
Repayment of note payable – Meritor   (3,779)   0 
Proceeds from issuance of Term Loan   12,000   0 
Principal payments on Term Loan   (286)   0 
Proceeds from note payable – related party   5,500   0 
Proceeds from New Revolving Credit Agreement   2,132   0 
Net change in debt under Credit Facility   0   (7,000)
Debt issuance and modification costs   (4,203)   0 
Common stock repurchases   0   (426)
Indirect repurchase of shares for minimum statutory tax withholdings   (77)   (429)
Cash dividends paid   (410)   (1,635)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock   0   3 
         

Net cash used in financing activities   (6,123)   (9,487)
         

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (5,654)   (11,671)
         
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   7,003   18,674 
         
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $ 1,349  $ 7,003 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands, except for share data)
 
  

Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-In   Accumulated   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   Treasury  
  Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   Loss   Stock  

                         
                         
January 1, 2014 balance   20,399,649  $ 204  $ 150,569  $ (76,786)  $ (17,734)  $ (1)
                         
Net loss   0   0   0   (1,184)   0   0 
Employee benefit related, net of tax   0   0   0   0   (4,471)   0 
Foreign currency translation adjustment   0   0   0   0   (2,830)   0 
Cash dividends, $0.08 per common share  0   0   0   (1,637)   0   0 
Common stock repurchases   (104,501)   0   (426)   0   0   0 
Restricted common stock grant   283,000   3   0   0   0   0 
Noncash compensation   48,000   0   1,597   11   0   0 
Exercise of stock options   56,217   0   3   0   0   0 
Treasury stock   (98,000)   0   0   0   0   0 
Retire treasury stock   (99,322)   (1)   (429)   0   0   0 
                         
December 31, 2014 balance   20,485,043   206   151,314   (79,596)   (25,035)   (1)
                         
Net loss   0   0   0   (27,216)   0   0 
Employee benefit related, net of tax   0   0   0   0   1,564   0 
Foreign currency translation adjustment   0   0   0   0   (2,289)   0 
Restricted common stock grant   287,500   2   (2)   0   0   0 
Noncash compensation   48,000   0   842   0   0   0 
Treasury stock   (15,000)   0   0   0   0   0 
Retire treasury stock   (28,999)   0   (77)   0   0   0 
                         
December 31, 2015 balance   20,776,544  $ 208  $ 152,077  $ (106,812)  $ (25,760)  $ (1)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2015 and 2014
 
(1) Organization and Significant Accounting Policies
 

Consolidation Policy
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Sypris Solutions, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries
(collectively, “Sypris” or the “Company”) and have been prepared by the Company in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The Company’s operations are domiciled in the United States (U.S.), Mexico, Denmark and the U.K. and serve a wide variety of
domestic and international customers. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
 

Nature of Business
 

Sypris is a diversified provider of outsourced services and specialty products. The Company performs a wide range of manufacturing,
engineering, design and other technical services, often under sole-source contracts with corporations and government agencies in the markets for truck
components and assemblies and aerospace and defense electronics. The Company provides such services through its Sypris Technologies and Sypris
Electronics segments. See Note 22 for additional information regarding our segments.
 

Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported. Changes in facts and circumstances could have a
significant impact on the resulting estimated amounts included in our consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
 

Fair Value Estimates
 

The Company estimates fair value of its financial instruments utilizing an established three-level hierarchy. The hierarchy is based upon the
transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date as follows: Level 1 – Valuation is based upon unadjusted quoted
prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets. Level 2 – Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active
markets, or other inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instruments.
Level 3 – Valuation is based upon other unobservable inputs that are significant to the fair value measurements.
 

Cash Equivalents
 

Cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased.
 

Inventory
 

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value. Costs for raw materials, work in process and finished goods is
determined under the first-in, first-out method. Indirect inventories, which include perishable tooling, repair parts and other materials consumed in the
manufacturing process but not incorporated into finished products are classified as raw materials.
 

The Company’s reserve for excess and obsolete inventory is primarily based upon forecasted demand for its product sales, and any change to the
reserve arising from forecast revisions is reflected in cost of sales in the period the revision is made.
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SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED 

 
Property, Plant and Equipment

 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is generally computed using the straight-line

method over their estimated economic lives. For land improvements, buildings and building improvements, the estimated economic life is generally 40
years. Estimated economic lives range from three to fifteen years for machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures. Leasehold improvements are amortized
over the shorter of their economic life or the respective lease term using the straight-line method. Expenditures for maintenance, repairs and renewals of
minor items are expensed as incurred. Major rebuilds and improvements are capitalized.
 

Long-lived Assets
 

The Company reviews the carrying value of amortizable long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held for sale and held for use is measured by a comparison of the
carrying amount of the asset to the undiscounted future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If facts and circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of an asset or groups of assets, as applicable, is impaired, the long-lived asset or groups of long-lived assets are written down to their
estimated fair value.
 

Software Development Costs
 

Software development costs for Sypris Electronics are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility has been established, at which time
those costs are capitalized as intangible assets until the software is implemented into products sold to customers. Capitalized software development costs
are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software, which is currently eighteen months. Costs incurred to enhance existing
software or after the implementation of the software into a product are expensed in the period they are incurred and included in research and development
expense in the consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company had capitalized software development costs of
$1,597,000 and $1,883,000, respectively, included in other current assets. For the years end December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company recorded related
amortization of $2,090,000 and $372,000, respectively.
 

Deferred Revenue
 

Deferred revenue for Sypris Electronics is recorded when payments are received in advance for service agreements and extended warranties on
certain products and is amortized into revenue on a straight-line basis over the contractual term. Deferred revenue for Sypris Electronics also includes
prepayments received prior to the time when products are shipped. When the related products are shipped, the related amount recorded as deferred
revenue is recognized as revenue. Deferred revenue for Sypris Technologies is generally associated with the Dana settlement and was amortized into
income on a units-of-production basis over the term of the related supply agreement period. See Note 5 for information regarding the Dana settlement, and
see Note 12 for the amount of deferred revenue included in accrued liabilities at December 31, 2015 and 2014.
 

Stock-based Compensation
 

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with the fair value recognition provisions using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing method, which requires the input of several subjective assumptions. These assumptions include estimating the length of time employees will
retain their vested stock options before exercising them (expected term), the estimated volatility of our common stock price over the expected term and
the number of options that will ultimately not complete their vesting requirements (forfeitures). Changes in the subjective assumptions can materially
affect the fair value estimate of stock-based compensation and consequently, the related expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.
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SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED

 
Income Taxes

 
The Company uses the liability method in accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for temporary differences

between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements, using the statutory tax rates in effect for
the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets unless it
is more likely than not that such assets will be realized.
 

In the ordinary course of business there is inherent uncertainty in quantifying the Company’s income tax positions. The Company assesses its
income tax positions and records tax benefits for all years subject to examination based upon management’s evaluation of the facts, circumstances, and
information available at the reporting dates. For those tax positions where it is more-likely-than-not that a tax benefit will be sustained, the Company has
recorded the largest amount of tax benefit with a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has
full knowledge of all relevant information. For those income tax positions where it is not more-likely-than-not that a tax benefit will be sustained, no tax
benefit has been recognized in the financial statements. Where applicable, associated interest has also been recognized.
 

The Company recognizes liabilities or assets for the deferred tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets or
liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes . The Company recognizes interest accrued
related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. Penalties, if incurred, would be recognized as a component of income tax expense.
 

The Company expects to repatriate available non-U.S. cash holdings to support management’s strategic objectives and fund ongoing U.S.
operational cash flow requirements; therefore current earnings from non-U.S. operations are not treated as permanently reinvested. The U.S. income tax
recorded in 2014 on these non-U.S. earnings was offset by the benefit of a partial release of a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets associated with
our U.S. net operating loss carryforwards. Should the U.S. valuation allowance be eliminated at some future date, the U.S. tax on foreign earnings not
permanently reinvested may have a material effect on our effective tax rate. For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company expects any additional
tax expense from non-U.S. withholding and other taxes expected to be incurred on the repatriation of current earnings will not be material.
 

Net Revenue and Cost of Sales
 

Net revenue of products and services under commercial terms and conditions are recorded upon delivery and passage of title, or when services
are rendered. Related shipping and handling costs, if any, are included in costs of sales.
 

Net revenue on fixed-price contracts is recognized as services are performed. Revenue is deferred until all of the following have occurred
(1) there is a contract in place, (2) delivery has occurred, (3) the price is fixed or determinable, and (4) collectability is reasonably assured. Contract profits
are taken into earnings based on actual cost of sales for units shipped. Amounts representing contract change orders or claims are included in revenue
when such costs are invoiced to the customer.
 

The Company periodically enters into research and development contracts with customers related primarily to key encryption products. When
the contracts provide for milestone or other interim payments, the Company will recognize revenue under the milestone method in accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 605-28 Revenue Recognition, Milestone Method. The milestone method requires the Company to deem all
milestone payments within each contract as either substantive or non-substantive. That conclusion is determined based upon a thorough review of each
contract and the deliverables to which the Company has committed in each contract. For substantive milestones, the Company concludes that upon
achievement of each milestone, the amount of the corresponding defined payment is commensurate with the effort required to achieve such milestone or
the value of the delivered item. The payment associated with each milestone relates solely to past performance and is deemed reasonable upon
consideration of the deliverables and the payment terms within the contract. Milestones may include, for example, the successful completion of design
review or technical review, the submission and acceptance of technical drawings, delivery of hardware, software or regulatory agency certifications. The
Company had one such milestone contract in process at December, 31, 2014. All milestones under that contract were deemed substantive. There are no
performance, cancellation, termination or refund provisions in the arrangement that contain material financial consequences to the Company. As of
December 31, 2015, all contracts utilizing the milestone method were completed. Revenue recognized through the achievement of multiple milestones
during 2015 and 2014 amounted to $300,000 and $3,050,000, respectively. There are no performance, cancellation, termination or refund provisions in
the arrangement that contain material financial consequences to the Company.
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SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED

 
Product Warranty Costs

 
The provision for estimated warranty costs is recorded at the time of sale and is periodically adjusted to reflect actual experience. The

Company’s warranty liability, which is included in accrued liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets, as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, was
$830,000 and $825,000, respectively. The Company’s warranty expense for the years ended December  31, 2015 and 2014 was $159,000 and $43,000,
respectively.
 

Additionally, the Company sells three and five-year extended warranties for certain link encryption products. The revenue from the extended
warranties is deferred and recognized ratably over the contractual term. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company had deferred $495,000 and
$839,000, respectively, related to extended warranties. At December 31, 2015, $333,000 is included in accrued liabilities and $162,000 is included in
other liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets. At December 31, 2014, $344,000 is included in accrued liabilities and $495,000 is included in other
liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets.
 

Concentrations of Credit Risk
 

Financial instruments which potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of accounts receivable. The Company’s
customer base consists of a number of customers in diverse industries across geographic areas, primarily in North America and Mexico, various
departments or agencies of the U.S. Government, and aerospace and defense companies under contract with the U.S. Government. The Company performs
periodic credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and does not require collateral on its commercial accounts receivable. Credit losses are
provided for in the consolidated financial statements and consistently have been within management’s expectations. Approximately 37% of accounts
receivable outstanding at December 31, 2015 is due from our largest three customers. More specifically, Sistemas, Meritor and Exelis comprise 16%, 11%
and 10%, respectively of December 31, 2015 outstanding accounts receivables. Approximately 79% of accounts receivable outstanding at December 31,
2014 was due from the Company’s two largest customers during 2014. More specifically, Dana and Meritor comprised 57% and 22%, respectively, of
December 31, 2014 outstanding accounts receivable.
 

Sypris Technologies’ largest customers for the year ended December 31, 2015 were Meritor, Sistemas and Detroit Diesel Corporation, which
represented approximately 30%, 11% and 10%, respectively, of the Company’s total net revenue. Dana and Meritor were the Company’s largest
customers for the year ended December 31, 2014, which represented approximately 59% and 16%, respectively, of the Company’s total net revenue. The
Company recognized revenue from contracts with the U.S. Government and its agencies approximating 5% and 2% of net revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. No other single customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s total net revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2015 or 2014.
 

Foreign Currency Translation
 

The functional currency for the Company’s Mexican subsidiaries is the Mexican peso. Assets and liabilities are translated at the period end
exchange rate, and income and expense items are translated at the weighted average exchange rate. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded in
comprehensive (loss) income as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Remeasurement gains or losses for U.S. dollar denominated accounts of the
Company’s Mexican subsidiaries are included in other (income), net.
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SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED

 
Collective Bargaining Agreements

 
Approximately 374, or 51% of the Company’s employees, all within Sypris Technologies, were covered by collective bargaining agreements at

December 31, 2015. Excluding certain Mexico employees covered under an annually ratified agreement, collective bargaining agreements covering 35
employees expire within the next 12 months. Certain Mexico employees are covered by an annually ratified collective bargaining agreement. These
employees represented approximately 26% of the Company’s workforce, or 191 employees as of December 31, 2015.
 

Adoption of Recently Issued Accounting Standards
 

In April 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued guidance that revises the definition of a discontinued operation. The
revised definition limits discontinued operations reporting to disposals of components of an entity that represent strategic shifts that have (or will have) a
major effect on operations and financial results. The guidance also requires new disclosures of both discontinued operations and certain other disposals
that do not meet the definition of a discontinued operation. The guidance will apply to covered transactions that occur after 2014 and was optional for
the initial reporting of disposals completed or approved in 2014. The Company adopted the standard effective January 1, 2015.
 

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers.” This ASU
supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in “Accounting Standard Codification 605 - Revenue Recognition” and most industry-specific
guidance. The standard requires that entities recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which a company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new guidance will also require new disclosures
about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. ASU 2014-09 was originally effective
for us on January 1, 2017; however, in July 2015 the FASB decided to defer the effective date by one year. Early application is not permitted, but
reporting entities may choose to adopt the standard as of the original effective date. The standard permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative
effect transition method. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the adoption of ASU 2014-09 on its results of operations, financial position
and cash flows.
 

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15 Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of
Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern, which requires management to evaluate whether there are conditions or events
that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, and to provide certain disclosures when it is probable that the entity
will be unable to meet its obligations as they become due within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. ASU 2014-15 is effective
for the annual period ended December 31, 2016 and for annual periods and interim periods thereafter with early adoption permitted. The Company is
currently evaluating the new guidance to determine the impact it may have on our consolidated financial statements.
 

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt
Issuance Costs. The amendments in this ASU 2015-03 require that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance
sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. The recognition and measurement guidance for
debt issuance costs are not affected by the amendments in this ASU 2015-03. In August 2015 the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-15, Interest - Imputation of
Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs Associated with Line-of-Credit Arrangements -
Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to Staff Announcement at June 18, 2015 EITF Meeting. ASU 2015-15 was issued to address presentation or
subsequent measurement of debt issuance costs related to line-of-credit arrangements that were not found ASU 2015-03. Given the absence of
authoritative guidance within ASU 2015-03 for debt issuance costs related to line-of-credit arrangements, the SEC staff would not object to an entity
deferring and presenting debt issuance costs as an asset and subsequently amortizing the deferred debt issuance costs ratably over the term of the line-of-
credit arrangement, regardless of whether there are any outstanding borrowings on the line-of-credit arrangement. These standards are effective for fiscal
years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015, and should be applied retrospectively. Early adoption is
permitted. The Company is currently assessing the potential impact of adopting ASU 2015-03 and ASU 2015-15 on its consolidated financial statements
and related disclosures.
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In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, which simplifies the subsequent measurement of inventory. It replaces the current lower of cost

or market test with a lower of cost or net realizable value test. The standard is effective for public entities for annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2016, and interim periods therein. Early adoption is permitted. The new guidance must be applied prospectively. The adoption of this
standard is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The new standard was issued to increase transparency and
comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and disclosing key information about leasing
arrangements. This standard affects any entity that enters into a lease, with some specified scope exemptions. The guidance in this Update supersedes
FASB ASC 840, Leases. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within
those fiscal years. The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this ASU on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
 
(2) Management’s Recovery Plans
 

The Company’s net loss increased from $1,184,000 in 2014 to $27,216,000 in 2015, which included a gain of $7,744,000 from the sale of assets
used in the Company’s manufacturing facility in Morganton, North Carolina (see Note 3 “Morganton Sale”). Operating income in 2014 was $2,720,000
compared to an operating loss of $29,644,000 in 2015. Operating cash flows were positive $3,045,000 in 2014 compared to negative $13,447,000 in
2015.
 

Given the loss of the Dana business and unfavorable growth trends and softness in commercial vehicle manufacturing and the oil and gas
markets served by Sypris Technologies, management has developed various profit recovery and protection plans and is evaluating strategic alternatives
to optimize asset values in each of the Company’s segments. Management has engaged advisors to provide recommendations for cost reductions and
actions that can be taken to improve profitability. Management prepared a revised forecast during March 2016 with plans to control costs, manage cash
flow and remain in compliance with debt covenant requirements throughout 2016. In addition, Management has embarked on a project to evaluate
various strategic alternatives to optimize asset values. The Company completed a number of its initial profit recovery and protection actions in 2015,
including: (i) the sale of certain assets used in the Company’s manufacturing facility in Morganton, North Carolina within the Sypris Technologies
segment (ii) reduction in workforce at all locations, and (iii) other reductions in employment costs through reduced work schedules, senior management
pay reductions, deferral of merit increases and certain benefit payments. The Company’s debt was restructured and the prior Credit Facility was paid in
full, while the Company has received the benefit of three cash infusions from Gill Family Capital Management, Inc. (“GFCM’), in the form of
subordinated promissory note obligations totaling $6,500,000 in principal through the first quarter of 2016.
 

The commercial vehicle industry has softened beginning in the fourth quarter of 2015 along with other durable and non-durable goods sectors in
the North America economy. Management has identified additional cost reduction actions in the Sypris Technologies segment. Reductions in selling,
general and administrative expense and labor expense were implemented during the first quarter of 2016, and additional cost reductions are planned
during the second and third quarters. Although the expected benefits of the cost reductions will be partially offset by the impact of minor investments and
severance required to enable the cost reductions, the actions are expected to contribute to improved liquidity during 2016.
 

Management has identified a number of new customer opportunities that provide higher margin opportunities, even at lower volumes.
Management is implementing operational efficiencies that are expected to enable reductions in the machinery set-up time for new orders which enables
the Company to quote on customer requirements that are higher margin but with somewhat shorter run lengths. These new business activities are
anticipated to enable the Company to diversify its revenue volume over a larger and more profitable customer base.
 

One of the additional actions implemented by management during the first quarter of 2016 was to consummate the sale and partial lease back of
its facility located in Toluca Mexico, which generated gross proceeds of approximately $12,100,000. Of this total, $6,000,000 was deposited into a cash
collateral account, to be held for up to one year as additional collateral for the Term Loan (see Note 14 “Debt”). Management will continue to operate in
Toluca but given the 2015 reduction in the Dana business and the overall downturn in the commercial vehicle markets, management determined that the
underutilized Toluca real estate value could be best optimized with a sale and lease back arrangement where some but not all of the facility would
continue to be occupied and managed by Sypris Technologies.
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The oil and gas industry has experienced significant price erosion, and as a result the Company’s customers are delaying capital expenditures

that support their growth and maintenance projects. The Company has identified some capacity reallocation opportunities between plants in the United
States and Mexico. The Company has initiated the process of qualifying production for certain components in Mexico that are currently produced in the
United States and completed the qualification for the first group of these components. The Company expects the capacity reallocation will accelerate
during 2016 as the capital necessary to fund the reallocation becomes available and the qualification process for the production is complete.
 

Sypris Electronics has continued to invest in a number of product development projects. The Company was awarded a significant engineering
services contract in the defense sector during March of 2016. Nevertheless, the Company has identified certain cost reduction and cash flow
enhancements in the Sypris Electronics segment that can be implemented during the second and third quarters that are not expected to impact the future
growth in the Electronics segment.
 

Sypris Electronics has filed a number of patent applications for technology related to its new SiOMetrics hardware authentication solutions,
which may enable the Company to address commercial markets for infrastructure and the Internet of Things (IoT) markets. New commercial opportunities
in the automotive, industrial controls, communications, infrastructure, utilities, automation, aviation, retail, and personal communication devices could
benefit from the technology that Sypris Electronics has patented or for which it has patents pending. Sypris Electronics now provides a platform of
layered security protocols that will enable customers in a number of industries to tailor the security solutions to their individual requirements.
Management has taken steps to diversify its product and service offerings in the Sypris Electronics segment whereby the Company intends to be less
dependent upon the Defense markets and better positioned to take advantage of the rapidly growing commercial security and encryption markets going
forward.
 

Management has identified certain cost reductions at the corporate headquarters that are expected to improve profitability and cash flow
throughout 2016. Salary reductions and other SG&A cost reductions were implemented during the first quarter of 2016 that management believes will
continue to benefit the company throughout future periods. Additional cost reductions have been identified in the area of professional services,
administration and lease expense.
 

(3) Morganton Sale
 

On July 9, 2015, the Company entered an asset purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) to sell certain assets used in the Company’s
manufacturing facility in Morganton, North Carolina, to its largest customer, Meritor, Inc. (“Meritor”). The Company retained the Morganton plant’s axle
shaft manufacturing lines and certain related assets, intellectual property and inventories, which were transitioned to the Company’s Louisville, Kentucky
plant in October 2015. All other Morganton equipment, related assets and intellectual property were sold to Meritor (the “Morganton Sale”) for
$10,500,000 in cash paid at the closing and other consideration. Meritor purchased related inventories and accounts receivable and assumed or released
certain accounts payable and other accrued liabilities, for $2,000,000 (subject to customary post-closing adjustments to actual). Meritor also purchased
the Morganton building and real estate for $3,200,000. The total proceeds received of $15,700,000 in consideration for the Morganton sale were used to
pay down the Company’s outstanding debt with PNC Bank, National Association (“PNC”). As a result of the Morganton sale, the Company recognized a
gain of $7,744,000.
 

At closing, the parties also entered into a Meritor Note Amendment, whereby the Company issued an additional secured obligation to Meritor of
$412,000 on July 9, 2015. The parties also agreed to increase the Meritor Note by an additional $321,000 in September to reflect certain roof repairs
required at the Morganton facility. The Company repaid the Meritor Note on October 30, 2015. See Note 14 “Debt,” to the consolidated financial
statements for more detail on the Meritor Note.
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(4) Other (Income), Net
 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recognized other income of $8,643,000, which consisted primarily of a gain of
$7,744,000 related to the Morganton sale (see Note 3 “Morganton Sale” to the consolidated financial statements). Additionally, during the year ended
December 31, 2015, the Company recognized $505,000 related to an arbitration settlement in the Dana dispute received in the second quarter. During the
year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recognized net foreign currency related gains of $259,000 related to the U.S. dollar denominated monetary
asset position of our Mexican subsidiaries for which the Mexican peso is the functional currency.
 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, Sypris Technologies received $714,000 from the receipt of federal grant funds for improvements
made under a flood relief program. Additionally, the Company recognized foreign currency transaction gains of $655,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2014 related to the net U.S. dollar denominated monetary asset position of our Mexican subsidiaries for which the Mexican peso is the
functional currency. These gains and losses are included in other (income), net on the consolidated statements of operations.
 
(
5) Dana Claim
 

On March 3, 2006, Dana and 40 of its U.S. subsidiaries, filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy
Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. On August 7, 2007, the Company entered into a comprehensive settlement
agreement with Dana (the “Settlement Agreement”) to resolve all outstanding disputes between the parties, terminate previously approved arbitration
payments and replace three existing supply agreements with a single, revised contract running through 2014. In addition, Dana provided the Company
with an allowed general unsecured non-priority claim in the face amount of $89,900,000 (the “Claim”).
 

The Claim provided to the Company was agreed to by the Company and Dana as consideration for the aggregate economic impact of the various
elements the two parties were negotiating. After the aggregate Claim value of $89,900,000 was established, the Company recorded the claim at the
estimated fair value of $76,483,000. The revenues and resulting net income associated with the Company’s continued involvement were deferred and
were recognized over the remaining period of the Company’s supply agreement with Dana, through December 31, 2014. For the year ended December
31, 2014, the Company recognized revenue of $8,657,000 and related to the Claim. The Claim was fully amortized as of December 31, 2014.
 
(6) Accounts Receivable
 

Accounts receivable consists of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Commercial  $ 11,882  $ 47,228 
U.S. Government   1,454   727 
   13,336   47,955 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   (942)   (289)
  $ 12,394  $ 47,666 

 

(7) Inventory
 

Inventory consists of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Raw materials  $ 12,388  $ 16,687 
Work in process   10,366   11,702 
Finished goods   3,167   6,991 
Reserve for excess and obsolete inventory   (5,729)   (6,349)
  $ 20,192  $ 29,031 
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(8) Other Current Assets
 

Other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Prepaid expenses  $ 1,047  $ 1,499 
Other   3,412   4,167 
  $ 4,459  $ 5,666 

 
Included in other current assets are income taxes refundable, deferred software development costs and other items, none of which exceed 5% of

total current assets.
 

(9) Assets Held for Sale
 

On October 30, 2015, the Company entered into a non-binding letter of intent to sell and lease-back its property and buildings in Toluca,
Mexico (the “Toluca Sale-Leaseback”), which is part of Sypris Technologies. As such, the Company concluded that the assets qualified for Assets Held
for Sale accounting in accordance with ASC 205 as of December 31, 2015. The purchase price was $215,000,000 Mexican Pesos, or approximately,
$12,100,000 in U.S. currency, and the closing occurred on March 9, 2016. The Company deposited $6,000,000 of the proceeds from the sale-leaseback
into a Cash Collateral Account, to be held for up to one year as additional collateral for the Term Loan (see Note 16 “Debt” for further discussion on the
Term Loan). The assets had a net book value of $3,230,000 as of December 31, 2015.
 

The following assets have been segregated and included in assets held for sale in the consolidated balance sheets (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2015  
Land and land improvements  $ 1,568 
Buildings and building improvements   3,658 
Accumulated depreciation   (1,996)
Property, plant and equipment, net  $ 3,230 

 
(10) Property, Plant and Equipment
 

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Land and land improvements  $ 219  $ 2,770 
Buildings and building improvements   18,305   26,055 
Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures   123,935   158,816 
Construction in progress   759   2,100 
   143,218   189,741 
Accumulated depreciation   (121,040)   (152,087)
  $ 22,178  $ 37,654 

 
Depreciation expense totaled approximately $6,945,000 and $10,409,000 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. In

addition, there were capital expenditures of approximately $24,000 and $52,000 included in accounts payable or accrued liabilities at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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(11) Other Assets
 

Other assets consist of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Deferred tax assets, net  $ 0  $ 1,575 
Unamortized loan costs   2,413   109 
Other   1,897   977 
  $ 4,310  $ 2,661 

 
Deferred tax assets, net as of December 31, 2014 relate to the Company’s Mexico operations.

 
(12) Accrued Liabilities
 

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Salaries, wages, employment taxes and withholdings  $ 2,226  $ 2,758 
Employee benefit plans   1,312   1,437 
Accrued professional fees   3,670   2,664 
Income, property and other taxes   301   2,439 
Deferred revenue   1,208   6,120 
Other   2,944   3,357 
  $ 11,661  $ 18,775 

 
Included in other accrued liabilities are accrued operating expenses, accrued warranty expenses, accrued interest, and other items, none of which

exceed 5% of total current liabilities.
 

(13) Other Liabilities
 

Other liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Noncurrent pension liability  $ 5,832  $ 7,400 
Other   250   591 
  $ 6,082  $ 7,991 

 
Included in other liabilities are accrued long-term warranty expenses and other items, none of which exceed 5% of total liabilities.
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(14) Debt
 

Long-term obligations consists of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Revolving credit facility  $ 0  $ 17,000 
New Credit Facility   2,132   0 
Term Loan   11,714   0 
Note payable – related party   5,500   0 
   19,346   17,000 
Less current portion   3,846   17,000 
  $ 15,500  $ 0 

 
Revolving Credit Facility
 

On October 30, 2015, all outstanding principal and interest obligations outstanding under the Company’s Revolving Credit and Security
Agreement, dated May 12, 2011 with PNC (the "Loan Agreement" or the “Credit Facility”) were repaid in full in conjunction with the Company’s new
financing agreements. The Credit Facility was replaced by the new financing agreements.
 
Note Payable – Related Party
 

During 2015, the Company has received the proceeds of subordinated indebtedness from GFCM in an amount of $5,500,000. GFCM is an entity
controlled by our president and chief executive officer, Jeffrey T. Gill and one of our directors, R. Scott Gill. GFCM, Jeffrey T. Gill and R. Scott Gill are
significant beneficial stockholders of the Company. The promissory note bears interest at a rate of 8.00% per year. All principal and interest on the
promissory note, as amended, will be due and payable on January 30, 2019.
 

On February 26, 2016, the Company further amended the GFCM note to increase the amount by $1,000,000 to $6,500,000.
 
Note Payable – Meritor
 

On July 2, 2015, the Company entered into a secured promissory note (the “Meritor Note”) in the principal amount of $3,047,000, with Meritor,
in exchange for the release of certain outstanding net trade payables owed to Meritor for ongoing purchases of raw materials and the guarantee of certain
inventory values related to Meritor’s business as collateral under the Credit Facility. The Meritor Note was secured by substantially all of the collateral
for the Credit Facility, was senior to the promissory note previously issued to GFCM and was subordinate to the rights under the Credit Facility. The
Meritor Note bore interest at a rate of 10.0% per year and all principal and interest on the Meritor Note was due and payable on the maturity date.
 

On July 9, 2015, the Company entered an asset purchase agreement to sell certain assets and related liabilities used in the Company’s
manufacturing facility in Morganton, North Carolina, to Meritor for $12,500,000. Meritor also agreed to purchase the Morganton plan facility and real
estate for $3,200,000. At closing, the parties also entered into a Meritor Note Amendment, whereby the Company issued an additional secured obligation
to Meritor of $412,000 on July 9, 2015 for the release of certain outstanding net trade payables and other accrued liabilities and further agreed to increase
the Meritor Note by an additional $321,000 in September to reflect certain potential roof repairs required at the Morganton facility.
 

On October 30, 2015, the Meritor Note and interest were repaid in full in conjunction with the Company’s new financing agreements.
 
New Credit Facility and Term Loan
 

On October 30, 2015, the Company secured debt financing consisting of a $12,000,000 term loan (“Term Loan”) and a $15,000,000 revolving
credit facility (“New Credit Facility”). Proceeds from the two new financing arrangements (collectively the “New Loan Agreements”) were used in part to
repay the Credit Facility and the Meritor Note. Borrowing availability under the New Credit Facility is determined by a weekly borrowing base collateral
calculation that includes specified percentages of the value of eligible accounts receivable and inventory, less certain reserves and subject to certain other
adjustments. Borrowing availability under the Term Loan is also evaluated using a separate borrowing base collateral calculation that includes
designated percentages of real estate, machinery and equipment appraisals, in each case less certain reserves and subject to certain other adjustments. If
the appraised values of such collateral causes the Term Loan borrowing base to fall below the then current Term Loan balance, the Company is required
to make a partial prepayment of such difference and related fees.
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Based on the above mentioned calculation, at December 31, 2015, the Company had actual total borrowing base availability under the New

Credit Facility of $8,369,000 of which it had drawn $2,132,000, leaving $6,237,000 still available for borrowing, $4,000,000 of which was reserved for
compliance with the minimum excess availability provisions of the New Credit Facility. Along with an unrestricted cash balance of $1,349,000, the
Company had total cash and available borrowing capacity of $3,586,000 as of December 31, 2015. Approximately $1,183,000 of this unrestricted cash
balance related to the Company’s Mexican subsidiaries.
 

Obligations under the New Loan Agreements are guaranteed by all of our U.S. subsidiaries and are secured by a first priority lien on substantially
all assets of the Company.
 

On February 25, 2016, the Company entered into an amendment (the “Term Loan Amendment”) to the Term Loan and an amendment (the “New
Credit Amendment”) to the New Credit Facility (together, the “Amendments”). The Amendments will have the effect, among other things, of increasing
the Company’s borrowing capability under its New Credit Facility and providing for an agreement on use of proceeds from the sale of its Toluca, Mexico
property and buildings, as described below.
 

As a result of the Term Loan Amendment, the Company deposited $6,000,000 of the proceeds of the sale-leaseback of its Toluca, Mexico
property and buildings (the “Toluca Sale-Leaseback”) into a Cash Collateral Account, to be held for up to one year as additional collateral for the Term
Loan. Amounts deposited in the Cash Collateral Account that are used to prepay the principal of the Term Loan must be accompanied by the payment of
a make-whole amount by the Company equal to the present value of any unpaid interest that would have been paid on the prepaid portion of the Term
Loan through the one year anniversary of the Term Loan Amendment. The Term Loan Amendment further provides that the Company will be permitted to
retain the remaining balance of the proceeds from Toluca Sale-Leaseback, and increases the interest rate of the Term Loan by 1.0%.
 

In addition, under the Term Loan Amendment and New Credit Facility Amendment, the Company’s minimum excess availability provision was
reduced from $4,000,000 to $3,000,000. The lender further agreed to remove certain reserves which had been established against the Company’s
“borrowing base.” These changes are estimated to provide the Company with $1,655,000 in additional borrowing capacity under the New Credit Facility.
 

The Company’s obligations under each of the New Credit Facility and the Term Loan, as amended, continue to be guaranteed by the Company’s
U.S. subsidiaries and are secured by a first priority lien on substantially all assets of the Company and the guarantors.
 

The New Loan Agreements, as amended, contain a number of customary representations and warranties, affirmative, negative and financial
maintenance covenants, events of default and remedies upon default, including acceleration and rights to foreclose on the collateral securing each lender.
If the Company’s borrowing availability under the amended New Credit Facility falls below $3,000,000, the Company must maintain a fixed charge
coverage ratio of at least 1 to 1, as measured on a trailing twelve months’ basis.
 

Non-compliance with the Company’s debt covenants would provide the debt holders with certain contractual rights, including the right to
demand immediate repayment of all outstanding borrowings.  Since the loss of the Dana business (see Note 2 “Management’s Recovery Plans”), the
Company has also experienced negative cash flows from consolidated operations which could hamper or materially increase the costs of the Company’s
ability to comply with such covenants.  The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the ongoing realization of assets,
satisfaction of liabilities and continuity of operations as a going concern in the ordinary course of business, but there can be no assurances that the
Company’s current initiatives, forecasts and plans will ultimately succeed, which could materially and adversely impair the Company’s ability to operate,
its cash flows, financial condition and ongoing results.
 

The classification of debt as of December 31, 2015 considers the debt refinanced on a long-term basis. However, the New Credit Facility allows
the lender to establish certain reserves against the borrowing base which could, under certain circumstances, cause a potential event of default. Because
such an event is not objectively measureable in advance and because the Company is required to maintain a lock-box arrangement, ASC 470-10-45
requires the otherwise long-term revolving advances to be classified as a current liability. As a result, all borrowings under the revolving advances have
been classified in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as a current liability.
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The weighted average interest rate for outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2015 was 10.5%. The weighted average interest rates for

borrowings during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 were 7.2% and 2.5%, respectively. The Company had no capitalized interest in 2015 or
2014. Interest paid during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 totaled approximately $1,436,000 and $397,000, respectively.
 

Based on the current forecast for 2016, the Company expects to be able to maintain the minimum required level of borrowing availability of its
amended New Loan Agreements. Although the Company believes the assumptions underlying its current forecast are realistic, the Company has
considered the possibility of even lower revenues and other risk factors such as its ability to onboard new business within Sypris Technologies, continued
delays in program bookings within Sypris Electronics, or its ability to execute its current contingency plans.
 
(15) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 

Cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are reflected in the consolidated financial statements at their carrying
amount which approximates fair value because of the short-term maturity of those instruments. The carrying amount of debt outstanding at
December 31, 2015 under the New Credit Facility and Term Loan approximates fair value, and is based upon a market approach (Level 2).
 
(16) Employee Benefit Plans
 

Sypris Technologies sponsors noncontributory defined benefit pension plans (the “Pension Plans”) covering certain of its employees. The
Pension Plans covering salaried and management employees provide pension benefits that are based on the employees’ highest five-year average
compensation within ten years before retirement. The Pension Plans covering hourly employees and union members generally provide benefits at stated
amounts for each year of service. All of the Company’s pension plans are frozen to new participants and certain plans are frozen to additional benefit
accruals. The Company’s funding policy is to make the minimum annual contributions required by the applicable regulations. The Pension Plans’ assets
are primarily invested in equity securities and fixed income securities.
 

The following table details the components of pension (income) expense (in thousands):
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Service cost  $ 14  $ 13 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation   1,691   1,789 
Net amortization of actuarial loss   694   531 
Expected return on plan assets   (2,245)   (2,390)
  $ 154  $ (57)

 
The following are summaries of the changes in the benefit obligations and plan assets and of the funded status of the Pension Plans (in

thousands):                    
 

  December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Change in benefit obligation:         
Benefit obligation at beginning of year  $ 45,438  $ 40,526 
Service cost   14   13 
Interest cost   1,691   1,789 
Actuarial (gain) loss   (3,115)   6,231 
Benefits paid   (3,070)   (3,121)
Benefit obligation at end of year  $ 40,958  $ 45,438 
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  December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Change in plan assets:           

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  $  38,038    $ 36,566 
Actual return on plan assets    (157)     3,503 
Company contributions    315     1,090 
Benefits paid    (3,070)     (3,121)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year  $  35,126    $ 38,038 
           

Underfunded status of the plans  $  (5,832)    $ (7,400)
           
Balance sheet assets (liabilities):           

Other assets  $  0    $ 0 
Other liabilities    (5,832)     (7,400)
Net amount recognized  $  (5,832)    $ (7,400)

           
Pension plans with accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:           

Projected benefit obligation  $  40,958    $ 45,438 
Accumulated benefit obligation    40,953     45,428 
Fair value of plan assets    35,126     38,038 

           
Projected benefit obligation and net periodic pension cost assumptions:           

Discount rate    4.35%     3.90%
Rate of compensation increase    4.00     4.00 
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets   5.75 – 6.75    6.75 

           
Weighted average asset allocation:           

Equity securities    30%     32%
Debt securities    70%     68 
Total    100%     100%

 
The fair values of our pension plan assets as of December 31, 2015 are as follows (in thousands):

 
  

Quoted Prices
In Active
Markets
(Level 1)

  Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

 

Asset categories:         
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,001  $ 0 
Equity investments:         

U.S. Large Cap   7,065   0 
U.S. Mid Cap   1,012   0 
U.S. Small Cap   496   0 
World Equity   1,458   0 
Real estate   306   0 
Other   103   0 

Fixed income securities   8,511   15,174 
Total Plan Assets  $ 19,952  $ 15,174 
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The fair values of our pension plan assets as of December 31, 2014 are as follows (in thousands):

 
  

Quoted Prices
In Active
Markets
(Level 1)

  Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

 

Asset categories:         
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,270  $ 0 
Equity investments:         

U.S. Large Cap   8,105   0 
U.S. Mid Cap   1,245   0 
U.S. Small Cap   504   0 
World Equity   1,596   0 
Real estate   292   0 
Other   266   0 

Fixed income securities   11,710   13,050 
Total Plan Assets  $ 24,988  $ 13,050 

 
Investments in our defined benefit plans are stated at fair value. The following valuation methods were used to value our pension assets:

 
Equity securities The fair value of equity securities is determined by either direct or indirect quoted market

prices. When the value of assets held in separate accounts is not published, the value is
based on the underlying holdings, which are primarily direct quoted market prices on
regulated financial exchanges.

  
Fixed income securities The fair value of fixed income securities is determined by either direct or indirect quoted

market prices. When the value of assets held in separate accounts is not published, the value
is based on the underlying holdings, which are primarily direct quoted market prices on
regulated financial exchanges.

  
Cash and cash equivalents The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is set equal to its cost.
 

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair
values. Furthermore, while the Company believes the valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different
methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the
reporting date.
 

The Company uses December 31 as the measurement date for the Pension Plans. There are no amounts expected to be paid to the plans during
2016 as designated under the minimum funding amounts required by federal law. The expected long-term rates of return on plan assets for determining
net periodic pension cost for 2015 and 2014 were chosen by the Company from a best estimate range determined by applying anticipated long-term
returns and long-term volatility for various assets categories to the target asset allocation of the plan. The target asset allocation of plan assets is equity
securities ranging 0-55%, fixed income securities ranging 35-100% and non-traditional/other of 0-10% of total investments.
 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2015 includes $16,206,000 of unrecognized actuarial losses that have not yet been
recognized in net periodic pension cost. The actuarial loss included in accumulated other comprehensive loss and expected to be recognized in net
periodic pension cost during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 is $697,000. The actual loss reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
loss for 2015 and 2014 was $694,000 and $531,000, respectively.
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At December 31, 2015, the benefits expected to be paid in each of the next five fiscal years, and in aggregate for the five fiscal years thereafter

are as follows (in thousands):
 

 2016  $ 3,140 
 2017   3,112 
 2018   3,076 
 2019   3,028 
 2020   2,962 
2021 - 2025   13,970 
    $ 29,288 
 
The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan (the “Defined Contribution Plan”) for substantially all domestic employees of the Company.

The Defined Contribution Plan is intended to meet the requirements of Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Defined Contribution Plan
allows the Company to match participant contributions up to 3% and provide discretionary contributions. Contributions to the Defined Contribution
Plan by the Company in 2015 and 2014 totaled approximately $930,000 and $1,137,000, respectively.
 

The Company has self-insured medical plans (the “Medical Plans”) covering substantially all domestic employees. The number of employees
participating in the Medical Plans was approximately 423 and 670 at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The Medical Plans limit the Company’s
annual obligations to fund claims to specified amounts per participant. The Company is insured for amounts in excess of these limits. Employees are
responsible for payment of a portion of the premiums. During 2015 and 2014, the Company charged approximately $4,058,000 and $4,967,000,
respectively, to operations related to medical claims incurred and estimated, reinsurance premiums, and administrative costs for the Medical Plans.
 

In addition, certain of the Company’s non-U.S. employees are covered by various defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The
Company’s expenses for these plans totaled approximately $30,000 and $26,000 in 2015 and 2014, respectively. The aggregate benefit plan assets and
accumulated benefit obligation of these plans are not significant.
 
(17) Commitments and Contingencies
 

The Company leases certain of its real property and certain equipment, vehicles and computer hardware under operating leases with terms
ranging from month-to-month to ten years and which contain various renewal and rent escalation clauses. Future minimum annual lease commitments
under operating leases that have initial or remaining noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year as of December 31, 2015 are as follows (in
thousands):
 

2016  $ 2,126 
2017   523 
2018   466 
2019   371 
2020   319 
2021 and thereafter   722 
  $ 4,527 
 
Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 totaled approximately $2,700,000 and $2,849,000, respectively.

 
As of December 31, 2015, the Company had outstanding purchase commitments of approximately $6,168,000 primarily for the acquisition of

inventory.
 

The Company bears insurance risk as a member of a group captive insurance entity for certain general liability, automobile and workers’
compensation insurance programs, a self-insured worker’s compensation program and a self-insured employee health program. The Company records
estimated liabilities for its insurance programs based on information provided by the third-party plan administrators, historical claims experience,
expected costs of claims incurred but not paid, and expected costs to settle unpaid claims. The Company monitors its estimated insurance-related
liabilities on a quarterly basis. As facts change, it may become necessary to make adjustments that could be material to the Company’s consolidated
results of operations and financial condition.
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The Company is involved in certain litigation and contract issues arising in the normal course of business. While the outcome of these matters

cannot, at this time, be predicted in light of the uncertainties inherent therein, management does not expect that these matters will have a material adverse
effect on the consolidated financial position or results of operations of the Company.
 

The Company accounts for loss contingencies in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  Estimated loss
contingencies are accrued only if the loss is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.  With respect to a particular loss
contingency, it may be probable that a loss has occurred but the estimate of the loss is within a wide range or undeterminable.  If the Company deems an
amount within the range to be a better estimate than any other amount within the range, that amount will be accrued.  However, if no amount within the
range is a better estimate than any other amount, the minimum amount of the range is accrued.
 

During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company gave notification regarding its intention to not renew the lease for its Tampa, FL facility, which
will expire on December 31, 2016. However, subsequent to year end, the Company entered into lease negotiations which would extend the current lease
for a smaller portion of the facility on more favorable terms. However, there can be no assurance that an agreement will be reached. As such, it is
reasonably possible that the Company may be required to make certain repairs to the facility upon exit, which may be significant. While the Company
believes that a potential loss contingency may exist, it cannot currently estimate the amount of the contingency.
 

The Company has various current and previously-owned facilities subject to a variety of environmental regulations. The Company has received
certain indemnifications from either companies previously owning these facilities or from purchasers of those facilities. As of December 31, 2015 and
2014, no amounts were accrued for any environmental matters. See “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

Subsequent to year end, the Company entered into a sale lease-back agreement with Promotora y Desarrolladora Pulso Inmobiliario, S.C.
(“Pulso”) whereby it sold the entire facility and leased back the portion of the facility currently occupied by the Company in Toluca, Mexico, for our
continued use as a manufacturing facility for ten years commencing upon the execution of the lease and terminating on March 9, 2026. The Company’s
base rent, which is denominated in U.S. currency, is $936,000 annually, adjusted based on U.S. CPI with certain cap conditions.
 

(18) Stock Option and Purchase Plans
 

The Company’s stock compensation program provides for the grant of restricted stock (including performance-based restricted stock),
unrestricted stock, stock options and stock appreciation rights. A total of 3,655,088 shares of common stock were registered for issuance under the 2010
Omnibus Plan. On May 19, 2015, the 2010 Sypris Omnibus Plan was replaced with the 2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan. A total of 3,476,021 shares were
registered for issuance under the 2015 Omnibus Plan. Additionally, awards under the 2010 Omnibus Plan that are cancelled without having been fully
exercised or vested are available again for new awards under the 2015 Omnibus Plan. The aggregate number of shares available for future grant as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014 was 3,476,021 and 1,052,021, respectively.
 

The 2010 Omnibus Plan provides for restrictions which lapse after three years. During the restricted period, which is commensurate with each
vesting period, the recipient has the right to receive dividends and voting rights for the shares. Generally, if a recipient leaves the Company before the
end of the restricted period or if performance requirements, if any, are not met, the shares will be forfeited. During 2015, the Company modified the
restriction on certain restricted stock grants to increase the restriction period by one year. The modification did not have a material effect on the financial
statements.
 

The Company has certain stock compensation plans under which options to purchase common stock may be granted to officers, key employees
and non-employee directors. Options may be granted at not less than the market price on the date of grant. Stock option grants under the 2010 Omnibus
Plan include a five year life along with vesting after three years of service.
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Compensation expense is measured based on the fair value at the date of grant and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

Fair value for restricted shares is equal to the stock price on the date of grant, while the fair value of each stock option grant is estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing method. The Company uses historical Company and industry data to estimate the expected price volatility,
the expected option life, the expected forfeiture rate and the expected dividend yield. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect
at the time of grant for the estimated life of the option.
 

The following weighted average assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of options granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model:
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Expected life (years)   4.0   4.0 
Expected volatility   50.2%  53.3%
Risk-free interest rates   1.32%  1.73%
Expected dividend yield   0.0%  2.67%

 
A summary of the restricted stock activity is as follows:

 
      Weighted  

      Average  
  Number of   Grant Date  
  Shares   Fair Value  

Nonvested shares at January 1, 2015   888,901  $ 3.60 
Granted   287,500   2.05 
Vested   (86,701)   3.60 
Forfeited   (15,000)   2.75 

Nonvested shares at December 31, 2015   1,074,700  $ 3.19 
 

The total fair value of shares vested during 2015 and 2014 was $230,000 and $773,000, respectively. In conjunction with the vesting of
restricted shares and payment of taxes thereon, the Company received into treasury 28,999 and 98,251 restricted shares, respectively, at an average price
of $2.65 and $2.81 per share, respectively, the closing market price on the date the restricted stock vested. Such repurchased shares were immediately
cancelled.
 

The following table summarizes option activity for the year ended December 31, 2015:
 

  

Number of
Shares   

Weighted-
average

Exercise Price
Per Share   

Weighted-
average

Remaining
Term   

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

 

Outstanding at January 1, 2015   1,056,000  $ 3.72         
Granted   260,500   2.05         
Exercised   0   0         
Forfeited   (62,000)   3.09         
Expired   (32,500)   4.27         

Outstanding at December 31, 2015   1,222,000  $ 3.38   2.33  $ 0 
Exercisable at December 31, 2015   473,500  $ 4.09   0.79  $ 0 

           
The weighted average grant date fair value based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model for options granted in the years ended

December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $0.82 and $0.99 per share, respectively. There were no options exercised in 2015 and 201,589 options exercised in
2014. The total intrinsic value of options exercised was $417,000 during the year ended December 31, 2014.
 

As of December 31, 2015, there was $1,037,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost, after estimated forfeitures, related to unvested share-
based compensation granted under the plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.9 years. The total fair value of
option shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was not material.
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(19) Stockholders’ Equity
 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, 24,850 shares of the Company’s preferred stock were designated as Series A Preferred Stock in accordance
with the terms of our stockholder rights plan, which expired in October 2011. There are no shares of Series A Preferred Stock currently outstanding, and
there are no current plans to issue any such shares. Any future holders of Series A Preferred Stock, as currently designated, would have voting rights, be
entitled to receive dividends based on a defined formula and have certain rights in the event of the Company’s dissolution. Any such shares of Series A
Preferred Stock would not be redeemable. However, the Company would be entitled to purchase shares of Series A Preferred Stock in the open market or
pursuant to an offer to a holder or holders.
 

The holders of our common stock were not entitled to any payment as a result of the expiration of the rights plan and the rights issued
thereunder.
 

The Company’s accumulated other comprehensive loss consists of employee benefit related adjustments and foreign currency translation
adjustments.
 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Foreign currency translation adjustments  $ (9,554)  $ (7,265)
Employee benefit related adjustments – U.S, net of tax.   (16,177)   (17,584)
Employee benefit related adjustments – Mexico, net of tax   (29)   (186)
         
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  $ (25,760)  $ (25,035)

 
(20) Income Taxes
 

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method. Accordingly, deferred income taxes have been provided for temporary
differences between the recognition of revenue and expenses for financial and income tax reporting purposes and between the tax basis of assets and
liabilities and their reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
 

The components of income (loss) before taxes are as follows (in thousands):
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Domestic  $ (18,625)  $ (11,924)
Foreign   (6,599)   15,309 
  $ (25,224)  $ 3,385 
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The components of income tax expense are as follows (in thousands):

 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Current:         

Federal  $ 0  $ 0 
State   31   102 
Foreign   (269)   3,417 

Total current income tax expense   (238)   3,519 
         
Deferred:         

Federal   0   0 
State   0   0 
Foreign   2,230   1,050 

Total deferred income tax expense   2,230   1,050 
  $ 1,992  $ 4,569 

 
The Company files a consolidated federal income tax return which includes all domestic subsidiaries. State income taxes paid in the U.S. during

2015 and 2014 totaled $120,000 and $33,000, respectively. State income tax refunds received in the U.S. during 2015 totaled $30,000. Foreign income
taxes paid during 2015 and 2014 totaled $2,195,000 and $1,063,000, respectively. There were no foreign refunds received in 2015 and 2014. There were
no federal taxes paid in 2015 and 2014, and there were no federal refunds received in 2015 and 2014. At December 31, 2015, the Company had
$132,040,000 of federal net operating loss carryforwards available to offset future federal taxable income, which will expire in various amounts from
2024 to 2035.
 

At December 31, 2015, the Company had $137,645,000 of state net operating loss carryforwards available to offset future state taxable income,
the majority of which relates to Florida and Kentucky. These carryforwards expire in various amounts from 2018 to 2035.

 
The following is a reconciliation of income tax (benefit) expense to that computed by applying the federal statutory rate to (loss) income before

income taxes (in thousands):
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Federal tax expense at the statutory rate  $ (8,829)  $ 1,185 
Current year permanent differences   254   61 
State income taxes, net of federal tax impact   (613)   (772)
Foreign repatriation, net of foreign tax credits   (3,394)   4,077 
Effect of tax rates of foreign subsidiaries   323   (733)
Currency translation effect on temporary differences   (217)   (71)
Change in valuation allowance   11,453   297 
Prior year adjustment   3,015   531 
Other   0   (6)
  $ 1,992  $ 4,569 

 
ASC 740, Income Taxes, requires that a valuation allowance be established when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax

asset will not be realized. The net cumulative domestic loss for the current and prior two years represents negative evidence under the provisions of ASC
740 requiring the Company to establish a valuation allowance against domestic deferred tax assets. Until an appropriate level and characterization of
profitability is attained, the Company expects to continue to maintain a valuation allowance on its net deferred tax assets related to future U.S. and
certain non-U.S. tax benefits.
 

The gross deferred tax asset for the Company’s Mexican subsidiaries was $4,033,000 and $2,556,000 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. The net deferred tax asset balance of $2,556,000 at December 31, 2014 is attributable to the Mexican subsidiaries.
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As a result of the increased uncertainty surrounding the Company’s forecast of taxable income in Mexico, it was determined that the Company

no longer met the “more likely than not” threshold required under ASC 740-10 in order to maintain the Mexico deferred tax asset. Accordingly, the
Company recorded a valuation allowance on its net deferred tax asset related to certain non-U.S. tax benefits, resulting in deferred tax expense of
$2,230,000 during year ended December 31, 2015. Until an appropriate level and characterization of profitability is attained, the Company expects to
continue to maintain a valuation allowance on its net deferred tax assets related to future U.S. and non-U.S. tax benefits.
 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Deferred tax assets:         

Compensation and benefit accruals  $ 1,987  $ 1,665 
Inventory valuation   2,840   3,124 
Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards   51,460   46,835 
Deferred revenue   533   2,573 
Accounts receivable allowance   42   113 
Defined benefit pension plan   1,766   2,304 
Foreign deferred revenue and other provisions   4,033   2,556 
AMT credits   185   185 
Other   1,526   974 

   64,372   60,329 
Domestic valuation allowance   (58,682)   (51,914)
Foreign valuation allowance   (4,033)   0 

Total deferred tax assets   1,657   8,415 
         
Deferred tax liabilities:         

Foreign subsidiaries – unrepatriated earnings   (379)   (3,773)
Depreciation   (1,278)   (2,086)

Total deferred tax liabilities   (1,657)   (5,859)
         
Net deferred tax asset  $ 0  $ 2,556 

 
The ASC Income Tax topic includes guidance for the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financials.

Specifically, the guidance prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax
position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return and also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in
interim periods, disclosure, and transition. The total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $200,000. There
were no changes to the unrecognized tax benefit balance during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
 

If the Company’s positions are sustained by the taxing authority in favor of the Company, the entire balance at December 31, 2015 would reduce
the Company’s effective tax rate. The Company does not expect its unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly over the next 12 months. The
Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the
Company does not have an accrual for the payment of tax-related interest and penalties.
 

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various state and foreign jurisdictions. The Internal Revenue Service
(IRS) is not currently examining the Company’s U.S. income tax returns for 2011 through 2014, for which the statute has yet to expire. In addition, open
tax years related to state and foreign jurisdictions remain subject to examination.
 

As of December 31, 2015, the Company has no undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are classified as permanently reinvested. The
Company did not repatriate any funds to the U.S during 2015 and expects the repatriation of any available non-U.S. cash holdings during 2016 will be
limited to the amount of undistributed earnings as of December 31, 2015.  The loss recognized by the Company’s Mexican operations during 2015
reduced the undistributed earnings of that entity and the Company has therefore recognized a deferred income tax benefit equal to the reduction in the
U.S deferred tax liability and a corresponding increase in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance.
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(21) Loss Per Common Share
 

The Company computes earnings per share using the two-class method, which is an earnings allocation formula that determines earnings per
share for common stock and participating securities. Restricted stock granted by the Company is considered a participating security since it contains a
non-forfeitable right to dividends.
 

Our potentially dilutive securities include potential common shares related to our stock options and restricted stock. Diluted earnings per share
considers the impact of potentially dilutive securities except in periods in which there is a loss because the inclusion of the potential common shares
would have an anti-dilutive effect. Diluted earnings per share excludes the impact of common shares related to our stock options in periods in which the
option exercise price is greater than the average market price of our common stock for the period. All potential common shares were excluded from
diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 because the effect of inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
 

A reconciliation of the weighted average shares outstanding used in the calculation of basic and diluted loss per common share is as follows (in
thousands):
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Loss attributable to stockholders:         
Net loss as reported  $ (27,216)  $ (1,184)

Less dividends declared attributable to restricted award holders   0   (53)
Net loss allocable to common stockholders  $ (27,216)  $ (1,237)
         
Loss per common share attributable to stockholders:         

Basic  $ (1.38)  $ (0.06)
         

Diluted  $ (1.38)  $ (0.06)
         

Weighted average shares outstanding – basic   19,688   19,586 
Weighted average additional shares assuming conversion of potential common shares   0   0 
Weighted average shares outstanding – diluted   19,688   19,586 

 
(22) Segment Information
 

The Company is organized into two business segments, Sypris Technologies and Sypris Electronics. The segments are each managed separately
because of the distinctions between the products, services, markets, customers, technologies, and workforce skills of the segments. Sypris Technologies
provides manufacturing services for a variety of customers that outsource forged and finished steel components and subassemblies. Sypris Technologies
also manufactures high-pressure closures and other fabricated products. Sypris Electronics provides manufacturing and technical services as an
outsourced service provider and manufactures complex data storage systems. Revenue derived from outsourced services for Sypris Technologies
accounted for 61% and 85% of total net revenue in 2015 and 2014, respectively. Revenue derived from outsourced services for Sypris Electronics
accounted for 17% and 6% of total net revenue in 2015 and 2014, respectively. There was no intersegment net revenue recognized for any year presented.
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The following table presents financial information for the reportable segments of the Company (in thousands):

 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Net revenue from unaffiliated customers:         

Sypris Technologies  $ 108,134  $ 322,262 
Sypris Electronics   37,189   32,514 

  $ 145,323  $ 354,776 
Gross profit (loss):         

Sypris Technologies  $ (790)  $ 42,021 
Sypris Electronics   1,108   (3,191)

  $ 318  $ 38,830 
Operating (loss) income:         

Sypris Technologies  $ (13,661)  $ 25,160 
Sypris Electronics   (7,639)   (13,479)
General, corporate and other   (8,344)   (8,961)

  $ (29,644)  $ 2,720 
(Loss) income before income taxes:         

Sypris Technologies  $ (5,131)  $ 26,454 
Sypris Electronics   (7,639)   (13,476)
General, corporate and other   (12,454)   (9,593)

  $ (25,224)  $ 3,385 
Depreciation and amortization:         

Sypris Technologies  $ 5,927  $ 9,374 
Sypris Electronics   2,973   945 
General, corporate and other   135   90 

  $ 9,035  $ 10,409 
Capital expenditures:         

Sypris Technologies  $ 1,707  $ 3,725 
Sypris Electronics   416   811 
General, corporate and other   (298)   723 

  $ 1,825  $ 5,259 
 

  December 31,   
  2015   2014  
Total assets:         

Sypris Technologies  $ 38,968  $ 95,108 
Sypris Electronics   23,845   26,874 
General, corporate and other   5,299   7,699 

  $ 68,112  $ 129,681 
Total liabilities:         

Sypris Technologies  $ 20,283  $ 55,505 
Sypris Electronics   6,375   8,687 
General, corporate and other   21,742   18,601 

  $ 48,400  $ 82,793 
 

The Company’s export sales from the U.S. totaled $34,830,000 and $58,498,000 in 2015 and 2014, respectively. Approximately $8,889,000 and
$111,177,000 of net revenue in 2015 and 2014, respectively, and $5,807,000 and $13,033,000 of long lived assets at December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively, and net assets of $9,696,000 and $20,388,000 at December 31, 2015 and 2014 relate to the Company’s international operations.
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(23) Subsequent Events
 

On February 25, 2016, the Company entered into an amendment to the Term Loan and an amendment to the New Credit Facility. The
Amendments will have the effect, among other things, of increasing the Company’s borrowing capability under its New Credit Facility and providing for
an agreement on use of proceeds from the sale of its Toluca, Mexico property and buildings, as described below. As part of the Amendments, the
Company also received an additional $1,000,000 subordinated loan from GFCM, as described below.
 

As a result of the Term Loan Amendment, the Company deposited $6,000,000 of the proceeds of the Toluca Sale-Leaseback into a Cash
Collateral Account, to be held for up to one year as additional collateral for the Term Loan. The Term Loan Amendment further provides that the
Company will be permitted to retain the remaining balance of the proceeds from Toluca Sale-Leaseback, and increases the interest rate of the Term Loan
by 1.0%.
 

In addition, under the Amendments, the lenders agreed to reduce the Company’s minimum excess availability provision from $4,000,000 to
$3,000,000 to remove certain reserves which had been established against the Company’s “borrowing base.” These changes are estimated to provide the
Company with $1,655,000 in additional borrowing capacity under the amended New Credit Facility.
 

In connection with the Amendments, the Company has retained a financial advisor to review the Company’s existing business plan and make
recommendations in the form of a revised business plan. If the Company meets certain milestones as determined by the Term Loan lender after its review
of such plan, up to $1,000,000 may be released from the Cash Collateral Account to the Company. The Company’s obligations under each of the New
Credit Facility and the Term Loan, as amended, continue to be guaranteed by the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries and are secured by a first priority lien on
substantially all assets of the Company and the guarantors. Each of the Amendments contains certain customary representations, warranties and
covenants.
 

In connection with the Amendments, the Company received the proceeds of a $1,000,000 subordinated loan (the “Loan”) from GFCM. The
amendment increases the aggregate amount previously loaned by GFCM to the Company from $5,500,000 to $6,500,000. All principal and interest on
the Promissory Note will be due and payable at maturity on January 30, 2019. All other terms of the original Promissory Note remain in place.
 

On March 9, 2016, Sypris Technologies Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. (“Seller”), a subsidiary of the Company, concluded its sale of the Toluca
property pursuant to an agreement with Promotora y Desarrolladora Pulso Inmobiliario, S.C. (together with its affiliates and assignees, “Buyer”) for
215,000,000 Mexican Pesos, or approximately, $12,100,000 in U.S. currency. Simultaneously, the Seller and the Buyer entered a long-term lease of the 9
acres currently occupied by Seller and needed for its ongoing business in Toluca (collectively, the “Toluca Sale-Leaseback”).
 

In connection with the Term Loan Amendment noted above, the Company had agreed to deposit $6,000,000 of the proceeds of the Toluca Sale-
Leaseback into a Cash Collateral Account, to be held for one year as additional collateral for the Term Loan, and this deposit was made on March 9, 2016.
On March 9, 2016, the Term Loan lender also consented to the Toluca Sale-Leaseback and released all liens on the assets associated with that sale.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
 

None.
 
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the President and Chief
Executive Officer (the CEO) and the Chief Financial Officer (the CFO), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Based on that evaluation, the Company’s
management, including the CEO and CFO, concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period
covered by this report.
 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

The management of Sypris Solutions, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to Sypris management
and its Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published consolidated financial statements.
 

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective
can only provide reasonable assurance with respect to the accuracy of consolidated financial statement preparation and presentation.
 

Under the supervision and with participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we assessed
the effectiveness of Sypris Solutions, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015. In making our assessment, we used the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013). Based
on our assessment, we concluded that as of December 31, 2015, Sypris’ internal control over financial reporting is effective based on these criteria.
 

This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over
financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules
of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company (non-accelerated filer) to provide only management’s report in this annual report.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2015, that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 
Item 9B. Other Information
 

None.
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PART III
 
Item 10.     Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
 

The information required herein is incorporated by reference from sections of the Company’s Proxy Statement titled “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance,” “Governance of the Company –Committees of the Board of Directors,” “Governance of the Company – Audit and
Finance Committee,” “Proposal One, Election of Directors,” and “Executive Officers,” which Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission pursuant to instruction G(3) of the General Instructions to Form 10-K.
 

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to all of its directors, officers (including its chief executive officer, chief financial
officer, chief accounting officer and any person performing similar functions) and employees. The Company has made the Code of Conduct, and will
make any amendments and waivers thereto, available on its website at www.sypris.com.
 
Item 11.     Executive Compensation
 

The information required herein is incorporated by reference from sections of the Company’s Proxy Statement titled “2015 Director
Compensation,” “Governance of the Company,” “Summary Compensation Table,” and “Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End 2015,” which
Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to instruction G(3) of the General Instructions to Form 10-K.
 
Item 12.     Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
 

The information required herein is incorporated by reference from the section of the Company’s Proxy Statement titled “Stock Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management,” which Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to instruction
G(3) of the General Instructions to Form 10-K.
 
Equity Compensation Plan Information
 

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2015 with respect to shares of Sypris common stock that may be issued under our
equity compensation plans.
 

Plan Category  

Number of
Securities To be

Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding

Options
(a)   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price of

Outstanding
Options (b)   

Number of
Securities

Remaining
Available For

Future Issuance
Under Equity
Compensation

Plans (Excluding
Securities 

Reflected in
Column (a)) (c)  

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Stockholders   1,222,000(1) $ 2.33   3,476,021(2)
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Stockholders   —   —   — 
Total   1,222,000  $ 2.33   3,476,021 
                                              
(1) Consists of 1,222,000 outstanding options under the 2010 Omnibus Plan.
 
(2) Shares remaining available for issuance under the 2015 Omnibus Plan.
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Item 13.     Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
 

The information required herein is incorporated by reference from the sections of the Company’s Proxy Statement titled “Governance of the
Company – Transactions with Related Persons” and “Governance of the Company – Independence,” which Proxy Statement will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to instruction G(3) of the General Instructions to Form 10-K.
 
Item 14.     Principal Accounting Fees and Services
 

The information required herein is incorporated by reference from the section of the Company’s Proxy Statement titled “Relationship with
Independent Public Accountants,” which Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to instruction G(3) of the
General Instructions to Form 10-K.
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PART IV
 
Item 15.     Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
 
(a)     The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
 

1.     Financial Statements
 

The financial statements as set forth under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are included.
 

2.     Exhibits
 
Exhibit   
Number  Description
   

3.1  Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended June 30, 2004 filed on August 3, 2004 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed October 31, 2011

(Commission File No. 000-24020)).
   

4.1  Specimen common stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December
31, 1998 filed on March 5, 1999 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.1  Revolving Credit and Security Agreement between PNC Bank, National Association, Sypris Solutions, Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc., Sypris

Electronics, LLC, Sypris Data Systems, Inc., Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Kenton, Inc. and Sypris Technologies
Mexican Holdings, LLC dated as of May 12, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 9,
2011 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.1.1  Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Loan Documents between PNC Bank, National Association, Sypris Solutions, Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc.,

Sypris Electronics, LLC, Sypris Data Systems, Inc., Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Kenton, Inc., Sypris Technologies
Mexican Holdings, LLC, Sypris Technologies Northern, Inc., Sypris Technologies Southern, Inc. and Sypris Technologies International, Inc.
dated as of February 10, 2015 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on March, 31, 2015 (Commission
File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.1.2  Amendment No. 2 to Loan Documents between PNC Bank, National Association, Sypris Solutions, Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc., Sypris

Electronics, LLC, Sypris Data Systems, Inc., Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Kenton, Inc., Sypris Technologies
Mexican Holdings, LLC, Sypris Technologies Northern, Inc., Sypris Technologies Southern, Inc. and Sypris Technologies International, Inc.
dated as of March 12, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.2 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on March, 31, 2015 (Commission
File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.1.3  Amendment No. 3 to Loan Documents between PNC Bank, National Association, Sypris Solutions, Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc., Sypris

Electronics, LLC, Sypris Data Systems, Inc., Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Kenton, Inc., Sypris Technologies
Mexican Holdings, LLC, Sypris Technologies Northern, Inc., Sypris Technologies Southern, Inc. and Sypris Technologies International, Inc.
dated as of July 2, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 18, 2015 (Commission File
No. 000-24020)).

   
10.1.4  Amendment No. 4 to Loan Documents between PNC Bank, National Association, Sypris Solutions, Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc., Sypris

Electronics, LLC, Sypris Data Systems, Inc., Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Kenton, Inc., Sypris Technologies
Mexican Holdings, LLC, Sypris Technologies Northern, Inc., Sypris Technologies Southern, Inc. and Sypris Technologies International, Inc.
dated as of September 30, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 17, 2015
(Commission File No. 000-24020)).
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Exhibit   
Number  Description
   

10.2  Promissory Note between Gill Family Capital Management, Inc., Sypris Solutions, Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc., Sypris Electronics, LLC,
Sypris Data Systems, Inc., Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Kenton, Inc., Sypris Technologies Mexican Holdings, LLC,
Sypris Technologies Northern, Inc., Sypris Technologies Southern, Inc. and Sypris Technologies International, Inc. dated as of March 12 , 2015
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on March, 31, 2015 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.2.1  Amended Promissory Note between Gill Family Capital Management, Inc., Sypris Solutions, Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc., Sypris Electronics,

LLC, Sypris Data Systems, Inc., Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Kenton, Inc., Sypris Technologies Mexican Holdings,
LLC, Sypris Technologies Northern, Inc., Sypris Technologies Southern, Inc. and Sypris Technologies International, Inc. dated as of June 11,
2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 18, 2015 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.2.2  Amended and Restated Promissory Note between Gill Family Capital Management, Inc., Sypris Solutions, Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc.,

Sypris Electronics, LLC, Sypris Data Systems, Inc., Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Kenton, Inc., Sypris Technologies
Mexican Holdings, LLC, Sypris Technologies Northern, Inc., Sypris Technologies Southern, Inc. and Sypris Technologies International, Inc.
dated as of October 30, 2015.

   
10.2.3  Security Agreement between Sypris Solutions, Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc., Sypris Electronics, LLC, Sypris Data Systems, Inc., Sypris

Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Kenton, Inc., Sypris Technologies Mexican Holdings, LLC, Sypris Technologies Northern,
Inc., Sypris Technologies Southern, Inc. and Sypris Technologies International, Inc. and Gill Family Capital Management, Inc., dated as of
March 12, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on March, 31, 2015 (Commission File No.
000-24020)).

   
10.3  Promissory Note between Meritor Heavy Vehicle Systems, LLC, Sypris Solutions, Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc., Sypris Electronics, LLC,

Sypris Data Systems, Inc., Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Kenton, Inc., Sypris Technologies Mexican Holdings, LLC,
Sypris Technologies Northern, Inc., Sypris Technologies Southern, Inc. and Sypris Technologies International, Inc. dated as of July 2, 2015
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 18, 2015 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.3.1  Amended and Restated Promissory Note between Meritor Heavy Vehicle Systems, LLC, Sypris Solutions, Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc.,

Sypris Electronics, LLC, Sypris Data Systems, Inc., Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Kenton, Inc., Sypris Technologies
Mexican Holdings, LLC, Sypris Technologies Northern, Inc., Sypris Technologies Southern, Inc. and Sypris Technologies International, Inc.
dated as of September 30, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 17, 2015
(Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.3.2  Asset Purchase Agreement between Meritor Heavy Vehicle Systems, LLC and Sypris Solutions, Inc. dated as of July 9, 2015 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 18, 2015 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).
   

10.3.3  Access Agreement between Meritor Heavy Vehicle Systems, LLC, Gill Family Capital Management, Inc. and Sypris Technologies Kenton,
Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc. and Sypris Solutions, Inc. dated as of July 9, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4.1 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 18, 2015 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.3.4  Accommodation Agreement between Meritor Heavy Vehicle Systems, LLC, Gill Family Capital Management, Inc. and Sypris Technologies

Kenton, Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc. and Sypris Solutions, Inc. dated as of July 9, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4.2 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 18, 2015 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).
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Exhibit   
Number  Description
   

10.3.5  Amended Promissory Note between Meritor Heavy Vehicle Systems, LLC, Sypris Solutions, Inc., Sypris Technologies, Inc., Sypris Electronics,
LLC, Sypris Data Systems, Inc., Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Kenton, Inc., Sypris Technologies Mexican Holdings,
LLC, Sypris Technologies Northern, Inc., Sypris Technologies Southern, Inc. and Sypris Technologies International, Inc. dated as of July 9,
2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4.3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 18, 2015 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.4  Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated October 30, 2015 among Siena Lending Group, LLC and Sypris Solutions, Inc.,

Sypris Data Systems, Inc., Sypris Electronics, LLC, Sypris Technologies, Inc., Sypris Technologies International, Inc., Sypris Technologies
Kenton, Inc., Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Mexican Holdings, LLC, Sypris Technologies Northern, Inc., and Sypris
Technologies Southern, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on November 3, 2015 (Commission
File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.5  Loan and Security Agreement dated October 30, 2015 among Great Rock Capital Partners Management, LLC and Sypris Solutions, Inc., Sypris

Data Systems, Inc., Sypris Electronics, LLC, Sypris Technologies, Inc., Sypris Technologies International, Inc., Sypris Technologies Kenton,
Inc., Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, Sypris Technologies Mexican Holdings, LLC, Sypris Technologies Northern, Inc., and Sypris
Technologies Southern, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on November 3, 2015 (Commission
File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.6  Lease between John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company and Honeywell, Inc. dated April 27, 1979; related Notice of Assignment from

John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company to Sweetwell Industrial Associates, L.P., dated July 10, 1986; related Assignment and
Assumption of Lease between Honeywell, Inc. and Defense Communications Products Corporation (prior name of Group Technologies
Corporation) dated May 21, 1989; and related Amendment I to Lease Agreement between Sweetwell Industries Associates, L.P. and Group
Technologies Corporation dated October 25, 1991, regarding Tampa industrial park property (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed May 18, 1994 (Registration No. 33-76326)).

   
10.6.1  Agreement related to Fifth Renewal of Lease between Sweetwell Industries Associates, L.P. and Group Technologies Corporation dated

October 12, 2006, regarding Tampa industrial park property (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8.2 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 filed on March 14, 2007 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.6.2  Agreement related to Sixth Renewal of Lease between Sweetwell Industries Associates, L.P. and Group Technologies Corporation dated

August 13, 2008, regarding Tampa industrial park property (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended September 28, 2008 filed on November 5, 2008 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.7*  Sypris Solutions, Inc., Directors Compensation Program As Amended and Restated Effective February 24, 2004 and as amended December 15,

2004, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on December 21, 2004 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).
   

10.8*  Sypris Solutions, Inc. Directors Compensation Program adopted on September 1, 1995 Amended and Restated on December 17, 2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 filed on March 31, 2009
(Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.9*  Sypris Solutions, Inc., Directors Compensation Program adopted on September 1, 1995 Amended and Restated on January 21, 2016.

   
10.10*  Form of Discretionary Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement.

   
10.11*  2004 Sypris Equity Plan effective as of April 27, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the

quarterly period ended March 31, 2004 filed on April 30, 2004 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).
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Exhibit   
Number  Description
   

10.12*  2010 Sypris Omnibus Plan effective as of May 11, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-8 filed on May 19, 2010 (Commission File No. 333-166951)).

   
10.13*  2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan effective as of May 5, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on

Form S-8 filed on May 19, 2015 (Commission File No. 333-204299)).
   

10.14*  Form of Eighteen Month Restricted Stock Award Agreement.
   

10.15*  Form of Three Year Restricted Stock Award Agreement.
   

10.16*  Form of Four Year Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement.
   

10.17*  Form of Five Year Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement.
   

10.18*  Amended Executive Long-Term Incentive Program and Alternate Form of Executive Long-Term Incentive Award Agreements for Grants to
Executive Officers and Other Key Employees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 5,
2005 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.19*  Amended 2010 Executive Long-Term Incentive Program and Alternate Form of Executive Long-Term Incentive Award Agreements for Grants

to Executive Officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on May 18 , 2010 (Commission File No.
000-24020)).

   
10.20*  Executive Equity Repurchase Agreement dated December 20, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Form 10-K

filed on March 13, 2012 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).
   

10.21*  Form of Employment Agreement between Sypris Solutions, Inc. and participants in the Sypris Solutions, Inc. Executive Long-Term Incentive
Program for 2015 dated as of March 5, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on March 31 , 2015
(Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.22  Preliminary Settlement Agreement between Sypris Solutions, Inc., and Dana Corporation (Debtor in Possession) dated May 10, 2006

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on May 10, 2006 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).
   

10.23  Settlement Agreement with Dana Corporation signed on July 24, 2007 and effective as of August 7, 2007, replaces redacted copy of Settlement
Agreement with Dana Corporation signed on July 24, 2007 and effective as of August 7, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 7, 2008 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).

   
10.24  Redacted copy of Supply Agreement with Dana Corporation signed on July 24, 2007 and effective as of August 7, 2007 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 2, 2007 (Commission File No. 000-24020)).
   

21  Subsidiaries of the Company
   

23.1  Consent of Crowe Horwath LLP
   

31.1  CEO certification pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes - Oxley Act of 2002.
   

31.2  CFO certification pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes - Oxley Act of 2002.
   

32  CEO and CFO certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes - Oxley Act of 2002.
   
101.INS  XBRL Instance Document

   
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
   
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
   
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
   
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
   
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

 
* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 30, 2016.
 
 SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC.
 (Registrant)
  

/s/ Jeffrey T. Gill
 (Jeffrey T. Gill)
 President and Chief Executive Officer
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 30, 2016:
 
 

/s/ Robert E. Gill  Chairman of the Board
(Robert E. Gill)   

   
/s/ Jeffrey T. Gill  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Jeffrey T. Gill)   

   
/s/ Anthony C. Allen  Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Anthony C. Allen)  (Principal Financial Officer)

   
/s/ Rebecca R. Eckert  Controller
(Rebecca R. Eckert)  (Principal Accounting Officer)

   
/s/ John F. Brinkley  Director
(John F. Brinkley)   

   
/s/ Gary L. Convis  Director
(Gary L. Convis)   

   
/s/ William G. Ferko  Director
(William G. Ferko)   

   
/s/ R. Scott Gill  Director
(R. Scott Gill)   

    
/s/ William L. Healey  Director
(William L. Healey)   

   
/s/ Robert F. Lentz  Director
(Robert F. Lentz)   

   
/s/ Sidney R. Petersen  Director
(Sidney R. Petersen)   

   
/s/ Robert Sroka  Director
(Robert Sroka)   
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Exhibit 10.2.2
 
 
THIS INSTRUMENT, AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS EVIDENCED HEREBY, ARE SUBORDINATE IN THE MANNER AND TO THE
EXTENT SET FORTH IN THAT CERTAIN SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT DATED OCTOBER 30, 2015
BETWEEN SIENA LENDING GROUP LLC, AS LENDER, AND GILL FAMILY CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, INC., AND CONSENTED TO BY THE
BORROWERS DEFINED THEREIN.
 
THIS INSTRUMENT, AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS EVIDENCED HEREBY, ARE SUBORDINATE IN THE MANNER AND TO THE
EXTENT SET FORTH IN THAT CERTAIN SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT DATED OCTOBER 30, 2015 BETWEEN GREAT ROCK CAPITAL
PARTNERS MANAGEMENT, LLC, AS AGENT, AND GILL FAMILY CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, INC., AND CONSENTED TO BY THE BORROWERS
DEFINED THEREIN.
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED PROMISSORY NOTE
 
This Amended and Restated Promissory Note represents an amendment and restatement of, and not a novation of, that certain Promissory Note made by
Makers in favor of the Lender dated effective March 12, 2015, as heretofore amended, restated, modified and supplemented from time to time, in the
maximum principal amount of $5,500,000.00.
 
 
$5,500,000.00  Louisville, Kentucky
  October 30, 2015

 
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, each of the undersigned, SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Solutions” ) , SYPRIS

TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Technologies” ) , SYPRIS ELECTRONICS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“Electronics”), SYPRIS DATA SYSTEMS, INC. , a Delaware corporation (“Data Systems”), SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES MARION, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES KENTON, INC., a Delaware corporation, SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES MEXICAN HOLDINGS,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES NORTHERN, INC., a Delaware corporation, SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES
SOUTHERN, INC., a Delaware corporation, and SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Delaware corporation (each a “Maker” and
collectively, the “Makers”), hereby jointly and severally promise and agree to pay to the order of GILL FAMILY CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, INC., a
Delaware corporation with principal office and place of business at 101 Bullitt Lane, Suite 450, Louisville, Kentucky 40222 (the “Lender”), the principal
sum of up to FIVE MILLION FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($5,500,000.00) (the “Loan”), together with interest thereon as provided below.
The terms and provisions of this Amended and Restated Promissory Note (this “Note”) are as follows:
 

1.     Calculation of Interest. From the date hereof to and until January 30, 2019, which date shall be the maturity date of this Note (the “Maturity
Date”), the outstanding principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at the fixed rate per annum equal to eight percent (8.00%).
 

2 .     Payment of Principal and Interest. The entire unpaid principal balance of and all accrued and unpaid interest on this Note, together with all
other amounts due and owing under this Note, shall be due and payable in full on the Maturity Date.
 

3.     Interest Calculated on 30-Day Month. All accrued interest on this Note shall be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed
over twelve (12) assumed months consisting of thirty (30) days each.
 

 
 



 
 

4 .     Default Rate. Commencing five (5) days after written notice from the Lender (by facsimile transmission or otherwise) to the Makers to the
effect that any installment of principal of and/or accrued interest on this Note is overdue (provided such notice shall be given no earlier than five (5) days
after the due date of any such installment), such overdue installment of principal and/or accrued interest, provided it remains unpaid, shall commence to
bear interest at the ten percent (10%) per annum (the “Default Rate”), and such overdue installment of principal and/or accrued interest together with all
interest accrued thereon at the rate set forth herein shall continue to be immediately due and payable in full to the Lender. In the event the Lender
accelerates the maturity date of this Note due to the occurrence of any Event of Default hereunder, the entire unpaid principal balance of this Note
together with all accrued and unpaid interest thereon shall, beginning five (5) days after notice of acceleration of the maturity date of this Note has been
given to the Makers, commence to bear interest at the Default Rate, and all such unpaid principal together with all interest accrued and unpaid thereon,
including, without limitation, all interest accrued and accruing thereon as provided in this sentence, shall continue to be immediately due and payable in
full to the Lender.
 

5 .     Place of Payment. All payments of principal and interest on this Note shall be made to the Lender in legal tender of the United States of
America at its offices located at 101 Bullitt Lane, Suite 450, Louisville, Kentucky 40222, or to such other person or such other place as may be
designated in writing by the Lender.
 

6 .     Security Agreements; Mortgages; Security for Note; Subordination Agreement . This Note is secured by, among other instruments, each of
the following: [i] that certain Amended and Restated Security Agreement dated as of October 30, 2015 by and between the Makers and the Lender (as
amended from time to time, the “General Security Agreement”), [ii] that certain Amended and Restated Patent Security Agreement dated as of October 30,
2015 by and among Technologies, Electronics and the Lender (as amended from time to time, the “Patent Security Agreement”), [iii] that certain
Amended and Restated Trademark Security Agreement dated as of October 30, 2015 by and between Electronics and the Lender (as amended from time to
time, the “Amended and Restated Trademark Security Agreement”), [iv] that certain Trademark Security Agreement dated as of October 30, 2015 by and
among Solutions, Data Systems, Technologies and the Lender (as amended from time to time, the “Trademark Security Agreement”) (the General Security
Agreement, the Patent Security Agreement, the Amended and Restated Trademark Security Agreement and the Trademark Security Agreement are
collectively referred to herein as the “Security Agreements”), and [v] that certain Amended and Restated Mortgage and Security Agreement with
Assignment of Rents and Fixture Financing Statement dated as of October 30, 2015 made by Technologies for the benefit of Lender with respect to the
Property described therein (as amended from time to time, collectively, the “Mortgage”) (the Security Agreements, Mortgage, and this Note may be
referred to individually as a “Loan Instrument” and collectively as the “Loan Instruments”). This Note is subject to the respective terms and provisions of
(i) that certain Second Amended and Restated Subordination Agreement of even date herewith by and between the Lender and Siena Lending Group LLC
(“Siena”), as consented to by the Makers (the “Siena Subordination Agreement”), and (ii) that certain Subordination Agreement of even date herewith by
and between the Lender and Great Rock Capital Partners Management, LLC, as Agent (“Great Rock”), as consented to by the Makers (the “Great Rock
Subordination Agreement”) (Siena and Great Rock are each referred to herein individually as a “Senior Lender” and collectively as the “Senior Lenders”)
(the Siena Subordination Agreement and the Great Rock Subordination Agreement are each referred to herein individually as a “ Subordination
Agreement” and collectively as the “Subordination Agreements”).
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7 .           Representations and Warranties. Each Maker hereby jointly and severally represents and warrants to the Lender, as follows, which
representations and warranties shall survive the execution and delivery of this Note and the making of the disbursement of Loan proceeds hereunder:
 

7.1     Maker’s Existence. Each Maker is a duly organized or incorporated and validly existing corporation or limited liability company,
as applicable, in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and has all requisite authority to own its property and to carry on its business as
presently conducted. Each Maker is duly qualified to transact business and is validly existing and in good standing as a foreign entity in every foreign
jurisdiction where the failure to so qualify would materially and adversely affect such Maker’s business or its properties.
 

7 .2     Authority of Maker. The obtaining of the Loan by each Maker from the Lender and the execution, delivery and performance by
each Maker of this Note, the Security Agreements, the Mortgages and the other Loan Instruments to which it is a party are within the organizational
powers of each Maker, have been duly authorized by all of the Directors or Members of such Maker, are not in contravention of the Certificate of
Incorporation, Certificate of Formation, Bylaws or Operating Agreement of such Maker, as applicable, or the terms of any indenture, agreement or
undertaking to which such Maker is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound, and do not contravene the provisions of, or constitute a default
under, or result in the creation of any lien (except as expressly contemplated herein) upon the property of such Maker under any indenture, mortgage,
contract or other agreement to which such Maker is a party or by which it or any of its properties is bound. Each Maker is duly qualified to do business as
a foreign limited liability company in each state in which it is so required to be qualified.
 

7.3     Taxes. Each Maker has filed or caused to be filed all federal, state and local tax returns which, to the knowledge of its Members or
Directors, are required to be filed, and each Maker has paid or caused to be paid all taxes as shown on such returns, on any assessment received by such
Maker. Each Maker has established reserves which are believed to be adequate for the payment of additional taxes for years that have not been audited by
the respective tax authorities.
 

7.4     Enforceability. This Note, the Security Agreements, the Mortgages and the other Loan Instruments to which any Maker is a party
constitute valid and legally binding obligations of each such Maker, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, subject to applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and to general principles of equity, whether asserted in an action at law
or in equity.
 

8.           Affirmative Covenants. Each Maker hereby jointly and severally agrees that until the Loan and other secured indebtedness has been paid
in full to the Lender and this Note has been terminated, each Maker, shall perform and observe all of the following provisions:
 

8.1     Financial Statements. Each Maker shall furnish to the Lender all financial statements and other financial information in form and
at the times required to be furnished to either Senior Lender under its respective Loan Agreement (as defined in either Subordination Agreement).
 

8.2     Inspection. Each Maker covenants that it will permit the Lender and its employees and agents, at the Lender’s expense (unless an
Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default has occurred hereunder, in which event the same shall be at the expense of said Maker) to examine
corporate books and financial records of said Maker, and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Maker at such reasonable times and as often
as the Lender may reasonably request.
 

8.3     Maker’s Existence. Each Maker shall preserve its existence as a limited liability company or corporation, as applicable, under the
laws of the State of Delaware.
 

8.4     Further Assurances. Each Maker shall execute and deliver to the Lender all agreements, documents and instruments, shall pay all
filing fees and taxes in connection therewith and shall take such further actions as the Lender may reasonably request or as may be necessary or
appropriate to effectuate the intent of this Note and the other Loan Instruments.
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8.5     Notice of Default. The Makers shall promptly notify the Lender in writing of the occurrence of any Event of Default, specifying in
connection with such notification all actions proposed to be taken to remedy such circumstance.
 

8 . 6     Notice of Legal Proceedings. The Makers shall, promptly upon becoming aware of the existence thereof, notify the Lender in
writing of the institution of any litigation, legal proceeding, or dispute with any person or tribunal, that might materially and adversely affect the
condition, financial or otherwise, or the earnings, affairs, business prospects or properties of any Maker.
 

8 . 7     Maintenance of Qualification and Assets. Each Maker shall at all times maintain: (i) its qualification to transact business and
good standing as a foreign entity in all jurisdictions where the failure to so qualify would materially and adversely affect the nature of its properties or the
conduct of its businesses; and (ii) all franchises, licenses, rights and privileges necessary for the proper conduct of its businesses.
 

8 .8     Payment of Taxes and Claims. Each Maker shall pay all taxes imposed upon it or upon any of its properties or with respect to its
franchises, business, income or profits before any material penalty or interest accrues thereon. Each Maker shall also pay all material claims (including
without limitation claims for labor, services, materials and supplies) for sums which have or shall become due and payable and which by law have or
might become a vendors lien or a mechanics, laborers’, materialmen’s, statutory or other lien affecting any of its properties; provided, however, that the
respective Maker shall not be required to pay any such taxes or claims if (i) the amount, applicability or validity thereof is being contested in good faith
by appropriate legal proceedings promptly initiated and diligently conducted and (ii) each Maker shall have set aside on its books reserves (segregated to
the extent required by generally accepted accounting principles) adequate with respect thereto.
 

 
4



 
 

9 .     Acceleration; Offset; Special Rights Relating to Collateral. Each of the following events shall constitute an “Event of Default” under this
Note: (a) the Makers shall fail to pay the principal of and/or any accrued interest on this Note when due and such failure shall continue for more than five
(5) days after such due date; (b) a representation contained herein or in any of the Security Agreements, Mortgages or other Loan Instruments shall be
untrue or any Maker shall violate any of the other terms or covenants contained in this Note or in any of the Security Agreements, Mortgages or other
Loan Instruments and such failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after receipt by such Maker of notice thereof from the Lender; (c) any
Maker shall (i) voluntarily commence any proceeding or file any petition seeking relief under Title 11 of the United States Code or any other federal,
state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, liquidation or similar law, (ii) consent to the institution of, or fail to contravene in a timely and
appropriate manner, in any such proceeding or the filing of any such petition, (iii) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee,
custodian, sequestrator or similar official for a substantial part of its assets, (iv) file an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against
it in any such proceeding, (v) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, (vi) become unable, admit in writing its inability or fail generally, to
pay its debts as they become due, or (vii) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; (d) an involuntary proceeding shall be
commenced or an involuntary petition shall be filed in a court of competent jurisdiction seeking (i) relief in respect of said Maker or of a substantial part
of the property or assets of said Maker under Title 11 of the United States Code or any other federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership,
liquidation or similar, law or (ii) the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator or similar official of said Maker, or of a substantial part of
the property or assets of said Maker; and any such proceeding or petition shall continue undismissed for sixty (60) consecutive days or an order or decree
approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall continue unstayed and in effect for sixty (60) consecutive days; then, and in each such event (other than
an event described in subsections (c) or (d) above); or (e) if there occurs any other “Event of Default” as defined in the Security Agreements, the
Mortgages, any of the other Loan Instruments or in either Loan Agreement (as defined in either Subordination Agreement) or any of the other agreements
or documents executed in connection with the Senior Debt (as defined in either Subordination Agreement) and the same continues past any applicable
grace period. After the occurrence and continuation of any Event of Default, the Lender shall have full power and authority at any time or times to
exercise, at its sole option, all or any one or more of the rights and remedies of a secured party under the Uniform Commercial Code of the Commonwealth
of Kentucky (the “Kentucky UCC”), the Uniform Commercial Code of the State of Delaware (the “Delaware UCC”) and/or all other applicable laws,
including without limitation, declare the entire unpaid principal balance of and all accrued and unpaid interest on this Note to be, whereupon the same
shall be, immediately due and payable in full to the Lender (unless the Event of Default is of the type referred to in subsection (c) or (d) above, in which
event the entire unpaid principal balance of and all accrued and unpaid interest on this Note shall automatically be due and payable in full to the Lender
without notice or demand). If any Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, the Lender shall have the right then, or at any time thereafter, to set off
against, and appropriate and apply toward the payment of the unpaid principal of and/or accrued and unpaid interest on this Note in such order as the
Lender may select in its sole and absolute discretion, whether or not this Note shall then have matured or be due and payable and whether or not the
Lender has declared this Note to be in default and immediately due and payable, any and all deposit balances and other sums and indebtedness and other
property then held or owed by the Lender to or for the credit or account of the Makers, and in and on all of which the Makers hereby grant the Lender a
first priority security interest in and lien on to secure the payment of this Note, all without prior notice to or demand upon the Makers or any other Person,
all such prior notices and demands being hereby expressly waived by the Makers. Any requirement of the Kentucky UCC or the Delaware UCC for
reasonable notice shall be met if such notice is mailed, postage pre-paid, to the Makers at least five (5) days prior to the time of the event given rise to the
requirement of notice. Notice shall be mailed to the address of the Makers as shown on the records of the Lender maintained with respect to the Loan. The
Lender shall have no responsibility for the collection or protection of the Collateral or any part thereof or to exercise (or give notice to the Makers of) any
option, privilege or right with respect to the Collateral, all of which are waived by the Makers. The Lender, at its option, may transfer or register all or any
part of the Collateral into its or its nominee’s name without any indication of security interest, without notice in either before or after the maturity of this
Note. The Lender may transfer this Note, and deliver the Collateral to the transferee, and the transferee shall become vested with all powers and rights
given to the Lender with respect to the Collateral.
 

10.     Rights Under Security Instruments; Cumulative Rights. Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the Lender shall have all of the rights
and remedies under this Note, the Mortgages, the Security Agreements, the other Loan Instruments and at law or in equity. All of the rights and remedies
of the Lender upon the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder shall be cumulative to the greatest extent permitted by law.
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11 .     Indemnity. The Makers shall jointly and severally indemnify and hold harmless the Lender, its successors, assigns, officers, shareholders,
agents and employees, from and against any and all claims, actions, suits, proceedings, costs, expenses, damages, fines, penalties and liabilities,
including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, arising out of, connected with or resulting from (a) this Note or any of the other Loan
Instruments, (b) the Lender’s preservation or attempted preservation of any of the collateral taken pursuant to any of the Loan Instruments, and/or (c) any
failure of the security interests and liens granted to the Lender pursuant to the Loan Instruments to be or to remain perfected or to have the priority as
contemplated herein and in the Loan Instrument; provided, however, the Makers shall not have any obligation to indemnify the Lender for any such
claims, actions, suits, proceedings, costs, expenses, damages, fines, penalties and/or liabilities to the extent the same have been caused by or have arisen
solely and completely from any gross negligence or willful misconduct committed by the Lender. At the Lender’s request, the Makers shall, at their own
cost and expense, defend or cause to be defended any and all such actions or suits that may be brought against the Lender and, in any event, shall satisfy,
pay and discharge any and all judgments, awards, penalties, costs and fines that may be recovered against the Lender in any such action, plus all
attorneys’ fees and costs related thereto to the extent permitted by applicable law; provided, however, that the Lender shall give the Makers (to the extent
the Lender seeks indemnification from the Makers under this section) prompt written notice of any such claim, demand or suit after the Lender has
received written notice thereof, and the Lender shall not settle any such claim, demand or suit, if the Lender seeks indemnification therefor from the
Makers, without first giving notice to the Makers of the Lender’s desire to settle and obtaining the consent of the Makers to the same, which consent the
Makers hereby agree not to unreasonably withhold. All obligations of the Makers under this section shall survive the payment of the Note.

 
1 2     Invalidity. If any part of this Note shall be adjudged invalid or unenforceable, whether in general or in any particular circumstance, then

such partial invalidity or enforcement shall not cause the remainder of this Note to be or to become invalid or unenforceable, and if a provision hereof is
held invalid or unenforceable, and if a provision hereof is held invalid or unenforceable in one or more of its applications, the Lender and the Makers
hereby agree that said provision shall remain in effect in all valid applications that are severable from the invalid or unenforceable application or
applications.
 

13.     Assignment. This Note may not be assigned by any or all of the Makers. This Note and the other Loan Instruments may be assigned by the
Lender. All rights of the Lender hereunder shall inure to the benefit of its successors and assigns, and all obligations, covenants and agreements of the
Makers shall bind its successors and assigns, if any.
 

1 4 .     Entire Agreement . This Note and the other Loan Instruments constitute the entire agreement between the Lender and the Makers with
respect to the subject matter hereof.
 

15.     Costs and Expenses. The Makers jointly and severally agree to pay: (a) the reasonable fees of Lender’s counsel, including all out-of-pocket
expenses incurred by such counsel, including costs incurred on behalf of the Lender in the negotiation, preparation, printing, documentation, review and
execution of this Note and other Loan Instruments, and (b) all other charges, out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by the Lender or Lender’s counsel
including, without limitation, including all documentary stamp or other tax liabilities, recording fees and costs of lien searches, certified documents and
flood zone verifications. All obligations of the Makers under this section shall survive the termination or cancellation of this Note for any reason
whatsoever.
 

16 .     No Third Party Beneficiaries. All conditions of the obligations of the Lender to disburse the proceeds of the Loan hereunder are imposed
solely and exclusively for the benefit of the Lender and its successors and assigns and the Makers, and no other Person shall have standing to require
satisfaction of such conditions in accordance with their terms or be entitled to assume that the Lender will refuse to disburse proceeds of the Loan in the
absence of strict compliance with any or all of such conditions, and no other Person shall, under any circumstances, be deemed to be beneficiary of such
conditions, any or all of which may be freely waived in whole or in part by the Lender at any time in its sole and absolute discretion.
 

1 7 .      Amendments. No amendment, modification, or supplement to this Note or the other Loan Instruments, or to any other document or
instrument executed or issued by any of the parties hereto in connection with the transactions contemplated herein, shall be binding unless executed in
writing by all parties hereto or thereto; and this provisions of this Note and the other Loan Instruments shall not be subject to waiver by any party and
shall be strictly enforced.
 

 
6



 
 

1 8 .      Role of the Lender. Notwithstanding any of the terms or conditions hereof or of the other Loan Instruments to the contrary, the Lender
shall not have, and by its execution and acceptance of this Note hereby expressly disclaims, any obligation or responsibility for the management, conduct
or operation of the business and affairs of any of the Makers. Any term or condition hereof, or of any of the other Loan Instruments, permitting the Lender
to take or refrain from taking any action with respect to the Makers or the collateral shall be deemed solely to permit the Lender to audit and review the
management, operation and conduct of the business and affairs of the Makers and to maintain and preserve the security given by the Makers to the
Lender, for the secured obligations, and may not be relied upon by any other Person. Further, the Lender shall not have, has not assumed, and by its
execution and acceptance of this Note and the other Loan Instruments hereby expressly disclaims, any liability or responsibility for the payment or
performance of any indebtedness or obligation of the Makers, and no term or condition hereof, or of any of the other Loan Instruments, shall be construed
otherwise.
 

1 9 .     No Implied Waivers; Time is of the Essence. The failure of the Lender to exercise any of its rights, powers and/or remedies shall not
constitute a waiver of the right to exercise the same at that or any other time. All rights and remedies of the Lender for an Event of Default hereunder
and/or under the other Loan Instruments, shall be cumulative to the greatest extent permitted by law. Time shall be of the essence in (i) the payment of all
installments of principal of and accrued interest on this Note, and (ii) the performance of the Makers’ other obligations hereunder and under the Security
Agreements, Mortgages and the other Loan Instruments.
 

20.     Attorneys’ Fees. If there is any Event of Default under this Note, the Security Agreements, the Mortgages and/or the other Loan Instruments
which is not timely cured, and this Note is placed in the hands of any attorney for collection, or is collected through any court, including any bankruptcy
court, the Makers promise and agree to pay to the Lender its reasonable attorneys’ fees, court costs and other expenses incurred in collecting or
attempting to collect or securing or attempting to secure this Note or enforcing the Lender’s rights hereunder and under the Security Agreements,
Mortgages and the other Loan Instruments.

 
21.     Prepayment. This Note may be prepaid at any time, in whole or in part, without penalty or premium.
 
2 2 .     Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Note and all of the rights and remedies of the holder hereof shall be governed by, and construed in

accordance with, the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky without regard to conflicts of law principles. THE MAKERS SUBMIT TO THE
EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY AND OF ANY
KENTUCKY STATE COURT SETTING IN JEFFERSON COUNTY, KENTUCKY FOR PURPOSES OF ALL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS ARISING OUT OF
OR RELATING TO THIS NOTE, THE SECURITY AGREEMENTS, MORTGAGES OR ANY OF THE OTHER LOAN INSTRUMENTS OR THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY.
 

23.     Waivers. The Makers hereby waive presentment, demand, notice of dishonor, protest, notice of protest and nonpayment, and further waives
all exemptions to which it may now or hereafter be entitled to under the laws of this or any other state or of the United States. The Lender shall have the
right to grant the Makers any extension of time for payment of this Note or any other indulgence or forbearance whatsoever, and may release any security
for the payment of this Note if any, as applicable, in every instance without the consent of the Makers and without in any way affecting the liability of the
Makers hereunder and without waiving any rights the Lender may have hereunder or by virtue of the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky or any other
state or of the United States.
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24.     Legal Rate of Interest. Nothing herein contained shall be construed or so operate as to require payment of interest at a rate greater than the
highest permitted contract rate under applicable law, or to make any payment or to do any act contrary to applicable law. To this end, if during the course
of any litigation involving the enforceability of the obligations represented by this Note, a court having jurisdiction of the subject matter or of the parties
to said litigation shall determine that either the interest rate as set forth herein, or the effect of said rate in relation to the particular circumstances of
default resulting in said litigation, are separately or collectively usurious, then the interest rate set forth herein shall be reduced, or the operation and
effect thereof ameliorated, to achieve the highest interest rate or charge which shall not be usurious. As an example of such an amelioration, in the event
the indebtedness represented by this Note is declared due by the Lender prior to maturity, and the total amount of interest paid causes interest to exceed
the highest rate permitted by law, such interest rate shall be recalculated at the highest rate which shall not be usurious and any excess paid over such
recalculated interest rate shall be credited to the unpaid principal of this Note.
 

25.     Captions. The section headings of this Note are inserted herein solely for convenience of reference and shall not affect the construction or
interpretation of the provisions hereof.
 

2 6 .     WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL . THE MAKERS HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY (AFTER ACTUAL
CONSULTATION OR THE OPPORTUNITY TO HAVE CONSULTATION WITH LEGAL COUNSEL) WAIVE THE RIGHT EACH MAY HAVE TO A
TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION BASED ON THIS NOTE, THE SECURITY AGREEMENTS, MORTGAGES OR ANY OF THE
OTHER LOAN INSTRUMENTS, OR ARISING OUT OF, UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE NOTE, THE LOAN OR ANY AGREEMENT
CONTEMPLATED TO BE EXECUTED IN CONJUNCTION THEREWITH, OR ANY COURSE OF CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING, STATEMENT
(WHETHER VERBAL OR WRITTEN) OR ACTIONS OF ANY PARTY HERETO. THIS PROVISION IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR THE
LENDER IN MAKING THE LOAN TO THE MAKERS. THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION MAY ONLY BE MODIFIED BY A WRITTEN
INSTRUMENT EXECUTED BY THE MAKERS AND THE LENDER.

 
 
 
 

[The remainder of this page has intentionally been left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Makers agree to each of the terms set forth above and has executed this Note as of the 30th day of October, 2015.
 
 

 

Sypris Solutions, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation
 
By: /s/ John R. McGeeney                      
 
Title: Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
 
 
SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
 
By: /s/ John R. McGeeney                      
 
Title: General Counsel                             
 
 
SYPRIS ELECTRONICS, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company
 
By: /s/ John R. McGeeney                      
 
Title: General Counsel                             
 
SYPRIS DATA SYSTEMS, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
 
By: /s/ John R. McGeeney                      
 
Title: General Counsel                             
 
SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES MARION, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company
 
By: /s/ John R. McGeeney                      
 
Title: General Counsel                             
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SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES KENTON, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
 
By: /s/ John R. McGeeney                      
 
Title: General Counsel                             
 
 
SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES MEXICAN 
HOLDINGS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company
 
By: /s/ John R. McGeeney                      
 
Title: General Counsel                             
 
 
SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES NORTHERN, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
 
By: /s/ John R. McGeeney                      
 
Title: General Counsel                             
 
 
SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES SOUTHERN, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
 
By: /s/ John R. McGeeney                      
 
Title: General Counsel                             
 
 
SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES INTERNATIONAL,
INC., a Delaware corporation
 
By: /s/ John R. McGeeney                      
 
Title: General Counsel                             
 
                   (the “Makers”)
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COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY )
 ) SS:
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )

 
The foregoing instrument was subscribed, sworn to and acknowledged before me this 30th day of October, 2015, by John R. McGeeney, as the

Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary  of SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC., a Delaware corporation, to be his free act and voluntary deed and the free
act and voluntary deed of such company.
 
 
 /s/ Andrea Luescher                                
 NOTARY PUBLIC
[SEAL]  
 My Commission Expires: July 20, 2017
                              

 
 
COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY )
 ) SS:
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )

 
The foregoing instrument was subscribed, sworn to and acknowledged before me this 30th day of October, 2015, by John R. McGeeney, as the

General Counsel of SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a Delaware corporation, to be his free act and voluntary deed and the free act and voluntary deed
of such company.
 
 
 
 /s/ Andrea Luescher                                
 NOTARY PUBLIC
[SEAL]  
 My Commission Expires: July 20, 2016
 
 
 
COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY )
 ) SS:
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )

 
The foregoing instrument was subscribed, sworn to and acknowledged before me this 30th day of October, 2015, by John R. McGeeney, as the

General Counsel of SYPRIS ELECTRONICS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, to be his free act and voluntary deed and the free act and
voluntary deed of such company.
 
 /s/ Andrea Luescher                                
 NOTARY PUBLIC
[SEAL]  
 My Commission Expires: July 20, 2016
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COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY )
 ) SS:
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )
 

The foregoing instrument was subscribed, sworn to and acknowledged before me this 30th day of October, 2015, by John R. McGeeney, as the
General Counsel of SYPRIS DATA SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware corporation, to be his free act and voluntary deed and the free act and voluntary deed of
such company.
 
 
 /s/ Andrea Luescher                                
 NOTARY PUBLIC
[SEAL]  
 My Commission Expires: July 20, 2016
 
 
 
 
COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY )
 ) SS:
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )
 

The foregoing instrument was subscribed, sworn to and acknowledged before me this 30th day of October, 2015, by John R. McGeeney, as the
General Counsel of SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES MARION, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, to be his free act and voluntary deed and the free
act and voluntary deed of such company.
 
 
 /s/ Andrea Luescher                                
 NOTARY PUBLIC
[SEAL]  
 My Commission Expires: July 20, 2016
 
 
 
COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY )
 ) SS:
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )
 

The foregoing instrument was subscribed, sworn to and acknowledged before me this 30th day of October, 2015, by John R. McGeeney, as the
General Counsel of SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES KENTON, INC., a Delaware corporation, to be his free act and voluntary deed and the free act and
voluntary deed of such company.
 
 
 /s/ Andrea Luescher                                
 NOTARY PUBLIC
[SEAL]  
 My Commission Expires: July 20, 2016
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COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY )
 ) SS:
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )
 

The foregoing instrument was subscribed, sworn to and acknowledged before me this 30th day of October, 2015, by John R. McGeeney, as the
General Counsel of SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES MEXICAN HOLDINGS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, to be his free act and voluntary
deed and the free act and voluntary deed of such company.
 
 
 /s/ Andrea Luescher                                
 NOTARY PUBLIC
[SEAL]  
 My Commission Expires: July 20, 2016
   
 
 
 
COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY )
 ) SS:
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )
 

The foregoing instrument was subscribed, sworn to and acknowledged before me this 30th day of October, 2015, by John R. McGeeney, as the
General Counsel of SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES NORTHERN, INC., a Delaware corporation, to be his free act and voluntary deed and the free act and
voluntary deed of such company.
 
 
 /s/ Andrea Luescher                                
 NOTARY PUBLIC
[SEAL]  
 My Commission Expires: July 20, 2016
 
 
 
COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY )
 ) SS:
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )
 

The foregoing instrument was subscribed, sworn to and acknowledged before me this 30th day of October, 2015, by John R. McGeeney, as the
General Counsel of SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES SOUTHERN, INC., a Delaware corporation, to be his free act and voluntary deed and the free act and
voluntary deed of such company.
 
 
 /s/ Andrea Luescher                                
 NOTARY PUBLIC
[SEAL]  
 My Commission Expires: July 20, 2016
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COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY )
 ) SS:
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )
 

The foregoing instrument was subscribed, sworn to and acknowledged before me this 30th day of October, 2015, by John R. McGeeney, as the
General Counsel of SYPRIS TECHNOLOGIES INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Delaware corporation, to be his free act and voluntary deed and the free act
and voluntary deed of such company.
 
 
 /s/ Andrea Luescher                                
 NOTARY PUBLIC
[SEAL]  
 My Commission Expires: July 20, 2016
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Exhibit 10.9
 

 
 

ADOPTED ON SEPTEMBER 1, 1995
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED ON JANUARY 21, 2016
 

Description of the Program
 
 

Name. The name of this benefit program shall be the “Directors Compensation Program.”
 

Purpose. The purpose of the Directors Compensation Program is to enable Sypris Solutions, Inc. (the “Company”) to attract, retain and motivate
experienced directors by providing compensation that is competitive with compensation offered to directors of other similarly-situated public
corporations in the United States.
 

Eligibility and Participation. Only “Eligible Directors,” defined as those members of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) who are
not otherwise employed by the Company, its subsidiaries or any affiliate of the Company in any other capacity, are eligible to participate in the Directors
Compensation Program. Any Eligible Director on the Board as of January 21, 2016 (the “Effective Date”) and thereafter shall be eligible for
compensation under the Directors Compensation Program.
 

Compensation. Eligible Directors shall be compensated as set forth below:
 
 

(a)             Annual Retainer.
 

(i) Amount. Each Eligible Director shall receive an annual retainer in the amount set forth on Exhibit 1 hereto which may include
cash and/or equity grants under the 2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan (the “Annual Retainer”). Service for a partial year will be compensated on a prorated basis
as determined by the Committee.
 

(ii) Quarterly Payment. The cash portion of the Annual Retainer or the Prorated Annual Retainer, as applicable, shall be earned by
the Eligible Directors and paid by the Company in equal quarterly installments for each Eligible Director. The quarterly installments of the Annual
Retainer or Prorated Annual Retainer shall be payable, in arrears by checks issued to each Eligible Director no later than the 15th calendar day following
the end of each of the Company’s fiscal quarters during which the respective Eligible Director served on the Board.
 

(b)         Extraordinary Awards.
 

The Committee has the authority to recommend to the Board, grants of individual equity awards for services as a Director, beyond the
normal scope in their sole discretion.
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Expense Reimbursement. Each Eligible Director shall be reimbursed for travel and other expenses incurred in the performance of his or her duties.

 
Administration. The Directors Compensation Program is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board. The Committee members are

selected by the Board and have no specific term of office.
 

Resignation from the Board of Directors. The resignation of any Eligible Director shall cause such director to be ineligible to receive any amount of
the Fee installments not yet earned by him or her as of the date of resignation.
 

Program Termination or Modification. The Compensation Committee shall review the Directors Compensation Program on at least an annual basis
and may make changes, alterations or modifications to the program which are deemed to be in the Company’s best interest. Any change, alteration or
modification shall be made by a written instrument consented to by the Board. The Board may similarly terminate the Directors Compensation Program at
any time if, in the judgment of the Board, such termination is in the Company’s best interest.
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Directors Compensation Program to be executed in its name and on its behalf on January 21,
2016.
 
 
 SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC.  
    
    
 By: /s/ Jeffrey T. Gill  
  Jeffrey T. Gill  
  President and CEO  
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Restricted Stock
 

Effective as of __[Date]__ (the “Grant Date”) contingent on your continued service as of that date, the Company hereby grants to _[Director
Name] certain rights to ownership of up to: [#shares] Restricted Shares on the terms of this Award Agreement (the “Terms”), the attached Program, and
the 2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan (as amended from time to time, the “Plan”) as follows:

 
 
 

Vesting Dates # of Shares Vesting
[3  Anniversary] [xxx]

 
  
 

Intending to be legally bound by all such Terms, the Program, and the Plan, I acknowledge the sole authority of the Committee to interpret the
terms of the foregoing, the forfeiture of my rights upon any termination of my service as a Director under such Terms. I have received and had an
opportunity to review, with the benefit of any legal counsel of my choosing (any such legal counsel to be retained at my own expense), the Plan, the
Program, and this Award Agreement.

 
 
 

SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC. PARTICIPANT
  
  
By:                                                              Signature:                                                 
  
Name: Jeffrey T. Gill                             Name:                                                         
  
Title:  President & CEO                        
 

 
 

rd



 
 

 
1. Purpose of the Program. The Company’s Discretionary Director Restricted Stock Program (“Program”) under the 2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan (as

amended from time to time, the “Plan”) shall be effective for all Awards incorporating these terms on or after January 21, 2016, to advance the
Company’s growth and prosperity by providing long-term financial incentives to its Directors, and to further the Company’s philosophy of
equity ownership by the Company’s Directors in accordance with the Company’s Equity Ownership Guidelines.

 
2. Restricted Shares. Each “Restricted Share” is one Share of the Common Stock (subject to adjustments per the Plan) which is subject to forfeiture

before its Vesting Date, as set forth below.
 

 2.1. Restricted Share Vesting . Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, grants of Restricted Shares will vest 100% on the third
anniversary of the Grant Date (the “Vesting Date”), unless forfeited before such Vesting Date.

 

 
2.2. Distribution. All Restricted Shares will be held by the Company or issued in book entry form until the Vesting Date, and physically

distributed to the Participant thereafter, with any legends required by applicable Rules. Participants may vote and receive cash
dividends on such Restricted Shares, as applicable, after the Grant Date.

 
3. Future Awards . Future awards, if any, are strictly subject to the sole discretion of the Committee and receipt of any Award does not guarantee

that a Participant will receive future Awards.
 
4. Termination. If the Participant’s service on the Board of Directors is terminated for any reason or no reason, each unvested Restricted Share will

terminate, expire, and be forfeited as provided in Article V of the Plan.
 
5. Administration. The Committee shall have complete authority to administer or interpret the Program or any Award, to prescribe, amend, and

rescind rules and regulations relating thereto, and to make all other determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the Program
or any Award Agreements (including to establish or amend any rules regarding the Program that are necessary or advisable to comply with, or
qualify under, any applicable law, listing requirement, regulation, or policy of any entity, agency, organization, governmental entity, or the
Company, in the Committee’s sole discretion (“Rule”)). In addition, with respect to any future grants or the unvested portion of any Award, the
Committee may amend or terminate these Terms or any Awards, in its sole discretion without the consent of any Director or beneficiary, subject
to applicable Rules, at any time and from time-to-time. With respect to any amendment, action, or approval hereunder, the Committee may
require the approval of any other persons or entities, pursuant to applicable Rules. The decisions of the Committee in interpreting and applying
the Program will be final.
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6. Section 83(b) Election. Under Section 83 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), a Participant may elect to be taxed at

the time the Restricted Shares are acquired, rather than when such Restricted Shares vest, by filing an election with the Internal Revenue Service
within thirty (30) days after the Grant Date. IT IS THE PARTICIPANT’S SOLE RESPONSIBILITY, AND NOT THE COMPANY'S, TO
FILE A TIMELY ELECTION UNDER CODE SECTION 83(b), EVEN IF THE PARTICIPANT REQUESTS THE COMPANY OR ITS
REPRESENTATIVES TO MAKE THIS FILING ON THE PARTICIPANT’S BEHALF. THE PARTICIPANT MUST RELY SOLELY ON
HIS OR HER OWN ADVISORS WITH RESPECT TO THE DECISION AS TO WHETHER OR NOT TO FILE ANY  CODE SECTION
83(b) ELECTION.

 
7. Miscellaneous. Unless otherwise specified, all capitalized terms herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Plan or in the Award

Agreement.
 

 
7.1. No Other Rights. The Awards include no other rights beyond those expressly provided in the Plan, the Program, or the Award

Agreement. Awards are non-assignable and non-transferable except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, unless otherwise
approved by the Committee.

 

 

7.2. Taxes. The Participant must arrange for all tax withholding obligations related to any Award. Tax withholding obligations may be
satisfied by any of the following methods, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion: (i) cash, (ii) surrender of Shares of
then-equivalent value (including the surrender of Shares otherwise to be received in connection with the vesting of an Award), or (iii)
other forms of payment as determined by the Committee. The maximum number of Shares that may be withheld from any Award to
satisfy any federal, state, or local tax withholding requirements upon the lapse of restrictions applicable to an Award cannot exceed
such number of Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum statutory amount required by the Company to be withheld and
paid to any such federal, state, or local taxing authority with respect to such lapse of restrictions.

 

 7.3. Delegation. The Committee may delegate any portion of their responsibilities and powers to one or more persons selected by them,
subject to applicable Rules. Such delegation may be revoked by the Committee at any time.
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Restricted Stock
 

Effective as of __[Date]_ _ (the “Grant Date”) contingent on your continued employment as of that date, the Company hereby grants to
_[Employee Name] certain rights to ownership of up to: [#shares] Restricted Shares on the terms of this Award Agreement (the “Terms”), the attached
Program, and the 2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan (as amended from time to time, the “Plan”) as follows:

 
 
 

Vesting Date # of Shares Vesting
[18 Month Anniversary] [xxx]

 
 
  

Intending to be legally bound by all such Terms, the Program, and the Plan, I acknowledge the sole authority of the Committee to interpret the
terms of the foregoing, the forfeiture of my rights upon any termination of my employment under such Terms, and my continuing status as an “at will”
employee (subject to termination without cause or notice). I have received and had an opportunity to review, with the benefit of any legal counsel of my
choosing (any such legal counsel to be retained at my own expense), the Plan, the Program, and this Award Agreement.

 
 
 

SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC. PARTICIPANT
  
  
By:                                                              Signature:                                                 
  
Name: Jeffrey T. Gill                             Name:                                                         
  
Title:  President & CEO                        
 

 
 



 
 

 
1. Purpose of the Program. The Company’s Eighteen Month Restricted Stock Program (“Program”) under the 2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan (as

amended from time to time, the “Plan”) shall be effective for all Awards incorporating these terms on or after May 19, 2015, to advance the
Company’s growth and prosperity by providing long-term financial incentives to its key employees, and to further the Company’s philosophy of
equity ownership by the Company’s officers in accordance with the Company’s Equity Ownership Guidelines.

 
2. Restricted Shares. Each “Restricted Share” is one Share of the Common Stock (subject to adjustments per the Plan) which is subject to forfeiture

before its Vesting Date, as set forth below.
 

 2.1. Restricted Share Vesting . Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, grants of Restricted Shares will vest 100% on or about the
eighteen month anniversary of the Grant Date (the “Vesting Date”), unless forfeited before such Vesting Date.

 

 
2.2. Distribution. All Restricted Shares will be held by the Company or issued in book entry form until the Vesting Date, and physically

distributed to the Participant thereafter, with any legends required by applicable Rules. Participants may vote and receive cash
dividends on such Restricted Shares, as applicable, after the Grant Date.

 
3. Future Awards . Future awards, if any, are strictly subject to the sole discretion of the Committee and receipt of any Award does not guarantee

that a Participant will receive future Awards.
 
4. Leaves of Absence . The Committee may in its discretion treat all or any portion of any period during which a Participant is on military or other

approved leave of absence as a period of employment for purposes of the accrual of rights hereunder.
 
5. Termination. If the Participant’s employment is terminated for any reason or no reason, each unvested Restricted Share will terminate, expire,

and be forfeited as provided in Article V of the Plan. (The Committee has sole discretion to determine whether a demotion is a “termination” of
employment.)

 
6. Administration. The Committee shall have complete authority to administer or interpret the Program or any Award, to prescribe, amend, and

rescind rules and regulations relating thereto, and to make all other determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the Program
or any Award Agreements (including to establish or amend any rules regarding the Program that are necessary or advisable to comply with, or
qualify under, any applicable law, listing requirement, regulation, or policy of any entity, agency, organization, governmental entity, or the
Company, in the Committee’s sole discretion (“Rule”)). In addition, with respect to any future grants or the unvested portion of any Award, the
Committee may amend or terminate these Terms or any Awards, in its sole discretion without the consent of any employee or beneficiary, subject
to applicable Rules, at any time and from time-to-time. With respect to any amendment, action, or approval hereunder, the Committee may
require the approval of any other persons or entities, pursuant to applicable Rules. The decisions of the Committee in interpreting and applying
the Program will be final.
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7. Section 83(b) Election. Under Section 83 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), a Participant may elect to be taxed at

the time the Restricted Shares are acquired, rather than when such Restricted Shares vest, by filing an election with the Internal Revenue Service
within thirty (30) days after the Grant Date. IT IS THE PARTICIPANT’S SOLE RESPONSIBILITY, AND NOT THE COMPANY'S, TO
FILE A TIMELY ELECTION UNDER CODE SECTION 83(b), EVEN IF THE PARTICIPANT REQUESTS THE COMPANY OR ITS
REPRESENTATIVES TO MAKE THIS FILING ON THE PARTICIPANT’S BEHALF. THE PARTICIPANT MUST RELY SOLELY ON
HIS OR HER OWN ADVISORS WITH RESPECT TO THE DECISION AS TO WHETHER OR NOT TO FILE ANY  CODE SECTION
83(b) ELECTION.

 
8. Miscellaneous. Unless otherwise specified, all capitalized terms herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Plan or in the Award

Agreement.
 

 
8.1. No Other Rights. The Awards include no other rights beyond those expressly provided in the Plan, the Program, or the Award

Agreement. Awards are non-assignable and non-transferable except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, unless otherwise
approved by the Committee.

 

 

8.2. Taxes. The Participant must arrange for all tax withholding obligations related to any Award. Tax withholding obligations may be
satisfied by any of the following methods, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion: (i) cash, (ii) surrender of Shares of
then-equivalent value (including the surrender of Shares otherwise to be received in connection with the vesting of an Award), or (iii)
other forms of payment as determined by the Committee. The maximum number of Shares that may be withheld from any Award to
satisfy any federal, state, or local tax withholding requirements upon the lapse of restrictions applicable to an Award cannot exceed
such number of Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum statutory amount required by the Company to be withheld and
paid to any such federal, state, or local taxing authority with respect to such lapse of restrictions.

 

 8.3. Delegation. The Committee may delegate any portion of their responsibilities and powers to one or more persons selected by them,
subject to applicable Rules. Such delegation may be revoked by the Committee at any time.
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Restricted Stock
 

Effective as of __[Date]_ _ (the “Grant Date”) contingent on your continued employment as of that date, the Company hereby grants to
_[Employee Name] certain rights to ownership of up to: [#shares] Restricted Shares on the terms of this Award Agreement (the “Terms”), the attached
Program, and the 2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan (as amended from time to time, the “Plan”) as follows:

 
 
 

Vesting Dates # of Shares Vesting
[3  Anniversary] [100%]

 
 
  

Intending to be legally bound by all such Terms, the Program, and the Plan, I acknowledge the sole authority of the Committee to interpret the
terms of the foregoing, the forfeiture of my rights upon any termination of my employment under such Terms, and my continuing status as an “at will”
employee (subject to termination without cause or notice). I have received and had an opportunity to review, with the benefit of any legal counsel of my
choosing (any such legal counsel to be retained at my own expense), the Plan, the Program, and this Award Agreement.

 
 
 

SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC. PARTICIPANT
  
  
By:                                                              Signature:                                                 
  
Name: Jeffrey T. Gill                             Name:                                                         
  
Title:  President & CEO                        
 

 
 

rd



 
 

 
1. Purpose of the Program. The Company’s Three Year Restricted Stock Program (“Program”) under the 2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan (as amended

from time to time, the “Plan”) shall be effective for all Awards incorporating these terms on or after May 19, 2015, to advance the Company’s
growth and prosperity by providing long-term financial incentives to its key employees, and to further the Company’s philosophy of equity
ownership by the Company’s officers in accordance with the Company’s Equity Ownership Guidelines.

 
2. Restricted Shares. Each “Restricted Share” is one Share of the Common Stock (subject to adjustments per the Plan) which is subject to forfeiture

before its Vesting Date, as set forth below.
 

 2.1. Restricted Share Vesting . Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, grants of Restricted Shares will vest 100% on the third
anniversary of the Grant Date (the “Vesting Date”), unless forfeited before such Vesting Date.

 

 
2.2. Distribution. All Restricted Shares will be held by the Company or issued in book entry form until the Vesting Date, and physically

distributed to the Participant thereafter, with any legends required by applicable Rules. Participants may vote and receive cash
dividends on such Restricted Shares, as applicable, after the Grant Date.

 
3. Future Awards . Future awards, if any, are strictly subject to the sole discretion of the Committee and receipt of any Award does not guarantee

that a Participant will receive future Awards.
 
4. Leaves of Absence . The Committee may in its discretion treat all or any portion of any period during which a Participant is on military or other

approved leave of absence as a period of employment for purposes of the accrual of rights hereunder.
 
5. Termination. If the Participant’s employment is terminated for any reason or no reason, each unvested Restricted Share will terminate, expire,

and be forfeited as provided in Article V of the Plan. (The Committee has sole discretion to determine whether a demotion is a “termination” of
employment.)

 
6. Administration. The Committee shall have complete authority to administer or interpret the Program or any Award, to prescribe, amend, and

rescind rules and regulations relating thereto, and to make all other determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the Program
or any Award Agreements (including to establish or amend any rules regarding the Program that are necessary or advisable to comply with, or
qualify under, any applicable law, listing requirement, regulation, or policy of any entity, agency, organization, governmental entity, or the
Company, in the Committee’s sole discretion (“Rule”)). In addition, with respect to any future grants or the unvested portion of any Award, the
Committee may amend or terminate these Terms or any Awards, in its sole discretion without the consent of any employee or beneficiary, subject
to applicable Rules, at any time and from time-to-time. With respect to any amendment, action, or approval hereunder, the Committee may
require the approval of any other persons or entities, pursuant to applicable Rules. The decisions of the Committee in interpreting and applying
the Program will be final.
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7. Section 83(b) Election. Under Section 83 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), a Participant may elect to be taxed at

the time the Restricted Shares are acquired, rather than when such Restricted Shares vest, by filing an election with the Internal Revenue Service
within thirty (30) days after the Grant Date. IT IS THE PARTICIPANT’S SOLE RESPONSIBILITY, AND NOT THE COMPANY'S, TO
FILE A TIMELY ELECTION UNDER CODE SECTION 83(b), EVEN IF THE PARTICIPANT REQUESTS THE COMPANY OR ITS
REPRESENTATIVES TO MAKE THIS FILING ON THE PARTICIPANT’S BEHALF. THE PARTICIPANT MUST RELY SOLELY ON
HIS OR HER OWN ADVISORS WITH RESPECT TO THE DECISION AS TO WHETHER OR NOT TO FILE ANY  CODE SECTION
83(b) ELECTION.

 
8. Miscellaneous. Unless otherwise specified, all capitalized terms herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Plan or in the Award

Agreement.
 

 
8.1. No Other Rights. The Awards include no other rights beyond those expressly provided in the Plan, the Program, or the Award

Agreement. Awards are non-assignable and non-transferable except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, unless otherwise
approved by the Committee.

 

 

8.2. Taxes. The Participant must arrange for all tax withholding obligations related to any Award. Tax withholding obligations may be
satisfied by any of the following methods, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion: (i) cash, (ii) surrender of Shares of
then-equivalent value (including the surrender of Shares otherwise to be received in connection with the vesting of an Award), or (iii)
other forms of payment as determined by the Committee. The maximum number of Shares that may be withheld from any Award to
satisfy any federal, state, or local tax withholding requirements upon the lapse of restrictions applicable to an Award cannot exceed
such number of Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum statutory amount required by the Company to be withheld and
paid to any such federal, state, or local taxing authority with respect to such lapse of restrictions.

 

 8.3. Delegation. The Committee may delegate any portion of their responsibilities and powers to one or more persons selected by them,
subject to applicable Rules. Such delegation may be revoked by the Committee at any time.
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Exhibit 10.16
 

Non-Qualified Stock Option
Award Agreement

 
 

Effective as of __[Date]__ (“Grant Date”), the Company hereby grants to _[Employee]_ an option (the “Options”) to purchase up to: [# of
Shares] shares of Common Stock (each, a “Share” and collectively, the “Shares”) for $[Price] per Share until [4  Anniversary of Grant Date] (the
“Expiration Date”) on the terms of this Agreement (the “Terms”) and the 2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan (as amended from time to time, the “Plan”) as follows:
 
 

Vesting Dates # of Options Vesting Option Prices Expiration Date
[3  Anniversary] [100%] [FMV at grant] [4  Anniversary]

 
 

Intending to be legally bound by all the Terms and the Plan, I acknowledge the sole authority of the Committee to interpret the provisions of the
foregoing, the forfeiture of my rights upon any termination of my employment under the terms of the foregoing and my continuing status as an “at will”
employee (subject to termination without cause or notice). I have received and had an opportunity to review, with the benefit of any legal counsel of my
choosing (any such legal counsel to be retained at my own expense), the Plan and the Terms.
 
 

 
SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC. PARTICIPANT
  
  
By:                                                              Signature:                                                 
  
Name:                                                       Name:                                                         
  
Title:                                                         
 

 
 

th

rd th



 
 

Exhibit 10.16
 

Four-Year Stock Option Terms of Awards
of the 2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan (“Plan”)

 
 

1.     Awards  – All Options granted hereunder will be non-qualified Options subject to, and governed by, the terms of the Plan, the Terms and a valid,
executed Award Agreement.
 
2.     Options – Each Option is the right to purchase one Share at the Option Price, from its Vesting Date until its Expiration Date or forfeiture (subject to
adjustments per the Plan). Options must be exercised with 48 hours advance written notice, unless waived by the Company.
 
3.     Option Price – “Option Price” means the closing price per Share on the Grant Date. The Option Price is payable to the Company in cash or any other
method of payment authorized by the Committee in its discretion, which may include Shares previously owned (valued as the closing price per Share on
the exercise date) or Shares otherwise deliverable upon exercise of the Option (valued as the closing price per Share on the exercise date, less the Option
Price), in each case in accordance with applicable Rules. Similarly, the Participant must arrange for tax withholding in accordance with applicable Rules,
to the satisfaction of the Committee.
 
4.     Shareholder Rights – Holders of Options have no rights as a shareholder of the Company until the Option has been validly exercised and a
certificate for Shares underlying such Option has been issued. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, no adjustments are made for dividends or other
rights if the applicable record date occurs before your stock certificate is issued.
 
5.     Vesting – One hundred percent of the Options shall vest on the third anniversary of the Grant Date (the “Vesting Date”), unless forfeited before such
Vesting Date.
 
6.     Expiration Date – Each Option’s Expiration Date will be the fourth anniversary of its Grant Date.
 
7.     Forfeiture – Each Option will terminate, expire and be forfeited as provided in Article V of the Plan. (The Committee has sole discretion to
determine whether a demotion is a “termination” of employment.)
 
8.     Leaves of Absence  – The Committee may in its discretion treat all or any portion of any period during which a Participant is on military or on an
approved leave of absence as a period of employment for purposes of the accrual of rights hereunder.
 
9.     No Other Rights – The Options include no other rights beyond those expressly provided in the Plan, these Terms or the Award Agreement. Options
are non-assignable and non-transferable except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, unless otherwise approved by the Committee.
 
10.     Definitions – Unless otherwise specified, all capitalized terms herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Plan or in the Award
Agreement.
 
 



Exhibit 10.17
 
 

Non-Qualified Stock Option
Award Agreement

 
 

Effective as of __[Date]__ (“Grant Date”), the Company hereby grants to _[Employee]_ an option (the “Options”) to purchase up to: [# of
Shares] shares of Common Stock (each, a “Share” and collectively, the “Shares”) for $[Price] per Share until [5  Anniversary of Grant Date] (the
“Expiration Date”) on the terms of this Agreement (the “Terms”) and the 2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan (as amended from time to time, the “Plan”) as follows:
 
 

Vesting Dates # of Options Vesting Option Prices Expiration Date
[3  Anniversary] [100%] [FMV at grant] [5  Anniversary]

 
 

Intending to be legally bound by all the Terms and the Plan, I acknowledge the sole authority of the Committee to interpret the provisions of the
foregoing, the forfeiture of my rights upon any termination of my employment under the terms of the foregoing and my continuing status as an “at will”
employee (subject to termination without cause or notice). I have received and had an opportunity to review, with the benefit of any legal counsel of my
choosing (any such legal counsel to be retained at my own expense), the Plan and the Terms.
 
  
SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC. PARTICIPANT
  
  
By:                                                              Signature:                                                 
  
Name:                                                       Name:                                                         
  
Title:                                                         
 

 
 

th

rd th



 
 

Exhibit 10.17
 

Five-Year Stock Option Terms of Awards
of the 2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan (“Plan”)

 
 

1.     Awards  – All Options granted hereunder will be non-qualified Options subject to, and governed by, the terms of the Plan, the Terms and a valid,
executed Award Agreement.
 
2.     Options – Each Option is the right to purchase one Share at the Option Price, from its Vesting Date until its Expiration Date or forfeiture (subject to
adjustments per the Plan). Options must be exercised with 48 hours advance written notice, unless waived by the Company.
 
3.     Option Price – “Option Price” means the closing price per Share on the Grant Date. The Option Price is payable to the Company in cash or any other
method of payment authorized by the Committee in its discretion, which may include Shares previously owned (valued as the closing price per Share on
the exercise date) or Shares otherwise deliverable upon exercise of the Option (valued as the closing price per Share on the exercise date, less the Option
Price), in each case in accordance with applicable Rules. Similarly, the Participant must arrange for tax withholding in accordance with applicable Rules,
to the satisfaction of the Committee.
 
4.     Shareholder Rights – Holders of Options have no rights as a shareholder of the Company until the Option has been validly exercised and a
certificate for Shares underlying such Option has been issued. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, no adjustments are made for dividends or other
rights if the applicable record date occurs before your stock certificate is issued.
 
5.     Vesting – One hundred percent of the Options shall vest on the third anniversary of the Grant Date (the “Vesting Date”), unless forfeited before such
Vesting Date.
 
6.     Expiration Date – Each Option’s Expiration Date will be the fifth anniversary of its Grant Date.
 
7.     Forfeiture – Each Option will terminate, expire and be forfeited as provided in Article V of the Plan. (The Committee has sole discretion to
determine whether a demotion is a “termination” of employment.)
 
8.     Leaves of Absence  – The Committee may in its discretion treat all or any portion of any period during which a Participant is on military or on an
approved leave of absence as a period of employment for purposes of the accrual of rights hereunder.
 
9.     No Other Rights – The Options include no other rights beyond those expressly provided in the Plan, these Terms or the Award Agreement. Options
are non-assignable and non-transferable except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, unless otherwise approved by the Committee.
 
10.     Definitions – Unless otherwise specified, all capitalized terms herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Plan or in the Award
Agreement.
 
 



EXHIBIT 21
 

SYPRIS SOLUTIONS, INC.
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

 
The Company’s subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 are as follows:
 
(1) Sypris Electronics, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
 
(2) Sypris Data Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
 
(3) Sypris Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
 
(4) Sypris Technologies Marion, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
 
(5) Sypris Technologies Kenton, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
 
(6) Sypris Technologies Mexican Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
 
(7) Sypris Technologies Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V., a Mexican limited liability company.
 
(8) Sypris Technologies Toluca, S.A. de C.V., a Mexican corporation.
 
(9) Sypris Europe ApS, a Danish private limited liability company.
 
(10) Sypris Technologies (UK) Ltd., a UK private limited company.
 
(11) Sypris Technologies Northern, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
 
(12) Sypris Technologies Southern, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
 
(13) Sypris Technologies International, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
 
 
 



 
EXHIBIT 23.1

 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements of Sypris Solutions, Inc.:
 
(1) Registration Statement (Forms S-8 Nos. 333-07195, 33-94544, 333-07199, 333-52589, 333-62781, 333-52593, 333-77883, 333-87882 and 333-
87880) pertaining to the Sypris Solutions, Inc. 1994 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees and the Sypris Solutions, Inc. Independent Directors’ Stock
Option Plan,
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-114982) pertaining to the Sypris Solutions, Inc. 2004 Equity Plan,
(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-166951) pertaining to the Sypris Solutions, Inc. 2010 Sypris Omnibus Plan; and
(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-204299) pertaining to the Sypris Solutions, Inc. 2015 Sypris Omnibus Plan;
 
 
of our report dated March 30, 2016 relating to the consolidated financial statement, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

/s/Crowe Horwath LLP
 
Louisville, Kentucky
March 30, 2016



Exhibit 31.1
 

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
 
 
I, Jeffrey T. Gill, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sypris Solutions, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects

the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,

to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,

to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

 
 
Date:          March 30, 2016      By: /s/ Jeffrey T. Gill  
  Jeffrey T. Gill  
  President & Chief Executive Officer  
 



Exhibit 31.2
 

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
 
 
I, Anthony C. Allen, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sypris Solutions, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects

the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,

to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,

to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

 
 
Date:          March 30, 2016     By: /s/ Anthony C. Allen  
  Anthony C. Allen  
  Vice President & Chief Financial Officer  
 



Exhibit 32
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
 
In connection with the Annual Report of Sypris Solutions, Inc. (the Company) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2015 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), each of the undersigned hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Sec. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in his capacity as an officer of Sypris Solutions, Inc., that to his knowledge:
 

(1)     The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and
 

(2)     The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

 
    
Date:          March 30, 2016     By: /s/ Jeffrey T. Gill  
  Jeffrey T. Gill  
  President & Chief Executive Officer  
 
    
Date:          March 30, 2016     By: /s/ Anthony C. Allen  
  Anthony C. Allen  
  Vice President & Chief Financial Officer  
 
 
 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the
signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Sypris
Solutions, Inc. and will be retained by Sypris Solutions, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 
The foregoing certification is being furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission as an exhibit to the Form 10-K and shall not be considered
filed as part of the Form 10-K.
 
 




	10-K (SYPRIS SOLUTIONS INC) (March 30, 2016)
	10-K - FORM 10-K
	Part I Page
	Item 1. Business 1

	PART I
	Item 1. Business
	Item 1A. Risk Factors
	Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
	Item 2. Properties
	Item 3. Legal Proceedings
	Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

	PART II
	Item 5. Market for the Registrant s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
	Item 6. Selected Financial Data
	Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
	Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
	Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
	Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
	Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
	Item 9B. Other Information

	PART III
	Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
	Item 11. Executive Compensation
	Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
	Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
	Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

	PART IV
	Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

	SIGNATURES

	EX-10.2.2 (EXHIBIT 10.2.2)
	EX-10.9 (EXHIBIT 10.9)
	EX-10.10 (EXHIBIT 10.10)
	EX-10.14 (EXHIBIT 10.14)
	EX-10.15 (EXHIBIT 10.15)
	EX-10.16 (EXHIBIT 10.16)
	EX-10.17 (EXHIBIT 10.17)
	EX-21 (EXHIBIT 21)
	EX-23.1 (EXHIBIT 23.1)
	EX-31.1 (EXHIBIT 31.1)
	EX-31.2 (EXHIBIT 31.2)
	EX-32 (EXHIBIT 32)


